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Francesco Vanni d’Archirafi 
Chairman, Euroclear group

Solid results in uncertain times

I’m very pleased to write that Euroclear achieved a record underlying 
business income of €1.7 billion and a net profit of nearly €1 billion 
in 2023. These strong results were driven by a robust business 
performance and higher interest rates. Underlying earnings per share 
increased by 63% to €312 and the expected 2024 interim dividend 
of €210 represents an increase of 82% compared to the previous 
year. This will be the highest dividend ever. 

Throughout the year, Euroclear successfully delivered its business 
objectives and made solid progress on the execution of its strategic 
plans. We enhanced our ESG, data and digital offering as well as 
extended our investment funds and collateral management services.

The global environment

These strong results were achieved despite geopolitical tensions 
impacting the global economy and the capital markets. In this 
difficult environment, Euroclear continued to manage carefully 
the vast complexities arising from the international sanctions on 
Russia and Russian countermeasures. We remain prudent as to the 
sanctioned Russian assets that we hold in custody and the related 
cash positions.

Looking forward, we could face an ever more complex environment. 
In 2024, countries making up over 50% of global GDP will undergo 
elections and these results will both reflect and impact the 
increasingly precarious geopolitical and economic environment. A 
potential radicalisation of the political discourse could well be the 
source of more instability. We already have two wars at our European 
borders, and the weaponisation of the financial industry is another 
worrying trend. Security and strategic autonomy are becoming the 
number one preoccupation of the policymakers and voters. 

These geopolitical events also impact supply chains realigning from 
“Just in Time” to “Just in Case,” and we see trends like “de-risking” 
and “friend-shoring” continuing. Combined with the stress we 
have seen in the financial industry, rapid inflation and interest rate 
moves, fiscal constraints and the speed at which liquidity moves, the 
financial markets are increasingly vulnerable to future shocks. 

Client centricity between now and the future

With our environment becoming increasingly complex and uncertain, 
our clients value more than ever the resilience and safety that 
Euroclear represents in a world where appetite for risk is decreasing. 
Trusted institutions that can help manage risks, have an ecosystem 
of strong and long-lasting relationships and are nimble in taking 
advantage of this uncertain environment, are best placed to 
create substantial value. Our client focus and our AA rating are 
strong foundations to fulfil the role of a leading Financial Market 
Infrastructure in this complex and ever-changing landscape.

Through our ambition to co-create with our ecosystem and by putting 
clients at the centre of our model, we should strive to further build 
our position as a vital pillar of the global capital markets. With the 
stability and resilience we offer, we must remain the infrastructure 
that brings the certainty our clients need in this uncertain world. This 
will not only be beneficial for the financial ecosystem, but it will also 
create value for our shareholders.

The digital and green agendas

The digital revolution is a massive game-changer. Examples include 
the acceleration of Distributed Ledger Technology (DLT) moving from 
experimentation to reality (see World Bank DNN - p. 14), Gen-AI 
enabling transformational business models, and the acceleration 
that Quantum computing will eventually bring. Consequently, the 
management of cyber risks has never been more relevant. Industrial 
strength recovery capability is now a must. We therefore continue to 
invest in technology, resilience and recovery.

ESG, climate change and the green transition are also fundamental 
initiatives for us. With public, private and philanthropic collaboration 
dramatically intensifying, “action” has never been more critical. 
Euroclear has a central role to play, not only as an infrastructure 
facilitating the transition to net-zero, but also with more engagement 
in the communities where we operate, so that they are better 
off when we are present. Supporting the green transition and 
achieving our own ESG objectives is of critical importance. I look 
forward to Euroclear supporting EU initiatives such as the Corporate 
Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) and also supporting the 
new EU Commission on the urgent need to build a strong Capital 
Market Union.

Strong shareholder foundations

Euroclear’s shareholder structure continues to evolve. Over the last 
year, new high-quality, long-term investors decided to join us as 
shareholders. Their commitment is a confirmation of the long-term 
potential and stability of our company, reflecting positively on our 
prospects and strategic direction.

On behalf of the Board, I am delighted to welcome New Zealand 
Super Fund and Novo Holdings as new shareholders, each acquiring 
4.99% and 3.22% respectively, in 2023. Their long-term investment 
vision and commitment strengthen Euroclear’s position as a neutral, 
open financial market infrastructure. Such stable, long-term capital 
is ideally suited to support Euroclear’s growth strategy. Additionally, 
I would like to thank all our shareholders for their continued 
confidence and support.

Transitioning to the future

With strong foundations in place, the Board’s priority is to support 
the growth of the company in a sustainable way to ensure long-term 
value creation. With that in mind, we are continuously looking at 
how our governance can be further enhanced to best achieve this 
objective.  

I would like to take this opportunity to thank and extend a special 
recognition to Franco Passacantando who left our Board in 2023 
after eight years of great service. We are fortunate that he will 
remain involved with our company as Chair of the Euroclear Advisory 
Council. During the year, we welcomed Mrs. Cécile Nagel from the 
Bank of New York Mellon and Mr. Tom Feys from FPIM-SFPI, who 
joined our Board. 

A lot of gratitude goes to our clients, to the management team, the 
employees and my Board colleagues for their hard work and co-
operation throughout 2023. 

My final word must centre on Lieve. Her commitment and leadership 
over the recent years position our organisation well for future 
challenges. She will be replaced by Valérie Urbain as our next CEO, 
who will take the reins in May 2024. A warm welcome and my best 
wishes to Valérie for her new role.

Sincerely yours,  

Francesco Vanni d’Archirafi 
Chairman, Euroclear group

A message from our  
group Chairman

Solid results in a challenging environment.
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It’s our people – the hard 
work and commitment of 
our teams worldwide – that 
underpin the success of our 
business.

Sustainability and data-driven future

Euroclear, as a financial market infrastructure group, takes 
a long-term perspective. As we look to the future, our planet 
needs funding if our society is to meet the climate challenges 
ahead, and we are contributing to a sustainable transition by 
continuing to play our role as an important Financial Market 
Infrastructure (FMI).

In 2023, Euroclear continued to build on its strong ESG 
foundations established in previous years. It has started to 
implement the principles laid out in its ESG Board policy 
and begun to measure progress against the ESG KPIs which 
were approved in early 2023. Euroclear has made progress 
against its commitments in many areas, meeting supply-chain 
screening targets and receiving approval for its net-zero 
targets from the Science Based Targets initiative.  

In line with our aspiration to become a digital and data-
enabled Financial Market Infrastructure (FMI), we delivered a 
brand-new asset class - the Digitally Native Note (DNN). Issued 
using distributed ledger technology (DLT), the inaugural DNN 
was issued by the World Bank, raising €100 million to support 
its sustainable development activities. This DNN and future 
digital securities issuances can be bridged to Euroclear’s 
traditional settlement platform for secondary market 
operations and collateral purposes. 

An update from our 
group CEO

Excluding exceptionals related to geopolitical 
turmoil, Euroclear produces record results

Based on our vision to build an open, digital and data-enabled 
Financial Market Infrastructure (FMI), and in line with our purpose 
to innovate to bring efficiencies, safety and connections to financial 
markets for sustainable growth, 2023 saw Euroclear transform 
market challenges and opportunities into better client solutions.

Markets trends were very different compared to 2022, with 
increasing interest rates, lower market volatility, a sustained 
fixed-income issuance and equity markets rebounding later in 
the year. In spite of market trends, our well diversified business 
model, ensuring subscription like revenues, continued to prove its 
resilience. We delivered a record net profit of close to €1 billion, up 
63% vs last year. The huge gain in interest income, together with 
our business fee income, increased our operating income by 42% to 
approximately €2.8 billion, also a new record.

Operating expenses increased by 14% to a total of €1.3 billion, 
largely attributable to higher inflation and increased investments in 
line with our strategic ambition to develop digital capabilities and IT 
infrastructure.  

Adjusting for the non-cash impairments, these results translate 
into a 2023 dividend that is larger than the ones of 2021 and 2022 
combined.

Turning to business metrics, our customers entrusted us with a 
record €37.7 trillion worth of assets to safekeep at the end of 2023. 
The number of netted transactions processed remained stable at 
300 million, with the overall amount of activity processed for clients  
increasing slightly to over a quadrillion, or €1,072 trillion.

Russian sanctions 

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 has had a material 
impact on our business, as we manage a range of international 
measures as a repercussion. The number of sanctions and 
countermeasures are unprecedented and have a significant impact 
on our daily operations. While new sanctions were issued at a 
declining pace in 2023, these still resulted in unrivalled levels of 
manual intervention. 

Well-established processes enable the group to implement the 
sanctions, while maintaining the normal course of business. 
However, one consequence of the sanctions is that blocked coupon 
payments and redemptions owed to sanctioned entities results in the 
accumulation of cash on Euroclear Bank’s balance sheet. At the end 
of 2023, Euroclear Bank’s balance sheet had increased by 
€38 billion, year-on-year, to €162 billion. 

As per Euroclear’s standard procedures, Euroclear does not 
remunerate cash balances and such balances are re-invested 
to minimise credit risk. The revenues of those interest income 
amounted to about €4.4 billion in 2023.

Since considerable uncertainties persist, Euroclear continues to 
separate the sanctions-related earnings from the underlying financial 
results and retain these profits until further guidance is provided. 

Euroclear always acted cautiously and transparently in this 
matter. I am immensely proud and grateful for the efforts of the 
numerous colleagues managing these complex market issues and 
minimising the potential legal and operational risks arising from this 
unprecedented situation.

Strenghtening market connections 

Euroclear fully supports the need for integrated, deep and liquid 
capital markets within the European Union. As a common settlement 
platform for Europe, the European Central Bank’s TARGET2-Securities 
(T2S) system underpins this harmonised environment. Euroclear 
Bank and Euroclear Finland successfully completed the connection 
to the European Central Bank’s T2S settlement system in late 2023. 
By joining this common infrastructure, the Finnish CSD can offer its 
users delivery-versus-payment, cross-border settlement of securities 
and cash. We were delighted to successfully migrate over 2.3 million 
Finnish securities accounts in the largest ever T2S migration.

Furthermore, Euroclear continues to grow its international ecosystem 
in Asia. Euroclear Bank and the Korea Securities Depository took 
further steps in making the Korean market ‘Euroclearable’ by signing 
an agreement last year to allow international investors efficient post-
trade access to KTBs and use in their collateral operations.

Lieve Mostrey 
CEO of Euroclear group
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Positioning the company for the future

While macro-economic turbulence and geopolitical tensions are 
likely to impact our global capital markets in years ahead, our 
business diversification coupled with our client-centric approach 
remain essential to our future success. I take pride in a consistent 
score of above 80% in client satisfaction levels across all entities 
in our group for the past five years. However, I am cognisant that 
we need to continue to focus on the ease of doing business with 
Euroclear. 

Our diverse client base entrusts us with over €37 trillion worth of 
assets to safekeep – up 32% since 2017, when I became CEO. I am 
equally proud to have grown our operating income by some 35% 
during this timeframe. I would like to stress that it’s our people – the 
hard work and commitment of our teams worldwide – that underpin 
the success of our business.

We recognise the value of our people and aim to foster an inclusive, 
performant and learning-orientated corporate culture. Last year 
alone, we onboarded 800 new employees and opened a new 
technology hub in Krakow which will see the company create 400 
new jobs in the future.

As a company, we rely on our existing ecosystems and organic 
growth, but equally we are also aware of the opportunities that 
strategic acquisitions bring. 

For example, through our acquisitions of MFEX and Goji, we continue 
to enhance our service offering in investment funds with the launch 
of a new service targeting private market funds, as demonstrated by 
some important new mandates we have been able to win over the 
course of 2023.

Passing on the baton

In concluding, I sincerely welcome Valérie Urbain as the next 
CEO of the Euroclear group. She brings with her a vast amount of 
experience and abilities based on her three decades of service in a 
variety of senior Euroclear positions, and with that, continuity is well 
assured.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank our colleagues across 
the entire group for their commitment and dedication in delivering 
another robust performance, servicing our clients, and contributing 
to preserve the certainty, fluidity, and safety of our markets. 

Last but not least, I would like to thank my fellow Management 
Committee members, the past and present Board Chairmen and 
members and our entire shareholder base for their trust, their 
collaboration and their commitment for the company. After seven 
years at the helm of Euroclear, I am proud of our achievements in 
terms of growth and value creation for all stakeholders, and I trust 
that I leave Euroclear in safe and capable hands.			 
       							     
	       			       	        Thank you

Lieve Mostrey 
CEO of Euroclear group 

1 The data includes intra-group holdings/transactions, as relevant

From left to right: 

Paul Hurd, Chief Risk Officer - Bernard Frenay, Chief Administration Officer - Valérie Urbain, Chief Business Officer -

Lieve Mostrey, Chief Executive Officer - Michal Paprocki, Chief Information Officer  

Euroclear group management team

We innovate to bring safety, efficiency and connections 

to financial markets for sustainable economic growth



 9www.euroclear.com 8 Euroclear Holding SA/NV - Annual report 2023 

A trusted financial market infrastructure

Business income breakdownrating Fitch/S&PAA

The world’s largest financial 
institutions and Central Banks, 
connecting issuers and 
investors, and all intermediaries.

+2,400

ICSD1   

6 CSDs
Domestic Central Securities 
Depositories for Belgium, Finland, 
France, the Netherlands, Sweden 
and the UK

clients

Euroclear Bank, the International 
Central Securities Depository with 
a banking license, which also 
operates CSD services for Ireland

trillion assets  
under custody€37.7

299 million netted 
transactions 
per year, worth
trillion €1,072

trillion average daily  
collateral outstanding on  
the Collateral Highway

  €1.7

currencies to settle in45

markets to access50

trillion funds asset 
under administration€3.1

Financial Highlights

As a Financial Market Infrastructure (FMI) group, Euroclear plays a central role 
in helping global markets to process securities transactions efficiently, enhance 
liquidity and reduce risk. The group operates secure platforms where a wide 
network of the world’s largest financial firms and central banks hold and transact 
securities issued by companies, governments, supranationals and fund managers.

The Euroclear 
group at a glance

Euroclear is a privately held company. In recent years, Euroclear’s 
shareholder base has been transitioning from its traditional 
“user-owned” model to include a greater proportion of long-term 
institutional investors. Such stable, long-term capital strengthens 
Euroclear’s position as a neutral, open financial market infrastructure 
and supports the group’s growth strategy, focused on delivering 
value to its stakeholders, including clients, employees, shareholders 
and society.

The group’s principal operating entities are central securities 
depositories (CSDs) being Euroclear Bank (the leading international 
CSD and the domestic CSD for Ireland) and six other domestic 
European CSDs (Belgium, Finland, France, the Netherlands, Sweden 
and the United Kingdom). 

Through its acquisition of MFEX and Goji, the group has enriched its 
capabilities in global funds and the growing private equity sector, 
alongside other investments in strategic fintech providers. 

Together, Euroclear’s group companies provide solutions for 
domestic and global financial market participants to invest in 
securities issued by governments, corporations and fund managers. 
In addition, the group facilitates financing in capital markets 
by reducing risk, increasing post-trade process efficiency, and 
optimising collateral mobility and access to liquidity. The Euroclear 
network comprises around 2,400 financial institutions which use its 
platform to access 50 different markets and settle transactions in 
45 currencies. On their behalf, the group holds approximately 
€37 trillion of assets under custody and enables 299 million netted 
transactions per year, worth an equivalent of €1,072 trillion.

The Euroclear group’s business model provides a hedge against 
market volatility. When markets are lower, the impact is mitigated 
by the group’s diversified and subscription-like business model, 
as approximately three quarters of the group’s business income is 
decoupled from financial market valuations.
 

Eurobonds & European Assets Funds Collateral Highway

Global Emerging markets Data

2023

2018

2013
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At the heart of the 
financial ecosystem

Euroclear connects issuers with investors: providing a platform 
for capital to flow where required throughout the global 
economy. Between those two parties are intermediaries; issuer 
agents, which perform multiple tasks on behalf of issuers 
including primary issuance and corporate actions; broker-
dealers, that buy and sell securities on behalf of their investor 
community clients and actively support the origination of 
issuance and by bringing investors to the right products; and 
custodians, which safeguard the assets on behalf of underlying 
investors. 

new issues by
Euroclear Bank 
in 2023, representing

990,000

€4.15 
trillion
year-end depot

Core activities to serve global client network
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COST & PROCESS EFFICIENCY

DYNAMIC ESG CRITERIA

Settlement & safekeeping  
services for domestic and  

cross-border securities  
(incl. bonds, equities and  

investment funds), and digital  
and innovation services.

Exchanges

CCPs

Issuers

CSDs
Central banks

Custodians

Investment 
banks

Euroclear focuses relentlessly on meeting the evolving needs of 
its clients, always seeking to reinforce and extend its offer for:

�Issuers, their agents and fund management 
companies

�For issuers and their agents, Euroclear’s core offering is to provide a 
secure place of issuance for their securities to access funding from 
the capital markets. All six domestic CSDs and Euroclear Bank, the 
international CSD, play the role of issuer CSD, which is to be the 
digital notary for the issued securities. A broad range of financial 
instruments are issued through the (I)CSDs, including equities, fixed 
income and exchange traded funds (ETFs).

Issuers require a place of issuance to allow for multiple asset 
classes and currencies, to have the right legal frameworks and to 
be attractive to investors. Moreover, issuers, their agents and fund 
management companies want to maintain a loyal investor base while 
meeting their regulatory responsibilities and ESG ambitions.

The investor community and their custodians

Investors and their custodians expect to transact and hold their 
securities with a full safety and transparency. Their investment goals 
hinge on access to a variety of financial markets which are efficient 
and provide asset protection through legal certainty. 

Minimising risks often equates to a diversification of portfolios by 
accessing new geographical markets, multiple asset classes, while 
also developing marketplaces for sustainable finance. 

Custodians seek to benefit from the automation and standardisation 
of processes across the entire life cycle of the securities they hold for 
their underlying investors. This includes seamless asset servicing and 
related tax processes where modernisation and standardisation are 
hallmarks of Euroclear’s custody services.

The broker-dealer community 

As broker-dealers act as a conduit for the trading process for the 
investment community, they require efficient and reliable financial 
market infrastructure, with optimal access to liquidity. This enables 
them to focus on optimising funding opportunities whilst also 
managing costs, operational and credit risks, in line with their 
regulatory responsibilities. 

By taking a stronger client lens in our strategy, we further strengthen 
the virtuous circle of bringing all clients into one self-reinforcing 
ecosystem, focusing on launching and scaling initiatives respectively, 
meeting the needs of investors, issuers and dealers.
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In 2023, Euroclear made solid progress in delivering on the 
business objectives of its renewed corporate strategy. Key 
achievements include the expansion of its digital capabilities 
with the launch of the Digital Securities Issuance (D-SI) service, 
the successful connection of Euroclear Finland to the European 
Central Bank’s T2S settlement system and the selection by 
several clients from Europe and Asia of Euroclear’s fund platform 
for the onboarding of all of their investment funds. Euroclear also 
expanded its footprint in Asia by taking further steps in making 
the South Korean market “Euroclearable”.

Business and 
strategy update
One year into our journey to become a D2-FMI In 2022, Euroclear adopted a new strategic direction, laying the 

foundations for the next phase of Euroclear’s diversification and 
growth. 

This strategy is anchored by a renewed purpose: 

“We innovate to bring safety, efficiency and connections to 
financial markets for sustainable economic growth”.

Euroclear’s purpose underpins its long-term aspiration to become a 
digital and data-enabled financial market infrastructure, a D²-FMI. 
By building an open platform providing a variety of services to 
all market stakeholders, Euroclear continues to evolve its core 
settlement, custody, collateral and funds service, as well as 
developing new services – particularly in the data, sustainability and 
innovation space. 

Euroclear
An FMI and world’s 
leading provider of post-trade 
services

We innovate to bring safety, 
ef�ciency and connections to 
�nancial markets for sustainable 
economic growth

Our purpose

Aspiration to become a digital 
and data-enabled �nancial 
market infrastructure (D2-FMI) 
with open, shared platform     
providing a catalogue of services 
to all market stakeholders

Our vision Our strategy

ESG

Data

Issuers &                                   Investors &
       issuer agents    custodians

Geographic expansion

Digital & Innovation

Dealers
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Harnessing technology and 
realising data & innovation ambitions

Advancing Euroclear’s data and innovation ambitions to provide a catalogue of data-enabled services is core to the group’s D²-FMI 
strategy. In support of this, Euroclear continues to broaden the scope of talent and grow and invest in critical capabilities such as data, 
digitalisation, operational resilience and cyber, while also reinforcing the client-facing, support and control functions.

Seamless 
transfer

Euroclear’s traditional 
settlement platform

Issuing and 
Paying Agent

Issuer

Dealer

DNN $

Euroclear’s
D-SI service

Euroclear’s D-SI service enables the issuance, distribution 
and settlement of fully digital securities on Distributed Ledger 
Technology (DLT).

Euroclear’s Digital Securities Issuance  
(D-SI) service

Connected with Euroclear’s traditional platform

Secondary market operations with DNN

Fully CSDR compliant

Primary market Secondary market

Embracing digital securities

Euroclear’s position as a systemic FMI and its track-record of 
innovation enable the group to play a significant role in expanding 
digital capabilities in the post-trade space whilst minimising potential 
risks.

Euroclear recently announced the launch of its Digital Securities 
Issuance (D-SI) service, the landmark first milestone in this journey. 
The service enables the issuance, distribution and settlement of 
fully digital international securities - Digitally Native Notes (DNN) 
- on Distributed Ledger Technology (DLT). This operates as part of 
Euroclear’s platform, which in turn is connected to the traditional 
settlement platform of Euroclear for secondary market operations 
with DNN. For example, a DNN could also be used as part of a triparty 
collateral management deal.  

The inaugural DNN was issued by the World Bank, raising 
€100 million to support its sustainable development activities. 
Euroclear has a pipeline of future issuers in this new security format.

Cooperating around digital assets 

The benefits of DLT innovation are highlighted in a recent paper on 
the financial industry’s digital asset evolution published by Euroclear, 
The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (DTCC) and Clearstream. 
The paper calls for increased collaboration to progress an ecosystem 
that currently includes fragmented standards, varying regulatory 
treatment, limited integrations with institutional-grade payment rails 
and siloed liquidity – all limiting factors to the further digitalisation of 
global financial markets.

Through collaboration with the industry, the research identified 
digitalisation opportunities for global financial markets, which 
included reducing the costs of connectivity and enabling consistent 
operating standards across processes, platforms, and digital assets.

Data-as-a-Service

Fixed income markets have grown significantly in recent years, 
as a result of volatile markets and rising interest rates around the 
globe. This new environment is driving demand for greater access 
to key fixed income data sets that help investors monitor market 
performance, liquidity conditions and key trends. 

Last year, Euroclear teamed up with BondCliQ Inc, a credit market 
focused Data-as-a-Service (DaaS) company, to launch a new, 
European settlement data solution for debt instruments. This 
partnership has enabled Euroclear to significantly enhance the 
transparency and accessibility of its fixed income settlement data. 
Market participants are now able to obtain unparalleled levels of 
access to refined fixed income data through customised dashboards. 
This will make it easier for investors to take more informed decisions 
and manage their portfolios with greater precision and confidence.

Euroclear continues to invest in an optimal client digital experience. 
Through Taskize - our secure, web-based solution - clients can 
efficiently raise, route, track and resolve operational issues in real-
time, avoiding the need to expend time on emails and phone calls. 
In 2023, new clients were welcomed to the Taskize network as well 
as existing clients increasing their adoption and experiencing higher 
satisfaction levels.

Technology ensures safety

Euroclear’s foundations as a financial market infrastructure are its 
technology platforms and the operational resilience provided by its 
people and systems. Thanks to significant, consistent investment 
in technology capabilities and infrastructure platforms, Euroclear 
remains highly relevant, reliable, and scalable to meet growing 
market demand. Last year, the group again met its systems uptime 
targets while supporting record volumes, with 299 million netted 
transactions processed. Each of the group’s settlement systems has 
proven to be robust when faced with these record volume levels, with 
an overall systems uptime of 99.9%.

Euroclear’s technology investments remain focused on heightening 
resilience and cyber security capabilities. Furthermore, they also 
focus on modernising existing platforms and building out new ones 
as part of our D²-FMI aspirations to improve market efficiencies and 
connections through innovation. 
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Euroclear’s growing ecosystem

With a goal to add capabilities and scale to the client offering while being accretive to shareholder value. Euroclear is also taking 
actions to support the development of the sustainable finance marketplace.

End-to-end fund solutions

Digital & data-enabled services

Cost & process efficiency

Impact Cubed
is a leading provider of ESG 

tech-enabled analytics and data 
science solutions.

Greenomy 
aims to support corporates for compliance 

with increasing EU ESG taxonomy 
standards.The service may help to identify 

potential risk of greenwashing. 

Fnality
is an international consortium of 

global banks and financial market 
infrastructures, which is working to 
support the adoption of tokenised 

assets and marketplaces.

With the acquisition of MFEX group, 
Euroclear FundsPlace offers an end-
to-end suite of digital solutions for 

investment fund issuers.

Quantessence 
provides financial institutions with 

technological support for a range of 
savings and investment products.

Taskize
is an inter-company work routing 
and workflow platform for global 

financial operations professionals. 

BondCliQ
the partnership enables Euroclear 

to significantly enhance the 
transparency and accessibility of 
its fixed income settlement data.

Powered by Goji, Euroclear 
FundsPlace now unlocks access to 

private market funds.

Deepening market 
liquidity for clients

Euroclear supports the need for liquidity by providing settlement 
services and a neutral, interoperable collateral management 
utility to source, mobilise and segregate collateral, known as the 
Collateral Highway. 

The Collateral Highway offers clients a complete view of exposures 
across the full spectrum of their asset classes and enables them 
to optimise collateral, including a growing trend in green collateral. 
At year-end 2023, the average daily collateral outstanding on 
the Collateral Highway was €1.7 trillion, with the business line 
contributing to 18% of group business income. 

In 2023, changing macroeconomic parameters impacted our business 
composition. Collateral scarcity impacted lending demand for high-
quality, liquid fixed income securities. This was compensated by 
rebounding repo activity and the return of certain cash lenders to 
the secured financing markets. In addition, the Collateral Highway 
continued to benefit from our global role in providing triparty solutions 
to clients implementing recent Uncleared Margin Rules (UMR) for 
derivatives under the Basel frameworks.

During the year, other collateral initiatives focused on the delivery 
of a new collateral data hub, including new criteria related amongst 
others to ESG stipulations. This to allow clients to implement their ESG 
strategies across their collateral portfolios or to simulate to which 
extent these portfolios are already ESG-compliant.

In November 2024, the new Eurosystem Collateral Management 
System (ECMS) will change the way clients interact with central 
banks to post collateral and receive credit. Euroclear is well prepared 
for this transition. Clients will be able to continue using Euroclear to 
post collateral to their central bank and will also have the possibility 
to outsource this collateral management to Euroclear entirely, with 
Euroclear delivering collateral to the national central banks in T2S 
(TARGET2-Securities) on their behalf.

Growing investment 
fund services

2023 saw the investment fund industry sector rebound after 
markets had driven down equity and investment fund valuations 
in 2022, and despite ongoing geopolitical uncertainties, financial 
instability and recession risks.

Euroclear offers a comprehensive range of services to distributors, 
custodians, and asset managers. The group administers €3.1 trillion 
of fund assets, servicing approximately 3,000 fund distributors and 
2,500 fund management companies spanning across 85 countries. 

In 2023, funds contribution to group business income was 16%. The 
core of Euroclear’s investment funds proposition is the automated 
order routing, settlement, and asset servicing through both Euroclear 
Bank and the domestic CSDs. In addition, Euroclear has acted as 
a growing place of issuance for both domestic and international 
exchange traded funds. 

Euroclear is committed to building a digital marketplace that caters 
to the entire funds’ ecosystem. Building on the acquisitions of MFEX 
and Goji, Euroclear has continued to enhance its service offering 
in funds with the launch of a new service for private market funds. 
Leveraging Goji’s capabilities with the FundSettle platform, the new 
service complements Euroclear’s existing money market, mutual and 
alternative fund offerings.

Moreover, Euroclear’s partnership with Quantessence provides 
financial institutions around the world with technological support 
for a range of savings and investment products. In particular, the 
platform is used by some of the world’s largest insurers and banks in 
support of individualised, customisable solutions for asset allocation. 
Quantessence takes care of calculation, asset rebalancing and order 
management for a growing number of clients.

Euroclear also continued to develop innovative services for fund 
distributors globally. In 2023, several clients from Europe and Asia 
chose Euroclear’s fund platform for the onboarding of their investment 
funds. Euroclear provides a one-stop-shop solution for fund 
distribution and execution services via its extensive network, allowing 
these clients to have access to more than 250,000 funds.

To further streamline Euroclear’s funds offering and reflect its 
ambition to create a true one-stop-shop offering to clients across 
the full spectrum of funds products, Euroclear’s funds offering 
transitioned to a new brand name, Euroclear FundsPlace.

Euroclear FundsPlace

funds+250,000
fund distributors  +3,000

trillion of fund assets under
administration€3.1

2,500 fund management companies  

R
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Reducing infrastructure, regulatory and 
informational barriers to issuance 

Euroclear is looking for ways to make the transition to green finance 
easier for issuers. An illustration of that is the work performed 
by Euroclear’s partnerships, helping issuers on their reporting 
requirement journey as well as framing of sustainable credentials 
of portfolio holdings across many ESG dimensions in a user-friendly 
manner.

Providing transparency solutions so that issuers 
can access ESG information about their beneficial 
owners, and investors can access ESG market 
intelligence related to their investments 

InvestorInsight and Vantage by Euroclear address the need for issuers 
and investors (InvestorInsight) to access ESG information. These 
information and analysis services are provided by Euroclear ESES and 
Euroclear Sweden, respectively. Both solutions enable issuers to boost 
their corporate governance by giving them easy and secure access 
to accurate, reliable and actionable information on the location and 
composition of their shareholders’ base. 

The Market Intelligence Tool (MINT) is a Euroclear Bank service which 
provides visibility on fund trends, enabling fund issuers to easily 
benchmark their portfolio at the time of issuance, and distributors 
to benchmark their target investments and make well-informed 
decisions. 

The objective is to enhance the existing MINT platform with a layer of 
ESG information enabling asset management companies to assess 
the penetration of sustainable finance in their respective asset classes 
and areas of expertise. 

Processing ESG information flows from different 
sources, including metrics and disclosures, to enable 
the enhancement and development of our services  

Euroclear is enhancing its collateral offering to support clients’ efforts 
to build ESG into their collateral management by allowing them to 
customise their collateral baskets using:

•  ESG indices composition; 
•  Bloomberg Green Bond data and MSCI ratings; 
•  �Assessment of the Collateral basket impact, based on the SDG 

framework via Impact Cubed data by providing specific data on 
sovereign bonds and ; 

•  ESG Select. 

It is worth noting that ESG Select was the winning solution from 
Euroclear’s 2022 Hackathon, a fully hybrid companywide competition 
where Euroclear employees tackled various concrete business 
challenges, from sustainability to resilience. ESG Select offers 
collateral clients (givers and takers) a new service enabling them to 
simulate their collateral baskets from an ESG perspective. It leverages 
the existing data relating to ESG Indices and subsequently Bloomberg 
Sustainable Debt Data and MSCI ESG ratings will be added.

Euroclear Finland largest 
migration ever to T2S

million book-entry 
accounts2.3

settlement restrictions
processed  +20,000

million holdings5

Given Euroclear’s central role in global capital markets with an 
emphasis on our European base, we fully support the need for 
integrated, deep and liquid capital markets within the EU. As a 
common settlement platform for Europe, the European Central Bank’s 
(ECB) TARGET2-Securities (T2S) system underpins this harmonised 
environment.

T2S reduces European fragmentation and makes central bank money 
securities settlement more efficient by reducing risk and increasing 
liquidity, and by fostering a more attractive European capital 
marketplace. Since 2016, Euroclear’s ESES CSDs (Euroclear Belgium, 
Euroclear France and Euroclear Nederland) have been connected to 
the T2S system. Euroclear Bank joined T2S in late 2021.

Euroclear Finland successfully completed the technical connection to 
the European Central Bank’s T2S settlement system in late 2023. 

This major milestone represents the largest migration of accounts, 
with 2.3 million securities accounts successfully migrated. By joining 
this common infrastructure, the Finnish CSD can offer its users 
delivery-versus-payment settlement of securities and cash in multiple 
currencies.

Further afield in Asia, Euroclear continues to grow its international 
ecosystem. Euroclear Bank and the Korea Securities Depository 
signed an agreement to open an omnibus account structure allowing 
to make the South Korean market “Euroclearable” in a next phase. 
Building on key advancements in making Korean Treasury Bonds 
(KTBs) accessible through Euroclear Bank, the link will allow 
international investors efficient post-trade access to KTBs. 

Overall, 13% of Euroclear’s revenue streams stem from global and 
emerging markets.

Forging stronger connections Developing a sustainable financial market place

As a global FMI, Euroclear has a role to play in facilitating and accelerating the development of a sustainable financial market by:

People as a key enabler of our strategy

Business success depends on our people. Euroclear offers a platform 
for our colleagues to learn, grow, and connect while operating in an 
environment of driven experts committed to continuous improvement. 

One example of this is the creation of a new tech hub in Poland which 
will see Euroclear create 400 new jobs to further leverage technology 
opportunities. During Euroclear’s 10 years in Krakow, it has seen 
its office grow to approximately 800 staff who primarily work in 
operations, support and control functions.

We continue to mobilise all layers of the organisation around its 
inclusive corporate culture. With strong leaders and an empowered 
workforce, the company is able to reinforce its client-centricity.

In order for Euroclear to engage, stimulate and develop its diverse 
workforce, it conducts a yearly Engagement Survey which helps set 
future business direction. In 2023, 87% of all staff across all Euroclear 
locations completed the survey, with almost 17,000 comments and 
good overall satisfaction score – in line with previous surveys.
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Business operating metrics

Euroclear UK & International
Chris Elms, Chief Executive Officer

2023 Change  
from 2022

Turnover  
(in trillion) € 165.7   21%

Value of
securities held1  (in trillion) € 5.8   5%

Number of  
netted transactions

59 
million

  10%
▲

▲

▲

I am pleased that our investment in resilience continued to deliver value during 
2023. A key milestone was reached in our strategic roadmap to further modernise 
the CREST system. In so doing, we will be able to deliver further risk reduction and 
introduce even more value to the UK capital markets.

Euroclear Finland
Hanna Vainio, Chief Executive Officer

2023 Change  
from 2022

Turnover  
(in trillion) € 1.6   0%

Value of
securities held1  (in trillion) € 0.5   0%

Number of  
netted transactions

10 
million

  11%
▲

I’m delighted that we joined the T2S system in 2023 – migrating a record 
2.3 million securities accounts. This was the largest migration in the history of 
T2S and a joint effort with our clients.

2023 Change  
from 2022

Turnover  
(in trillion) € 11.2   11%

Value of
securities held1  (in trillion) € 2.1   8%

Number of  
netted transactions

 14 
million

  16%

▲

▲

▲

Euroclear Sweden
Roger Storm, Chief Executive Officer

I am proud that we improved settlement efficiency rates from 85% to an 
amazing 96%. In addition, our shareholder-analysis service - Vantage by 
Euroclear - positions us as a vital player in the overall value chain for issuers 
in the Swedish financial markets and beyond.

With an historical high in terms of assets under custody, 2023 confirmed the 
relevance of ESES’ integrated model delivering value to clients and the wider market.

2023 Change  
from 2022

Turnover  
(in trillion) € 727.7   5%

Value of
securities held1  (in trillion) € 18.3   4%

Number of  
netted transactions

171 
million

  5%

▲

▲

▲

We continue to offer value, safety, and reliability to clients – as evidenced by 
increases in our business metrics. Furthermore, I am delighted to have launched 
the premier digital note at Euroclear Bank – highlighting our ability to innovate in 
tandem with our core businesses. 

1 Yearly average
2 The data for Euroclear France excludes ‘pensions livrées’ with Banque de France

Euroclear France2Euroclear Belgium Euroclear Nederland

2023 Change  
from 2022

€ 157.5   12%

€ 9.4   11%

34 
million

  3%

2023 Change  
from 2022

€ 7.9   4%

€ 1.4   6%

7.1 
 million

  5%

2023 Change  
from 2022

Turnover  
(in trillion) € 0.7   0%

Value of
securities held1  (in trillion) € 0.2   8%

Number of  
netted transactions

2.4 
 million

  7%

▲

▲

▲ ▲

▲

Euroclear Bank
Peter Sneyers, Chief Executive Officer

Euroclear ESES CSDs
Guillaume Eliet, Chief Executive Officer

▲

▲
▲
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Economic & 
geopolitical 
context

The macroeconomic and geopolitical environment in 2023 
remained unpredictable and challenging to navigate. In 
particular, with geopolitical events driving macroeconomic 
events and in turn having financial market consequences. 
The application of sanctions on Russian immobilised assets 
continued to have a material impact on Euroclear in 2023. The 
company responded well to the challenge by implementing the 
sanctions, managing the consequences of the countermeasures, 
while maintaining normal business operations. This diligence 
has helped to protect Euroclear’s reputation as a trusted 
Financial Market Infrastructure.

Global trends

Through 2023, the global economy proved resilient in the face of 
conflict, geopolitical tensions, high inflation and tightening monetary 
policy. The ongoing war in Ukraine led G7 governments, the EU and 
their partners gradually tighten their regime of trade and financial 
sanctions towards Russia. However, the impact of the war on energy 
and grain prices declined over the course of the year. The outbreak 
of the Israel-Hamas war in October has had less impact on the world 
economy, but nevertheless it threatens to escalate into a wider, 
regional conflict with potential implications for energy supply and 
global trade.

Tensions between the West and China continued periodically 
throughout the year. Both sides made efforts to redirect investment 
and reconfigure supply chains to “de-risk” their economic ties. Other 
countries looked to seize opportunities and avoid the dangers of this 
geo-economic fragmentation. Nevertheless, the BRICS’ admission 
of several new countries to the grouping in 2023 was, in part, a 
reflection of wider wariness among emerging economies about their 
dependencies on Western financial systems.

Inflation remained well above target rates in most economies 
throughout 2023, but interest rate rises in advanced economies 
brought inflation down during the year. However, the end of ultra-
loose monetary policy weighed on economic growth, especially 
in Europe. Higher interest rates also exposed vulnerabilities in the 
liquidity and capital positions of some financial institutions.

2024 outlook

2024 is likely to be marked by uncertainty around interest rate 
reductions, and by market concerns about the sustainability of 
high levels of public debt. European and US governments face 
ever-growing spending demands for defence, industrial policy, the 
energy transition, health and social care, as well as more expensive 
debt service. With central banks engaged in quantitative tightening, 
investors’ appetite for more government bonds may be limited. As 
a result, governments may need to implement policies that channel 
more funds to themselves and keep interest rates low (financial 
repression).

Conflict and geopolitical tensions will be ongoing headwinds for the 
world economy through 2024, and tensions could rise between China 
and Taiwan following the latter’s general election in January 2024. 
China’s economic slowdown is also likely to affect global economic 
growth. Significant uncertainty surrounds the US presidential election 
in November; the outcome of which could impact geopolitics and 
trade. Outside politics, a key theme in the year ahead will be the 
adoption of AI in the financial sector, with its related opportunities 
and risks. Several working groups have been set up to explore the 
business and strategic implications of the macro developments 
outlined above.

Managing Russian sanctions and countermeasures

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine resulted in market-wide application 
of international sanctions. Euroclear considers the application of 
international sanctions as a key priority and takes its responsibility 
very seriously. Therefore, well established processes are in place 
which have allowed the group to implement the sanctions while 
maintaining our normal course of business.

One consequence of the sanctions is that blocked coupon 
payments and redemptions owed to sanctioned entities result in 
an accumulation of cash on Euroclear Bank’s balance sheet. As per 
Euroclear’s standard process, cash balances are unremunerated 
and cash balances are invested to minimise credit risk. Managing 
such credit risk is a requirement under the Capital Requirements 
Regulation. Like for any other reinvestment of cash balances, the 
interest earned is net interest income belonging to Euroclear.

Euroclear is faced with a high level of complexity in managing both 
the wide-ranging package of sanctions and the countermeasures 
implemented by Russia, since Russia does not recognise the 
international sanctions and considers them against public order. 
Euroclear allocates considerable time, resources, and capital to 
manage the market issues, potential risks, and implications of these 
countermeasures while maintaining regular dialogue with clients and 
other stakeholders.

Various parties in Russia contest the consequences of the application 
of international sanctions, with a significant number of legal 
proceedings ongoing, almost exclusively in Russian courts. The 
impact of the lawsuits on Euroclear is uncertain. Euroclear Bank is 
defending against all relevant legal claims and intends to continue to 
do so.

In parallel, the Board notes that the European Commission is 
contemplating various options to use the profits generated by the 
reinvestment of the sanctioned amounts held by financial institutions, 
including Euroclear Bank, for the financing of Ukraine.

Euroclear is focused on minimising potential legal and operational 
risks that may arise for itself and its clients from the implementation 
of any proposals from the European Commission. The company 
continues to act in a transparent manner with all authorities involved 
and to retain profits related to the international sanctions applicable 
on Russian immobilised assets until the situation becomes clearer – 
with no dividend distribution to its shareholders.
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CET1 ratio

72.6%
+93%

vs. 2022

+252%
vs. 2022

Net profit

€4,224
million

Financial review
Euroclear delivered a robust financial performance in 2023 driven 
by high business income and interest earnings, despite subdued 
market conditions. Euroclear continues to separate Russian 
sanctions-related earnings from the underlying financial results 
and retain these profits until further guidance is provided on the 
distribution or management of such profits.

The selected consolidated financial information and metrics set 
out below are derived from the audited Consolidated Financial 
Statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 
2022.  

•  �In 2023, the Euroclear group recorded substantial growth in overall 
�operating income to reach €7,154 million (compared to 

    €2,769 million in 2022), driven by continued business income
    increase and higher interest earnings. The high interest rates 
    environment combined with increase in cash balances led to a
    sharp increase of net interest earnings, reaching over 
    €5,521 million for 2023, of which €4,408 million relate to interests 
    linked to Russian sanctions and countermeasures. 

•  �Business income amounted to €1,634 million in 2023, an 
increase of 2% compared to 2022, confirming the resilience of the 
group’s business model. 

•  �EBITDA margin reached 82.7% compared to 62.3% in 2022. This 
significant increase is explained by interest rates hikes across 
currencies in response to inflationary pressures throughout the 
period, as well as by the reinvestment of frozen sanctioned-party-
owned assets. 

•  �Net profit reached €4,224 million compared to €1,200 million in 
2022; mainly on net interest income. 

•  �Total assets amounted to €166 billion as of 31 December 2023, 
up €38 billion compared to 2022, corresponding to a year-on-year 
increase of 30% as Euroclear balance sheet has experienced 
a material increase in cash as blocked coupon payments and 
redemptions linked to sanctioned assets continue to accumulate.

•  �Earnings per share (EPS) amounted to €1,342 on 31 December 
2023, compared to €381 on 31 December 2022. Adjusting for 
impairments1, the group’s normalised EPS landed at €1,380 at 
year-end 2023, corresponding to a year-on-year increase of 262%.
Shareholders’ equity totalled €9,473 million at year-end 2023, up 
€4,075 million compared to year-end 2022. In line with the prudent 
management of the sanctions and their application, Russian 
sanctions-related cumulated earnings (€3,839 million), net of 
taxes, are not distributed. 

•  �Return on Equity (RoE) amounted to 56.8% for the year 2023, up 
from 23.6% in 2022. Adjusting for impairments (€120 million), the 
group’s normalised RoE reached 58.4% in 2023, corresponding to 
a year-on-year increase of 148%.  

�The group continues to maintain a strong capital position with a CET1 
ratio at 72.6% (core equity including current year’s retained earnings 
minus ordinary dividends to be paid, compared against current year’s 
total risk exposures) as of 31 December 2023 and a low-risk profile, 
which are critical as a financial market infrastructure, and this despite 
the sizable increase of its balance sheet due to the Russian sanctions. 
Both Fitch & S&P Ratings reconfirmed the AA rating of Euroclear 
Bank and the AA- rating of Euroclear Investments SA/NV in June and 
October 2023, respectively. 

Business income margin

17.3%
-38%

vs. 2022

EPS (normalized)

€1,380 

+262%
vs. 2022

+33%
vs. 2022

EBITDA margin

82.7%

ROE (normalized)

58.4%
+148%
vs. 2022

Group’s overall consolidated financial performance

Selected financial information is derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and is defined in the section ‘Management accounts definitions’. 1  �Adjustments for impairments amounting to €120 million, mainly related to goodwill impairments of the Euroclear Sweden CSD. The harsher economic conditions and reduced volumes 
growth combined with an increase in costs are expected to persist, leading to reduced long-term projections. This has resulted in an impairment of €100 million of the goodwill of the 
group’s Swedish CSD.

Operating income

€7,154
+158%
vs. 2022

Total assets

€166
+30%
vs. 2022

million

billion
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The market-wide application of international sanctions has had 
a material impact on Euroclear. As such, Euroclear considers it 
necessary to separate the estimated sanctions-related earnings 
from the underlying financial results when assessing the 
company’s performance and resources. 

Euroclear has defined procedures and management reporting rules 
to segregate the sanctions-related earnings from the underlying 
performance, as to isolate the impact from the proceeds and the 
costs linked to the management of sanctioned assets from the 
regular conduct of business. This impact is on a quarterly basis since 
30 June 2023 subject to a limited assurance engagement by our 
statutory auditor to confirm that nothing has come to their attention 
that causes them to believe that this impact has not been assessed, 
in all material respects, in accordance with the internally defined 
reporting rules.

The main impacts of the sanctions are the following:

•  �Blocked coupon payments and redemptions owed to sanctioned 
entities results in an accumulation of cash on Euroclear Bank’s 
balance sheet. These cash balances are invested to minimise 
credit risk. As a result, at 31 December 2023, Euroclear’s balance 
sheet had increased by €38 billion year-on-year to a total of 

    €166 billion.

•  �Cash balances from Russian sanctions-related assets are 
reinvested, generating interest earnings. Over 2023, revenues on 
cash balances arising from sanctions on Russia amounted to 

    �€4.4 billion. Such interest earnings are driven by two factors:
    -  the prevailing interest rates; and
    -  �the amount of cash balances that Euroclear Bank is required 

to invest. As such, future earnings will be influenced by the 
evolving interest rate environment and the size of cash balances 
as the sanctions evolve. 

•  �Overall, Euroclear incurred additional direct costs from the 
management of Russian sanctions of €62 million for the year 
2023, with considerable senior management and Board focus 
on the topic. Additionally, the international sanctions and Russian 
countermeasures have resulted in a loss of activities from 
sanctioned clients and Russian securities, which negatively 
impacted business income by €24 million.

•  �Russian sanctions-related net profit (€3,242 million) is not 
distributed while uncertainties persist and are retained in 
shareholders’ equity with no dividend distribution.

Main impacts of Russian sanctions on performance 
and reconciliation of group figures to underlying 
figures

Note: The line Net Interest, banking & other income includes the cost related to liquidity lines. This cost is classified as fee expense (part of Net business income) in the financial statements.

Euroclear Holding SA/NV - Consolidated P&L (IFRS)
(in € million)

FY 2022
Total

Russian 
sanctions 

impacts

FY 2022
Underlying

FY 2023
Total

Russian 
sanctions 

Impacts

FY 2023 
Underlying

Operating income 2,769 815 1,955 7,154 4,384 2,771

Net business income 1,600     (7) 1,607 1,634 (24) 1,658

Net interest, banking & other income 1,170 821 348 5,521 4,408 1,113

Operating expenses       (1,152) (20) (1,133) (1,351) (62) (1,290)

Operating profit before impairment 1,617 795 822 5,803 4,322 1,481
Impairment (12) (1) (12) (125) 0 (125)

Pre-tax profit 1,605 794 811 5,678 4,322 1,356
Tax (405) (197) (208) (1,454) (1,081) (374)

Profit for the period 1,200 597 603 4,224 3,242 982

Euroclear Holding SA/NV - Consolidated B/S (IFRS)
(End-of-period - in € million)

FY 2022
Total

FY 2022
Russia

FY 2022
Underlying

FY 2023
Total

FY 2023
Russia

FY 2023
Underlying

Loans and advances to banks and customers 107,378 85,785 21,593 148,063 126,769 21,294

Financial assets 17,105 7,630 9,475 14,822 7,466 7,356

Goodwill and intangible assets 1,501 0 1,501 1,482 0 1,482

Other assets & accruals 1,655 0 1,655 1,448 19 1,429

Total assets 127,639 93,415 34,224 165,816 134,254 31,562

Deposits from banks and customers 114,473 92,782 21,690 149,478 130,415 19,064

Debt instruments issued 6,243 0 6,243 5,368 0 5,368

Other liabilities & provisions 1,526 35 1,491 1,498 0 1,498

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0

Shareholders’equity 5,397 597 4,800 9,472 3,839 5,633

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 127,639 93,415 34,224 165,816 134,254 31,562
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Euroclear’s robust financial progress on an underlying basis

•  �Underlying business income improved year-on-year to reach a 
record €1,658 million, an increase of 3% year-on-year, reflecting 
a robust growth despite subdued market conditions. After volatile 
markets in 2022 following the invasion of Ukraine, market activity 
slightly reduced in 2023 and equities valuations showed a limited 
recovery. On the other hand, fixed income issuance performed well. 
The diversification of Euroclear group business demonstrates its 
resilience with a good balance between revenues linked to market 
activity, revenues linked to equities valuation and revenues linked 
to fixed income (subscription-like business model). 

    -  �Eurobonds & European assets performance resulted from solid 
issuance and partial recovery of equities valuation, in spite of 
lower levels of trading compared to last year in most markets.  

    -  �Funds business also suffered from lower activity mainly 
impacting mutual funds. Investments in ETFs remained strong. 

    -  �Collateral Highway revenue increased, despite reduced volumes 
for lending and borrowing thanks to revised pricing.

    -  �Global & Emerging Markets performance remained solid amid 
interest in new, emerging markets.

•  �Business income margin on an underlying basis amounted to 
22.2% in 2023 compared to 29.5% in 2022. The slowdown is 
mainly driven by business income impacted by subdued market 
conditions in 2023 while costs increased on strong inflation and 
continued investments.

•  �The interest rate environment has changed drastically on a global 
scale over the past two years. Rising interest rates in 2023 had 
led to a large increase in interest earnings on cash balances. On 
an underlying basis, 2023 interest, banking and other income 
increased by 219% to €1,113 million driven by interest rates hikes. 

•  �Underlying operating expenses increased to €1,290 million, 
up 14% compared to 2022. Approximately 10% of the group’s 
increase in underlying operating expenses is due to inflation on 
costs, with the remainder reflecting continued investments in its 
technology and service offering, as well as one-off projects. The 
investments in Euroclear’s technology aim at enhancing Euroclear’s 
client proposition, business resilience, and to increase efficiency 
through standardisation and modernisation. 

•  �EBITDA margin on an underlying basis reached 57.4% compared 
to 47.7% in 2022, a level which is amongst the top of industry 
leaders in the financial market infrastructure sector. This significant 
increase is explained by interest rates hikes across currencies in 
response to inflationary pressures throughout the period. 

•  �Underlying net profit reached €982 million compared to 
    €603 million in 2022, reflecting a strong business performance and
    continued growth of Euroclear’s core business. 

•  �On an underlying basis, EPS is at €312 in 2023, a year-on-
year 63% increase reflecting continued increase in the group’s 
underlying net profit. Adjusting for impairments (€120 million), the 
group’s normalised underlying EPS amounted to €350 at year-end 
2023, corresponding to a year-on-year increase of 83%.

•  �Underlying RoE amounted to 18.8% for the year 2023, up from 
12.6% in 2022. Adjusting for impairments (€120 million), the 
group’s normalised underlying RoE reached 21.1% in 2023, an 
increase of 68% from 2022.  

•  �The Board envisages approving an interim dividend on the group’s 
underlying net profit in 2024, representing a dividend per share of 
€210.00 compared to €115.50 per share in 2023.

Management accounts definitions
In presenting and discussing the group’s financial position, management uses certain performance measures that have not been audited although derived from the audited 

Consolidated Financial Statements, following the definitions below. 

Measures Definition

Business income
Business income, also presented as ‘Net fee and commission income’ in the financial statements adjusted to 
include fees from the group’s liquidity line. Business income stems mainly from the provision of settlement, asset 
servicing and other services.

Business income margin Business income minus administrative expenses divided by business income.

EBITDA margin
Earnings Before Interest (paid on financial debts), Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) divided by 
operating income.

Earnings per share (EPS) Net profit divided by the number of shares as of 31 December.

Return on Equity (RoE) Net profit divided by average shareholders’ equity of current year and prior year.

Underlying Excluding the impact of the Russian sanctions-related earnings.

Focus on underlying financial performance

 In this sub-section, Euroclear refers to its underlying results, after segregation of its Russia related sanctioned earnings.

Business income margin EBITDA margin Net profit
(in € million)

EPS Return on equity
 

CET1 ratio

35%
30%

22%

46% 48%

57%

€459

€603

€982

€146

€191

€350

10%
13%

21%

39% 39%

48%

2022 20232021

€90

€348

€1,113
€21

€26

€24

Interest, banking and other income
 (in € million)

Yearly average deposits (in € billion)

2022 20232021

Business income by business line
(in € million)

€1,525
€1,607

€1,658

Selected financial information is derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and is defined in the section 
‘Management accounts definitions’.

2022 20232021 2022 20232021 2022 20232021

2022 20232021 2022 20232021 2022 20232021

Eurobonds & European assets

Funds

Global & emerging markets

Collateral Highway

Data services
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Risk 
management
Despite the unpredictable and challenging 
macroeconomic and geopolitical environment, the 
group’s risk profile remained strong, supported by a 
robust control environment and the dedication and 
expertise of its staff. However, sanctions against 
Russia and the Russian countermeasures remained 
one of the largest risk drivers in terms of legal, 
operational, and financial risks for Euroclear in 2023. 

Principal risks Approach

Operational risk (people, process, 
systems)

Operational risks are at the core of Euroclear’s business. The group is committed to effectively managing these risks, ensuring its position as a resilient and strong 
financial market infrastructure through integrating continuous technological modernisation and innovation with the strategic development of its human resources. 
Euroclear has a comprehensive operational risk management framework, underpinned by its dedication to investing in human capital development and fostering a culture 
of risk awareness. 

In 2023, the group’s processes continue to be tested by the sanctions against Russia and the Russian countermeasures. While new sanctions were issued, these resulted 
in more breakage of straight-through-processes and increased manual interventions. The Russian countermeasures equally posed operational challenges to ensure 
reconciliation of securities balances held within Euroclear Bank. 2023 also saw underlying clients of sanctioned Russian participants bring cases before the Russian courts 
against Euroclear Bank concerning immobilised assets due to international sanctions on those participants. The effects of such cases are still feeding through the group’s 
processes and being reflected in its capital assessments for operational risk.

Throughout 2023, Euroclear has effectively strengthened its operational risk management, resulting in a decrease in system incidents and the continuous endorsement of 
its Central Securities Depository Regulation (CSDR) license. 

Looking at the operational achievements, Euroclear has enhanced its staff’s risk management expertise through specialised development programs, resulting in 
heightened vigilance and capability. Euroclear reinforced its cybersecurity capabilities through substantial investments in its infrastructure and its Cyber Defense Centre. 
Business continuity plans have been refined. These are instrumental in the resilient response to potential disruptions, complement the very high system stability and 
demonstrate the robustness of the control environment in place.

Outlining the future outlook for 2024 and beyond, Euroclear is committed to maintaining momentum in risk management. The group believes its people are its greatest 
asset to effectively respond to the ever changing and challenging external environment and will continue to attract and develop talented individuals. The enhancement of 
Euroclear’s training programmes is also a priority to embed a culture of risk awareness throughout the organisation.

Financial risks  Euroclear Bank is the only Euroclear CSD that has a banking license and thus bears the large majority of financial risks in the group. Other CSDs in the group offer only 
securities settlement services in central bank money and do not provide credit to clients. They also do not engage in operations with counterparties, except for the 
investment of their own funds.
 
Euroclear’s exposure to various financial risks kept growing throughout 2023 driven by the continuous increase in the balance sheet, though to a lesser extent than in 
2022. Following the international sanctions against Russia, Euroclear Bank has been blocking incoming cash proceeds linked to sanctioned assets as per sanctions 
legislations and reinvesting this cash safely, in line with Banking and CSD Regulations. This led to a substantial increase in financial exposures, in particular, credit risk (the 
risk of loss resulting from the inability of the borrower to repay the loan).

The credit risk linked to Russian exposures arises primarily when reinvesting the frozen or immobilised cash balances. To mitigate this risk, Euroclear Bank uses the 
investment policy designed to maintain a low risk profile - where possible, sanctioned cash is deposited with the central bank of the relevant currency. Where central 
bank access is not available, the reinvestments are made short-term and in a secure way (reverse repo) or reinvested via FX swaps with highly-rated counterparties. This 
prudent credit risk management strategy ensures that, while exposures are substantial, the resulting risk and capital requirements remain relatively contained.

As of end 2023, there is no market risk linked to the reinvestment of frozen or immobilised balances as they are either reinvested in the same currencies as the underlying 
balance or are hedged through the FX markets where the reinvestment is in a different currency than the underlying balance. Additionally, market exposure to the Russian 
rouble disappeared in 2023 from Euroclear Bank’s balance sheet due to its decision to withdraw the Russian rouble from its list of accepted settlement currency earlier in 
the year.

Throughout 2023, the group has mitigated its financial risks and contained the capital impacts. Euroclear’s financial soundness remains strong. Euroclear Bank continues 
to operate a strong credit, liquidity and market risk framework which continuously seeks to reduce the intra-day uncommitted credit provided to its participants and to 
ensure smooth day-to-day operations and maintain a high level of preparedness to cope with unexpected and significant liquidity shocks. 

Legal, compliance, conduct  
and culture risks 
		

The group faces legal, compliance, conduct and culture risks given its position as a leading financial market infrastructure operating in a highly regulated environment. 
Legal and compliance challenges continue to increase from the scale and complexity of new sanctions as well as the related Russian countermeasures and the high 
volume and variety of new regulations. These risks continue to be monitored and managed through the robust application of Euroclear’s legal and compliance risk 
management frameworks and ongoing adherence to the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct. 

Euroclear has implemented all relevant international sanctions and ensures its continued compliance with relevant legislations. Some uncertainties remain with regards 
to the Russian countermeasures and increasing number of the court cases brought in Russia against Euroclear Bank. Euroclear considers the potential impacts of these 
uncertainties on its financial position when assessing the appropriate capital levels to maintain and continue to provide a safe and resilient services to its clients and the 
markets.

Change and project risks, 
business and strategic risks 

The ability to anticipate and integrate change in an evolving market is essential for the longer-term strategy of the group. Early in 2022, Euroclear defined a new strategy 
and long-term vision to ensure that its service offering remains relevant longer term. Since then, Euroclear progressed on the execution of its strategy. Euroclear operates 
a Portfolio governance framework to translate the strategy into programme and projects and monitor their execution. Managing effectively change and project risks by 
reliance on project and programme management capabilities at corporate level is crucial for the successful execution of the strategy in the coming years.

During 2023, the group continued to invest in its operational resilience, while responding to the challenges posed by the Russian sanctions and countermeasures and 
executing on its new strategy and building the foundations for its longer-term vision. These will remain the challenges for the next few years. 
 

Euroclear has in place an overall effective Enterprise Risk Management framework and risk 
appetite that have been designed to meet Board, market and regulatory expectations and 
govern the way in which risks are managed in the company. Euroclear’s comprehensive Risk 
Library includes all sources of risk to which it is exposed. Detailed information on the risks 
faced by Euroclear, as well as its risk management strategies, policies and processes can be 
found in Euroclear’s yearly Pillar 3 report on www.euroclear.com as well as in Note IV to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

External context

As described on p. 22-23, the macroeconomic and geopolitical environment in 2023 
remained unpredictable and challenging to navigate. Whilst these drivers have had 
significant impacts on the environment in which Euroclear operates, the group’s risk 
profile remained strong, supported by a robust control environment and the dedication and 
expertise of its staff. This conclusion is also supported by the external rating agencies (Fitch 
Ratings and Standard & Poor’s) who have reconfirmed Euroclear’s credit rating. 

Evolution of Euroclear’s Risk Profile
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Compliance

The mission of the Compliance & Ethics function is to 
promote a culture of integrity and support Euroclear 
in navigating through regulatory complexity via 
expertise, constructive challenge, education and 
oversight.

Compliance & Ethics is responsible for assisting the Boards and 
Senior Management of the Euroclear group companies in managing 
compliance, fraud and conduct and culture risks (hereinafter “the 
Compliance risks”) effectively by monitoring compliance with 
applicable laws, regulations and regulatory standards, that fall within 
the scope of Euroclear companies’ competent authorities, national 
data protection authorities, and other foreign authorities, including 
providing assurance on the first line’s identification, assessment and 
management of Compliance risks. 

Euroclear has adopted a Compliance Charter, a Compliance Risk 
Group Policy and a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct which 
provide the basis for the implementation of a consistent Compliance 
Risk Management framework across the Euroclear companies 
aligned with the Enterprise Risk Management framework. 

Compliance & Ethics is part of a coherent whole of transversal control 
functions and services requiring mutual coordination. In performing 
its activities, Compliance & Ethics cooperates with other transversal 
control functions and services within the organisation, in particular:

•  �Legal Experts who monitor, identify, interpret, assess and 
communicate applicable legal developments to impacted internal 
stakeholders (‘Legal / Regulatory Watch’);

•  �Risk Management, which provides robust independent oversight 
of management’s risk-taking activities, including for Compliance 
risks;

•  �Internal Audit, which provides independent reasonable assurance 
and insights to the Boards on the activities carried out by the first 
and second lines to effectively manage Compliance risks;

•  �Compliance Champions who are Compliance Risk experts in their 
business area, and who partners with the Compliance & Ethics 
to ensure that the Compliance Risk Management Framework 
is effectively embedded and applied on an ongoing basis in 
the culture and processes of their business area.

Additionally, for certain categories of compliance risks, Compliance 
& Ethics relies on the expertise of other departments or divisions 
within the group - ‘Regulatory Framework Owners (RFOs)’, or similar 
functions at local level - to carry out appropriate oversight of some 
specific Compliance risks. 

In view of respecting regulatory requirements and of having a robust 
management of Compliance risks across the group, the organisation 
of Compliance & Ethics encompasses a local and a group dimension.

The group Chief Compliance Officer (‘CCO’) ensures that the 
regulatory obligation to have a central management of Compliance 
risks covering all entities of Euroclear is met. The group CCO defines 
the Group Compliance Risk Management framework, ensures it 
is implemented consistently across Euroclear and provides the 
Management Committee, the Audit & Compliance Committee (‘ACC’) 
and Board with a consolidated view of Compliance risks of the group 
and of the adequacy of the group Compliance function.
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Acting responsibly
Euroclear is committed to conducting responsible and sustainable business which 
is aligned with its purpose and the expectations of its stakeholders. Believing that 
acting responsibly will be in the best long-term interests of the company and its 
stakeholders, it has embedded ESG into its corporate purpose and strategy. The 
Board is also committed to transparent, robust reporting and to overseeing how 
Euroclear assesses its effects on the environment and on society.  

In 2023, Euroclear continued to build on the solid foundations 
established in previous years. It has started work on implementing 
the principles laid out in its ESG Board policy and begun to measure 
progress against the ESG KPIs which were approved by senior 
management early 2023. Euroclear has made progress against its 
commitments in many areas, meeting its supply chain screening 
targets, receiving approval for its targets from the Science Based 
Targets initiative (SBTi) and broadening its training offer, among 
others. Actions are ongoing to integrate ESG into its current service 
offering, together with its business partners Impact Cubed and 
Greenomy.

Euroclear’s ESG Board policy was published in 2023 to drive and 
govern its ESG activity. This policy enables all employees and 
stakeholders to understand Euroclear’s ESG priorities and the 
behaviours and culture it wishes to adopt across the group. The 
policy sets out the Board’s minimum requirements for each Euroclear 
company in line with its ambitions and the group’s risk appetite. These 
minimum requirements capture common principles on ESG issues 
across the Environment, Workplace, Community, and Governance 
pillars of the group’s ESG strategy. Euroclear’s ambitions related 
to those pillars are to manage climate risk in order to build climate 
resilience, to be an employer of choice, to demonstrate its positive 
impact in local and global communities and to ensure and encourage 
good governance across its organisation and in its value chain. This 
policy is currently being translated into policies/guidelines for the local 
entities.

One focus in 2023 was building a pathway towards meeting CSRD 
obligations by 2025. Euroclear sees CSRD as an opportunity to take 
a step back, assess what sustainability topics are material to it, both 
from the perspective of its impact on society and the environment, 
as well as how external events create risks and opportunities for 
the company. Euroclear has partnered with an external advisor to 
conduct its double materiality assessment and internal and external 
stakeholder engagement, ensuring that all types of  stakeholders are 
well represented. Together with Greenomy, Euroclear is strengthening 
its internal data capabilities to be in a good position to report 
transparently on CSRD requirements in 2025.

In addition, Euroclear has also put greater focus on employee 
awareness, training and engagement in relation to ESG, including 
three new ESG-related questions in its Employee Engagement survey.

As well as reporting according to the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 
standards in its Sustainability Report, Euroclear also reports according 
to the UN Global Compact framework and the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). 

Facilitating and accelerating a sustainable financial system

Euroclear has integrated ESG into its corporate strategy. Please refer 
to Business and strategy section for details of progress in this area.

Our ESG mission is to support and enable a sustainable 
marketplace, while limiting the impact on the environment, 
providing an equitable and inclusive workplace, and conducting 
business in an ethical and responsible way.

Environment

Euroclear’s ambition for Environment is to be a climate resilient 
business and support climate resilient financial markets through 
the management of climate risk.

To reach this ambition, Euroclear has established principles to 
manage its environmental impact across four key areas: energy use 
and emissions, company-related travel, waste and resource use, and 
climate risk.

Euroclear continuously strives to reduce its impact on the planet, 
aiming for the lowest possible carbon level. In 2022, Euroclear reset 
its baseline emissions to base-year 2019 and to include all relevant 
value chain emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3 including Purchased Goods 
and Services and Capital Goods spends). This had substantially 
increased our calculated Scope 3 emissions. In 2023, Scope 1 and 
2 carbon emissions have substantially decreased while our Scope 3 
emissions have increased. 

Euroclear recently announced that its science-based targets, which 
support the pathway to reaching net zero by 2050 at the latest, were 
approved by the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi) in November 

2023. As part of its journey to net zero, Euroclear is focusing on: 

•  �implementing green energy across its offices and data centres, 
with currently over 90% of all the energy used classified as non-
fossil fuel; 

•  �taking measures to reduce emissions linked to resource usage and 
office management in the longer term;

•  �investigating transition to a more sustainable IT environment; 
•  �reducing business travel emissions, which have increased since 

the end of the pandemic. 

In Belgium, Euroclear continues its actions to reduce the carbon 
emissions of its car fleet and offers a comprehensive mobility 
programme encouraging employees to use public transport and 
greener transport options. 

Euroclear continues to work with social enterprise Close the Gap to 
reduce its e-waste, ensuring that old IT equipment is repurposed and 
re-used where it is most needed. In 2023, 6,447 items of equipment 
were donated to Close the Gap, equivalent to an estimated amount of 
619.13 tons of carbon emissions avoided.

Euroclear received a score of C from CDP (previously known as the 
Carbon Disclosure Project).

* Annual reduction targets are calculated from the total reduction required by 2030. E.G. 7% reduction per year is required to reach 55% reduction by 2030.

** Euroclear reports Scope 3 emissions on all 15 categories as outlined in the GHG Protocol Standard, where relevant. (Purchased Goods and Services, Capital Goods, Fuel and Energy-related activities, Upstream Transportation and Distribution, 

    Waste, Business Travel, Employee Commuting and Working From Home and Investments). 

*** Reduction target set on Scope 3 emissions coming from Fuel and Energy-related activities, Upstream Transportation and Distribution, Waste, Business Travel, Employee Commuting (see SBTi approved targets).

-7%
-24%

Target2023 Actual

-55%
-63%

 -28% 
-2%

   70%
37%

   -3% 

Suppliers representing 70% of total suppliers’ emissions to have 
their own Science-Based Targets set by 2027

Annual* reduction of Scope 1 and 2 emissions

KPI

Total reduction of Scope 1 and 2 emissions by 2030

Total reduction of Scope 3*** emissions by 2030 
 (excluding suppliers‘ spends and investments)

Annual** reduction of Scope 3 emissions 
(excluding suppliers ‘spends and investments)

+17%

2019 
baseline

+6%
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Workplace

Euroclear’s ambition for Workplace is to be an employer of 
choice by fostering a healthy, inclusive environment and 
attracting, developing and upskilling staff for the future needs of 
financial markets.

To reach this ambition, Euroclear has established principles to 
manage its Workplace impact across four key areas: Diversity & 
Inclusion, wellbeing, training and development and talent for the 
future.

Euroclear recognises that its people are key to achieving its strategic 
objectives and that having a motivated and skilled workforce with a 
common corporate culture will help face future challenges and take 
advantage of opportunities. In 2023, Euroclear started to work with 
the World Economic Forum as one of its partners for ‘The Good Work 
Alliance’ to ensure that good work practices are embedded into its 
business.

Euroclear operates a strict policy of non-discrimination and is 
committed to creating an environment where all employees feel 
supported and valued. We have internal and third-party hotlines 
available for staff to report any grievances or instances of 
discrimination. In 2023, two cases were reported. In 2023 Euroclear 
implemented the revised governance for its five Diversity & Inclusion 
(D&I) Communities: gender diversity and inclusion; ethnic and cultural 
diversity and inclusion; inclusion of people with different abilities, 
LGBTQ+ and age inclusion, with senior sponsors for each of them. 
It continues to collaborate with partners such as Diversicom to hire 
diverse talents.  

2023 continued to be a turbulent year, with the ongoing war in 
Ukraine and the conflict in the Middle East. With a focus on the well-
being of its staff, Euroclear offers many resources to employees who 
may need support, such as its Employee Assistance Programme; the 

Employee solidarity fund; company nurses and doctor; coaches and 
persons of confidence, as well as training and webinars. Euroclear 
is proud that its ‘Career Continuity’ programme, aimed at those who 
need support during their careers due to disability, chronic illness or 
accident, has been nominated for an award by the Belgian magazine 
‘Trends’.

During 2023, Euroclear continued to recruit to ensure that it has 
the right skills to realise its new strategy. Having onboarded 1,020 
new recruits in 2023, and more than 2,000 over the last three 
years, Euroclear is taking a sustainable approach to recruitment, 
strengthening its workforce planning, ensuring an open pipeline for 
internal mobility and making sure that newcomers are provided with 
the time and resources to settle in.

Euroclear strives to create an environment where its people can 
develop and thrive. With new developments in technology, Euroclear’s 
digital transformation and a fast-changing work environment, it 
is more important than ever to have the right skills in place and 
to nurture and retain talent. Therefore, Euroclear has launched an 
upskilling programme to foster the talents of its employees. This 
aims at creating more internal mobility opportunities, more employee 
engagement, reducing its dependency on a scarce talent market and 
helping it to achieve its strategic objectives.  

In 2023, Euroclear enhanced its learning platform to enable integrated 
and aligned learning paths - combining soft and technical skills to 
support employees in their career development.

It also offers 10,000 new learning modules through LinkedIn 
Learning. In 2023, staff took part in over 122,000 hours of training. 
In 2023 we doubled the hours of training and we delivered more 
than 5,000 hours of peer-to-peer coaching and mentoring. In 2023, 
Euroclear also held a dedicated Learning week with more than 140 
different topics, panels and events across the group.

As of December 2023

*Excluding MFEX data

As of December 2023

*Overall engagement score in Your Voice survey
>  7.7/10 

7.9/10

*Under-represented gender at senior management by 2026
40%

31%

TargetKPI 2023 Actual

Corporate charities screened in accordance with ESG 
and anti-bribery and corruption policies 100%

100%

TargetKPI 2023 Actual

38%
20%

Staff participating in company volunteering programme

Community

Euroclear’s ambition with respect to Community is to 
demonstrate impact, tied to corporate purpose and defined 
Community pillars, in local and global communities.
 
The Community stream focuses on four main pillars: alleviation 
of poverty; coaching and education, social and financial inclusion, 
and the environment. We ensure that all our Community support 
is subjected to strict due diligence and impact is measured. All 
employees can volunteer and contribute to corporate projects during 
working hours for a minimum of eight hours a year.

As Euroclear decided to raise its Community support budget in 2023, 
it is currently adapting its governance to evolving needs. 

2023 saw some devastating natural disasters and Euroclear 
supported those who were impacted in Morocco, Syria and Turkey 
through donations. In 2023, our charitable donations were more than 
twice as compared to the previous year. 

This year, as part of its support for those impacted by the war in 
Ukraine, Euroclear provided financial support to a charity working with 
refugees and hosted extra schooling activities for Ukrainian students 
in its premises in Krakow.

Euroclear continues to work with long-term charity partners 
such as Junior Achievement, Plan International, the Pan-Asian 
Women’s Association (PAWA) and Street Child, as well as other local 
associations across all its locations. 

In 2023, Euroclear sponsored a Financial Award at Junior 
Achievement’s final European competition in Turkey, with the 
participation onsite of a delegation of Euroclear volunteers. It also 
took out a team of colleagues to work with the local communities 
it supports through the NGO, Street Child, in Uganda, focusing on 
education and financial inclusion.

This year 2,082 colleagues have volunteered as part of the corporate 
volunteering programme, representing 38% of the workforce.
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ESG in compliance & ethics

Euroclear has strict policies in place around compliance & ethics. 
In addition to its Code of Ethics and Business Conduct and related 
policies, it publishes an annual statement on its website outlining 
its commitment to preventing acts of modern slavery and human 
trafficking from occurring within the business and supply chain. 

In 2023, Euroclear continued with campaigns to maintain awareness 
around whistleblowing, focusing on psychological safety. 27 Speak 
Up cases were raised in 2023 at Euroclear SA/NV level. With regard to 
its anti-retaliation framework, Euroclear performs regular follow-ups 
with people who speak up to ensure they are not retaliated against.

Euroclear also ran a Conduct and Culture risk survey with a 
participation rate of 73% and 8.1/10 as score average, demonstrating 
that Euroclear has a strong ethical core. Some areas of improvement 
have also been identified for which an action plan has been set up 
and communicated to senior management.

ESG in Euroclear supply chain

Euroclear manages the supply chain risks of its suppliers to 
contribute to financial market stability. It assesses all critical suppliers 
annually, with respect to ESG (anti-money laundering, sanctions, 
conflicts of interest, bribery and corruption, human rights including 
modern slavery and personal data). Protocols are established and 
followed when issues are identified. 
 
In addition, as of 2023, 100% of all new Critical Service Providers 
(CSP), Outsourcing Service Providers (OSP) and suppliers with which 
Euroclear orders material amounts (High Spend suppliers) were 
screened by its third-party assessor Ecovadis, while 80%  of existing 
CSP/OPS/HS suppliers have also been assessed. Euroclear will 
publish its revised Supplier Code of Conduct in early 2024.

ESG Governance

Euroclear’s ambition with respect to governance is to ensure 
robust and transparent governance across the organisation and 
encourage good governance in its value chain. 

To reach this ambition, Euroclear has established principles to manage 
governance impact across four key areas: corporate governance, 
market resilience, supply chain and human rights.

More broadly, Euroclear SA/NV and its major subsidiaries are all 
subject to a variety of financial services regulations, most notably 
the CSDR Regulation and Banking Regulations which detail specific 
governance requirements. The group publishes governance charters 
which outline the main aspects of the Corporate Governance 
framework of the major entities in the group. The group is also subject 
to climate and ESG regulations and standards from the ECB, European 
Commission (CRR-3/CRD-6) and related EBA Guidelines. Please refer 
to Corporate Governance section for details of progress in this area.

Boards of Euroclear SA/NV, Euroclear Holding and Euroclear Investment,
 and each of ESA’s subsidiaries to contain at least one third 

of the under-represented gender
33%

39%

TargetKPI 2023 Actual

As of December 2023 As of December 2023

CSPs/OSP ESG screening of existing suppliers
75%

80%

CSPs/OSP ESG screening of new suppliers
100%

100%

TargetKPI 2023 Actual
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Corporate 
governance

Euroclear believes in, and implements, strong, effective, and 
transparent corporate governance across the Euroclear group. 
All companies within the group are subject to detailed and 
specific corporate governance requirements. 

Euroclear Holding SA/NV is an unlisted public limited liability company 
incorporated under the laws of Belgium and financial holding 
company1 and subject to a number of prudential and governance-type 
obligations under the Banking Law. Euroclear Holding SA/NV is the 
ultimate holding company of the Euroclear group which owns, directly 
or indirectly, the entire issued ordinary share capital of the group 
companies. Euroclear Holding SA/NV qualifies as an exempt financial 
holding company under the Banking law and is subject to a light 
regulatory regime under the Banking Law.

Euroclear SA/NV is a limited liability company (société anynome/ 
naamloze vennootschap) established under Belgian law that is 
regulated as a support institution within the meaning of article 
36/26/1 of the Organic Law and as a Financial Holding Company, 
in the meaning of Capital Requirements Directive (CRD) IV and the 
Belgian Banking Law.

As the result of the exemption granted by the National Bank of 
Belgium (NBB) to Euroclear Holding SA/NV, Euroclear SA/NV, as the 
approved and designated Financial Holding Company of the group, 
shall:

•  �act as the top Financial Holding Company of the Regulated 
group (consisting of Euroclear Bank and the financial institutions 
controlled by the former) and therefore be responsible for the 
consolidated oversight over the regulated entities of the Regulated 
group and be accountable to the NBB to ensure compliance with 
prudential requirements on a consolidated basis;

•  �be responsible for all management, operational or financial matters 
relating to the Regulated group (whether or not they qualify as 
strategic decisions within the meaning of Article 3, 63° of the 
Banking Law (a “Strategic Decision”) which affect the Regulated 
group (“Relevant Matters”) and;

•  ��be given all the necessary means and legal authority to discharge 
the above obligations in an effective manner.

Furthermore, it is authorised by the NBB as a support institution within 
the meaning of respectively Articles 36/26 and 36/26/1, § 4 of the 
Belgian Law of 22 February 1998 on the organic status of the NBB. 

As parent entity of a Belgian credit institution (Euroclear Bank), 
Euroclear SA/NV qualifies – and is regulated – as an approved 
Financial Holding Company as referred to in article 212/1 and 
following of the law of 25 April 2014 on the status and supervision of 
credit institutions.

As a result of the systemic risk potential of the regulated entities of 
the Euroclear group (and in particular Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear 
Bank in light of the financial market infrastructure services they 
provide), Euroclear SA/NV has also been designated by the NBB 
as a systemically important financial institution (“SIFI”) under the 
Organic Law. The NBB has designated Euroclear SA/NV as a domestic 
systemically important institution pursuant to Article 14 of the Belgian 
Banking Law of 25 April 2014 (referred to in the Capital Requirements 
Directive (CRD) as “Other Systemically Important Institution” or 
“O-SII”) under the Banking Law and, as such, Euroclear SA/NV is 
subject to a capital ratio surcharge.

Euroclear SA/NV is the Belgian parent company of the CSDs of the 
Euroclear group, and of the other operational subsidiaries of the 
group. Euroclear SA/NV operates branches in London, Amsterdam, 
Paris and Krakow as well as a representative office in Luxembourg. 
Euroclear SA/NV is also the parent of the non-CSDs regulated and 
non-regulated entities of the group.  

Euroclear SA/NV owns the group’s shared securities processing 
platforms and delivers a range of services to the group’s regulated 
and non-regulated entities of the group (including Euroclear Holding 
SA/NV and Euroclear Investments SA/NV). Euroclear SA/NV has 
established support functions for the regulated and non-regulated 
entities of the group (except where legal or regulatory requirements 
require otherwise). 

Our strong governance upholds our reputation as a trusted FMI 
and is the foundation of our ability to support the expansion of a 
sustainable finance market.

Euroclear believes that sound corporate governance is key for a trusted FMI to protect the interest of its 
stakeholders. Euroclear has governance procedures and practices throughout the group which promote 
accountability and transparency of decision-making, and which seek to ensure that all stakeholder interests are 
duly considered and safeguarded. These procedures are underpinned by a strong focus on ethical behaviour and 
a positive working culture that help it to make better business decisions ensuring continued success.  

Robust and transparent governance across the organisation and its value chain. Euroclear and its major 
subsidiaries are all subject to a variety of financial services regulations, most notable the CSDR Regulation 
and Banking Regulations which detail very specific governance requirements. Euroclear publishes detailed 
governance charters which outline the main aspects of the Corporate Governance framework of the major 
entities in the group. The group is also subject to new climate and ESG regulations and standards coming 
from the ECB and European Commission and related EBA Guidelines. Euroclear actively monitors regulatory 
developments to determine their impact, including allocating resources to address and close gaps in existing 
regulations.  

Euroclear corporate structure

1  �Financial holding company (compagnie financière / financiële holding) in the meaning of Article 3, 38° of the Banking Law and is, in that capacity, required to seek approval from the NBB 
as required by Article 21a (1) of CRD IV, introduced by Article 1(9) of Directive 2019/878 of 20 May 2019 (as transposed into the Banking Law)
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Our group structure
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Euroclear Holding’s shareholders

The shares of Euroclear Holding SA/NV may be transferred. However, 
as the group contains regulated entities, competent authorities must 
ensure the suitability of prospective shareholders. 

Euroclear Holding SA/NV has 78 Shareholders. The Top 20 
Shareholders represented a total of 83.49%. The information is 
available on our website.

In the year 2023, several shareholders have acquired shares in 
Euroclear Holding, the ultimate parent company, contributing to the 
overall growth and stability of our shareholder base.

The ownership of 14.20% of Euroclear Holding’s capital changed in 
2023:

•  ��Société Fédérale de Participations et d’Investissement (”SFPI”) 
continued to reinforce its holding by acquiring 1.79% from various 
sellers, totalling 12.92%.

 
•  �Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations (”CDC”) continued to reinforce 

its holdings by acquiring 4.19% from various sellers, totalling 
10.91%. 

•  �NZSF Euro Limited (”NZ”) became a new shareholder by acquiring 
a total of 4.99% from various sellers during 2023.

•  �Novo Holdings A/S (”Novo”) became a new shareholder by 
acquiring 3.22% from various sellers during 2023. 

Governance structure

As a financial holding company, the Company is subject to 
governance-type obligations referred to in Article 212 of the Banking 
Law of 25 April 2014 (“Banking Law”), it being understood that the 
National Bank of Belgium (“NBB”) has granted an exemption from the 
obligation to set up a Management Committee.

Euroclear Holding is managed by a Board of Directors and Effective 
Managers. The Euroclear Holding Board has delegated to the Effective 
Managers the responsibility for the management of the Company 
within the strategic framework defined by the Board. 

The Board of Directors determines the Company’s general policy and 
strategy. Within the limits set out in the Protocol for 
Euroclear SA/NV - Euroclear Holding (the ‘Protocol’), including its 
provisions on the role and responsibilities of Euroclear SA/NV to 
resolve on all specific matters and the information flows to be 
observed, the Board of Directors of Euroclear Holding is entitled to 
perform all powers reserved to it by law or the Articles of Association. 

Since July 2021, to improve effective decision making and strategy 
implementation, the Boards of Euroclear Holding SA/NV and Euroclear 
SA/NV have been ‘mirrored’. 

In addition, the Board undertook to simplify the group’s governance 
further by transferring the registered seat of Euroclear Investments 
SA/NV from Luxembourg to Belgium at the end of 2022 and 
appointing a newly composed Board, which since 1 January 2023 
also mirrors the Board composition of Euroclear Holding SA/NV and 
Euroclear SA/NV.

This simplification of the corporate structure and board structures 
has strengthened the governance, risk management and oversight of 
Euroclear SA/NV, Euroclear Holding SA/NV and Euroclear Investments 
SA/NV, creating value for shareholders, stakeholders and society. All 
of these Boards are chaired by the same Independent Non-Executive 
Chair and contain an appropriate number of Independent Non-
Executive Directors.

Sitting on different Boards, the members of the mirrored Boards 
have separate mandates and therefore manage such mandates in 
accordance with the Conflict of Interest Policy of these Boards.

The governance arrangements of the Board of Directors described 
in this section are based on, among other things, Belgian Banking 
Law, Euroclear Holding’s Articles of Association, the Boards Terms of 
Reference, and the rules of procedures for the Board. 
 

Euroclear Holding SA/NV Board composition in 2023

Euroclear Holding Articles of Association provide that the number of 
members of the Board consist of at least four directors appointed 
by the General Meeting of shareholders and who comply with legal 
and regulatory requirements. Directors, at all times, meet the fitness 
and propriety criteria required for their role as determined by law 
and applicable regulatory requirements. Only natural persons can 
be members of the Board. Euroclear Holding Board of Directors 
is composed of executive and non-executive directors, whereof a 
suitable number of independent directors. 

At the end of 2023, the Euroclear Holding consisted of 18 directors; 
nine of whom were non-executive directors proposed by firms that 
are major shareholders, six independent non-executives and three 
executive directors. The composition of the Board changed in 2023 
by the resignation of Mr. Passacantando (INED and one of the Deputy 
Chairs) and the appointment of Mr. Feys, proposed by SFPI-FPIM, and 
Mrs. Nagel, proposed by BNY Mellon Pershing EMEA, both appointed 
as non-executive directors of Euroclear SA/NV, Euroclear Holding SA/
NV and Euroclear Investments SA/NV. 

Mr. Vanni d’Archirafi is the Chairman of the Board, and Mr. Finders is 
the Deputy Chairman. Both Mr. Vanni d’Archirafi and Mr. Finders are 
independent directors, as defined by Article 3, 83°, of the Belgian 
Banking Law.

Remuneration
The remuneration of the members of the Board is decided by the 
shareholders’ meeting. Directors are remunerated for their mandate 
as Board member and such remuneration is not linked to the 
business performance. The amount of remuneration takes account of 
the level of responsibility and time required to fulfil the Board role.

Suitability
The composition of the Euroclear Board is considered in the context 
of the requirements of the business of the Company and the group 
at a given point in time, including prevailing legal and regulatory 
requirements. 

To adequately fulfil its roles and responsibilities, the Board as a 
whole possesses the necessary balance of skills and experience to 
set the general policy and strategy of the company. This includes 
overseeing the effectiveness and independence of the control 
functions, establishing the culture, values, standards, ethics and 
conduct business rules of the group, and to properly supervising the 
implementation of such policy and strategy. 

Diversity
All Board nominations are taken with consideration to gender, 
nationality, skills, knowledge, diversity and experience. 

Euroclear group has a target to contain at least one third of the under-
represented gender or 40% of non-executive director positions to be 
held by members of the under-represented gender, by 2026. By end 
2023, the Euroclear Holding Board was composed of 61% men and 
39% women.

To ensure adequate diversity, the Board has implemented an annual 
review process of compliance with agreed targets and objectives set 
for achieving and maintaining gender diversity on the Board. 

The Board regularly reviews its composition and that of its 
committees, and agrees, as necessary, on the measurable objectives 
for achieving and maintaining diversity on the Board. 

Euroclear Holding SA/NV Board responsibilities

The Board responsibilities and powers should be read in conjunction with, and interpreted in the light of, the Protocol, including with respect to 
its provisions on (i) the role and responsibilities of Euroclear SA/NV to resolve on all relevant matters, as described in the Protocol, and (ii) on the 
information flows to be observed.

Subject to the above and therefore excluding decisions on relevant matters or which may have an impact on the Regulated Group, the Board’s 
general responsibilities and powers include, but are not limited to, the Shareholders’ matters, holding participations and oversight of the Company 
and entities not part of the Regulated Group. The responsibilities of the Board are defined in detail in the Articles of Association.  
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Corporate governance

Euroclear Holding SA/NV Board and Board committee composition

Name
Euroclear 

Holding SA/NV 
Board

Audit & 
Compliance 
Committee

Risk
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Nominations 
& Governance 

Committee

Francesco Vanni d’Archirafi (Chairman) Independent ● ●

Harold Finders (Deputy Chairman)  Independent ● ● ●

Inge Boets – Independent ●
●

(chair) ● ●

Andrew Butcher – Independent ●
●

(chair) ●

Eilis Ferran – Independent ● ●
●

(chair)

Emeric Laforêt – Independent ● ●
●

(chair)
David Abitbol – Non-executive Director 
Société Générale

● ●

Delphine de Sahuguet d’Amarzit – Non-executive 
Director Euronext

● ●

Bart De Smet – Non-executive Director Consortium of 
Belgian shareholders

● ●

Yuxin Du – Non-executive Director 
Kuri Atyak Investment Ltd.

● ●

Christophe Hémon – Non-executive Director London 
Stock Exchange (C) Ltd.

● ●

Eric Lombard – Non-executive Director 
Caisse des Dépots et Consignations

● ●

François Marion – Non-executive Director Sicovam 
Holding s.a.

● ●

Tom Feys – Non-executive Director 
SFPI-FPIM – Société Fédérale de Participations et 
d’Investissement – De Federale Participatie- en 
Investeringsmaatschappij

● ●

Cécile Nagel – Non-executive Director
BNY Mellon Pershing EMEA

●

Lieve Mostrey – Executive Director  
CEO Euroclear SA 

●

Bernard Frenay – Executive Director ●

Valérie Urbain – Executive Director ●

Our strong governance upholds our reputation as a trusted FMI and is the foundation of our ability to support the expansion of a sustainable 
finance market.

2023 core achievements of the Board

Top 10 Shareholders of Euroclear Holding SA/NV
You can find full list on euroclear.com

  1. Sicovam Holding S.A.

  2. �Société Fédérale de Participations et 
d’Investissement SA/NV

  3. �Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations

  4. Kuri Atyak Investment Ltd

  5. NZSF Euro Limited

  6. London Stock Exchange (C) Limited

  7. Société Générale

  8. Euronext N.V.

  9. Novo Holdings A/S

10. Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ)

Shareholders
78

represented by 
top 20 shareholders

83.49%

of Euroclear holding’s 
capital changed

18.41%
Board of Directors

Women
39%

Nationalities
6

• 	�Manage risk associated with 
the Russia-Ukraine war and 
continued macroeconomic 
uncertainty 

• 	�Support Management in 
managing the complexity of 
international sanctions on 
Russian assets. 

• 	�Oversee the monitoring of ESG 
KPIs

• 	�Monitor risks in net-zero 
transition

• 	�Monitor the execution of the 
strategic plan

• 	�Continued support of people 
strategy as key enabler of our 
business strategy

• 	�Focus and investment on IT 
and cyber resilience

• 	��Adopt and promote an 
integrated model of ESG 
governance throughout the 
group 

• 	��Embed ESG in existing 
governance structure

   ​

• 	�Stabilise the shareholder base 
with transition from traditional 
“user-owned” model to longer-
term institutional investors

• 	�Evolve the overall Board 
composition

• 	��Continued focus on 
identification, mitigation and 
management of conflicts of 
interests  

• 	��Continued training program for 
Non-Executive Directors ​

Risk Strategy Corporate Governance ESG

Members
18

https://www.euroclear.com/investorrelations/en/top-20-shareholders-Euroclear-Holding-SA-NV.html
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Board Advisory Committees

Audit and Compliance Committee (ACC) 
The ACC is an advisory committee of the Board established to assist 
the Board in fulfilling its financial reporting, internal and external 
audit, as well as compliance and ethics oversight. 

The Committee has adequate interaction with the Risk Committee to 
ensure consistency and avoid any gaps in their respective roles and 
to make sure the ACC is informed of the major risk issues reported to 
the Risk Committee.

The Committee will be informed about the major risk issues reported 
to the Company’s Risk Committee.

Committee members collectively have in-depth knowledge of 
financial markets and services, and they understand both the 
Company’s and group’s business as well as collective competence 
in the area of accounting, audit, and ESG. At least one member has 
specific expertise in accounting and/or auditing matters.

Risk Committee (RC) 
The RC assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for 
Euroclear Holding in respect of (inter alia) the following: risk tolerance 
and profile, risk exposures, risk management framework and risk 
policies, risk management function, alignment of remuneration 
policy and procedures with sound risk management, and business 
continuity. 

The Committee shall be informed about major risk or control issues 
raised by/to another Board committee to enable it to assess the 
acceptability within the company’s risk profile. The Committee has 
adequate interaction with the ACC to ensure consistency and avoid 
gaps in their respective roles. The oversight of the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the company risk management systems is the 
responsibility of the ACC and shall be undertaken based on reporting 
from Internal Audit and reported to the RC and Board.

The Committee should have adequate interaction with the 
Remuneration Committee to ensure Compensation policies and 
practices are aligned with the risk culture, appetite and financial 
situation and long-term interests of the company.

Individual RC members have the skills and experience to be able to 
understand both the company’s and group’s business and to oversee 
the risk strategy, risk appetite (i.e. risk tolerance), risk capacity and 
risk profile of the company and the group. 

Nominations and Governance Committee (NGC) 
The NGC assists and advises the Board on all matters in relation to 
the nomination and composition of board and committee members, 
Effective Managers, succession planning as well as corporate 
governance matters. 

The NGC members possess individual and collective appropriate 
knowledge, skills, expertise and professional experience regarding 
governance and selection process, suitability, control practices and 
ESG matters. 

Remuneration Committee (RemCo)
The RemCo assists and advises the Board in defining the 
remuneration policy of the Company and laying down the 
compensation philosophy in alignment with the group. Furthermore, 
it ensures the non-executive Board and Board Committee members, 
Effective Managers as well as Identified Staff of the Company are 
compensated as per the principles described in the Euroclear group 
remuneration policy overseeing management’s implementation of the 
compensation policy.

The Committee works closely with the Risk Committee in evaluating 
the incentives created by the compensation policy.

The RemCo members possess collective knowledge, expertise 
and experience concerning remuneration policies and practices, 
risk management and control activities, namely with regard to the 
mechanism for aligning the remuneration structure to the Company’s 
risk and capital profiles. Furthermore, RemCo members have an 
understanding of the Company’s and group’s business and shall have 
competence relevant to the sectors in which the Group operates.

Board advisory committees

• 	�Risk tolerance and profile, risk 
exposures​

• 	�Risk management framework and 
policies​

• 	�Alignment of remuneration policy 
and procedures with sound risk 
management​

• 	Business continuity ​
 

•	 Defines remuneration policy ​
•	� Oversees management’s 

implementation of the remuneration 
policy

	�

• 	Financial reporting​
• 	Internal and external audit ​
• 	Compliance and ethics​

• 	�Nomination of Board, Committee 
members, and effective Managers

• 	Succession planning
• 	Corporate governance matters
• 	ESG matters
 ​
 ​

In order to perform its responsibilities, the Euroclear Holding Board has established several advisory committees. These committees meet quarterly 
with additional ad-hoc meetings as deemed appropriate by the Chairs of each Committee. The members of the committees are identical for 
Euroclear SA/NV, Euroclear Holding SA/NV since July 2021 and Euroclear Investments SA/NV, since January 2023.
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Management

In light of ongoing geopolitical turbulence, the Board monitored 
the risks associated with the Russia-Ukraine war and supported 
Management in managing the complexity of international sanctions 
on Russian immobilised assets. The group’s focus has been on 
supporting clients through these uncertain times by providing robust 
infrastructure and fulfilling our duties as a trusted FMI.

Throughout 2023, the Board monitored the execution of the strategic 
plan (unveiled in 2022), considering the growing challenges related to 
new risks that emerged due to the ongoing war in Ukraine, continued 
macroeconomic uncertain and the net-zero transition, to name a few.

As in previous years, there was substantial focus and investment 
on IT and cyber resilience, particularly pertinent given geo-political 
developments. 

In addition, Euroclear has decided to adopt and promote an integrated 
model of ESG governance throughout the group and to embed ESG 
in its existing governance structure. The Euroclear SA/NV Board 
approved the new ESG Policy and details about the policy are 
available in the Acting responsible section. The Euroclear SA/NV Board 
oversees the monitoring of ESG KPIs. 

Insofar as corporate governance is concerned, substantial work has 
been achieved to ensure the stabilisation of the shareholder base and 
to evolve the overall Board structure.

 

•  �In recent years, Euroclear’s shareholder base has transitioned from 
its traditional “user-owned” model to include a greater proportion 
of longer-term institutional investors. After welcoming in 2022 
CDC and SFPI-FPIM as major shareholders, in the third quarter, the 
group welcomed New Zealand Super Fund and Novo Holdings as 
new shareholders, acquiring 4.99% and 3.22% respectively. The 
long-term investment vision and commitment of both New Zealand 
Super Fund and Novo Holdings strengthen Euroclear’s position as a 
neutral, open financial market infrastructure. 

•  �Discussions at the Board took place with regard to the Board 
composition renewal that will take place in 2024. The Board 
composition has been defined on the basis of a number of criteria, 
which should support the efficient functioning of the Board, of size, 
diversity, skills, knowledge, and expertise. 

•  �An important focus remained on the proper identification, 
mitigation and management of conflicts of interests (including a 
formalised process for pre-vetting conflicts of interests). Work has 
also been done on ensuring having a clear view on the actual time 
commitment of Non-Executive Directors. 

•  �The regular training program for Non-Executive Directors 
continued. Additionally, the Board undertook several sessions to 
deepen its knowledge in the tech domain, cyber and AI, and ESG 
domains.

The Board continued to monitor the subsidiaries’ contribution to 
the group’s success by inviting CEOs and Non-Executive Chairs to 
each of the subsidiaries to the Board meetings. The Board has also 
continuously supported the people strategy which is a key enabler of 
our business strategy.

Core Achievements in 2023

The Board appointed three Effective Managers who shall satisfy any 
conditions set out by the National Bank of Belgium and any other 
relevant regulatory authority. 

The Euroclear Holding Board has delegated to the Effective Managers 
the responsibility for the management of the Company within the 
framework defined by the Board. Most support services have been 
outsourced to Euroclear SA/NV.
 
The Heads of Control functions (Internal Audit, Compliance, Risk 
Management) are, in line with regulatory requirements, senior 
managers with similar functions in Euroclear SA/NV and report on a 
regular basis to the AC.

https://www.euroclear.com/en.html
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Other disclosures

Research and development 

Euroclear continues to invest in research and development. These 
investments are linked to the performance and resilience of its 
systems as well as business developments, which are described in 
more detail in the Business and strategy update section of this report. 
Euroclear also continued investing in market research in line with its 
mission to provide increasingly commoditised market infrastructure 
services.  

Recovery plan and resolution

In line with regulatory rules and guidance, a Recovery, Restructuring 
and Wind-down (RRW) plan is in place for Euroclear Bank as part of 
its overall approach to a recovery, restructuring or orderly wind-
down situation. This plan is reviewed and approved by the Board 
of Directors, upon recommendation of the Risk Committee, on an 
annual basis. The aim of the RRW plan is to demonstrate Euroclear 
Bank’s ability to recover from a series of extreme but plausible 
stresses that could threaten its financial viability, such that Euroclear 
Bank can, to the extent possible, ensure the continuous provision of 
critical (economic) functions. To this end, the RRW plan identifies and 
analyses a number of recovery and restructuring options that could 
be used in order to restore Euroclear Bank’s capital base, liquidity 
position or profitability, over a short-to-medium timeframe. Finally, 
should these recovery and restructuring options prove insufficient to 
negate the stress, and thus could not recover Euroclear Bank, then the 
RRW plan also contains a series of wind-down actions that could be 
taken to ensure, to the extent possible, the orderly wind-down of the 
Euroclear Bank’s critical (economic) functions such that it does not 
exacerbate or create undue stress on the market.  
 
Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Bank are also subject to resolution 
requirements. To this end, Euroclear is implementing a multi-year 
resolution programme to ensure it can be deemed resolvable as 
it delivers the various resolution requirements. This will allow the 
resolution authority to resolve Euroclear in an effective way, should 
a very unlikely extreme event occur, where Euroclear is unable to 
recover.  

Dividends

A dividend amounting to €363,532,000 (€115.50 per share) was paid 
under the form of an interim dividend in 2023. The Board envisages 
approving the payment of a dividend in the second half of 2024 
under the form of an interim distribution, in accordance with the 
Belgian Companies Code and Euroclear Holding SA/NV’s Articles of 
Association.

Post-balance sheet events 	

Euroclear continues to closely monitor the invasion of Ukraine by 
Russia, and to implement the various sanctions. In line with its role of 
financial market infrastructure, Euroclear is carefully managing the 
various aspects resulting from this situation in cooperation with the 
competent authorities. Future earnings linked to the sanctions will 
continue to depend on the prevailing interest rate environment and 
the evolution of the sanctions.

Various parties in Russia contest the consequences of the application 
of sanctions, with a significant number of legal proceedings ongoing, 
almost exclusively in Russian courts. The impact of the lawsuits on 
Euroclear is uncertain. Euroclear is defending against all relevant legal 
claims and intends to continue to do so against any further claims. 

Effective 15 February 2024, the EU Council adopted a Regulation 
(Council Regulation (EU) 2024/576 of 12 February 2024 amending 
Regulation (EU) No 833/2014) providing for an obligation for Central 
Securities Depositories holding reserves and assets of the Central 
Bank of Russia - or of any legal person, entity or body acting 
on behalf of, or at the direction of, the Central Bank of Russia to 
apply specific rules in relation to the cash balances accumulating 
exclusively due to restrictive measures. In parallel the Board notes 
that various options to use profits generated by sanctioned amounts 
held by financial institutions, including Euroclear, for the financing of 
Ukraine are being considered at EU and international level. Euroclear 
is focused on minimising potential legal, financial and operational 
risks that may arise for itself and its clients from the implementation 
of any proposals made or measures taken, while complying with its 
obligations.

Information on circumstances that might materially 
influence the development of the company or its 
subsidiaries 

Other than set out in the section above, no circumstances occurred 
that might materially influence the development of the company or its 
subsidiaries.

On behalf of the Board

Francesco Vanni d’Archirafi
Chairman of the Board
28 March 2024

Financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

 

 

 
For the list of companies in the group, see Note I.  

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

 

 
The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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As at 31 December 2023 
 

 

 
The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
 
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by  
 
 
 
 

, Chairman of the Board 
  



Euroclear Holding SA/NV annual report 2023  Consolidated financial statements 

58 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

Euroclear Holding SA/NV annual report 2023  Consolidated financial statements 

59 

 

 



Euroclear Holding SA/NV annual report 2023 Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

60 

 

 

I. Interes ts in other enti ties  

I.1. General Information 
 
Euroclear d 
services, including banking services in the case of Euroclear Bank, for domestic and international securities transactions, covering bonds, 
equities, investment funds and derivatives. 
 
Euroclear Holding SA/NV is incorporated and domiciled in Belgium. The address of its registered office is:  
 
Euroclear Holding SA/NV 
1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II 
1210 Brussels 
Belgium 
 
Copies of the Euroclear Holding SA/NV consolidated financial statements can be obtained at the same address or checked on 
www.euroclear.com 
 

I.2. Subsidiaries 
 
At 31 December 2023, the Company's subsidiaries are as follows: 
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In 2023, Euroclear SA/NV has acquired shares in Quantessence Limited for a total value of GBP 922,000, and injected capital f or a total 
amount of GBP 8,500,000, increasing its shareholding by 42,476 shares i.e from 71.0% to 91.7% (GBP 16,444,000). Quantessence Limited 
is a UK-based company that is developing innovative fund services. The aggregate amount of Quantessence capital and reserves was GBP 
3,135,000 as at the end of 2023 (2022: GBP -2,397,000), made mainly of capital and share premium of GBP 14,693,000 (2022: GBP 
6,193,000) and accumulated losses of GBP 11,558,000 (2022: GBP 8,590,000). The participation in Quantessence Limited is recognised at 
its acquisition value, less impairment, in the statement of financ
recognise the losses accumulated, has been reversed after the capital injection (see note XXI) and an impairment of 
recognised during the year (2022: GBP 6,975,000) (see note X). 

resenting 
89.86% of the total shareholding. Goji is a leading provider of digital access and technology-enabled solutions to private markets. The 
acquisition of Goji aligns with Euroclear's strategy of expanding its reach and capabilities in private markets. The entity h as been 
consolidated and the entire value of the participation has been recognised under goodwill, pending completion of the purchase price 
allocation exercise later in 2024. The net asset value of the Goji group on acquisition date (after Euroclear cash injection of GBP 
12,800,000) amounted GBP 4,564,000, made of assets (GBP 14,288,000 of which GBP 13,893,000 cash) offset against liabilities (GBP 
9,724,000 of which GBP 8,591,000 borrowings). The goodwill comprises the future profitability resulting from the integration 
extensive cross- erience in the private markets industry. 

-end. The company is 
a provider in sustainability reporting software-as-a-service, helping companies in measuring and improving their sustainability scoring 
according to the various standards and taxonomies. The company is consolidated using the equity method.  

Fondab was a subsidiary of the MFEX Group in Sweden which offered a fund platform and related services for fund distribution. The sa le was 
5, the 

assets and liabilities of Fondab were recognised in separate lines of the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022 (at the 
lower of carrying value or the fair value less cost to sell). -tax profit  
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II . Accounting pol icies 

 

II.1. Basis of preparation 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopte d by the 
European Union (EU) and the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) Interpretations applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.  
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain 
financial instruments and are prepared on a going concern basis.  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It  also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note III. 
 
II.1.1. Adoption of interpretation, new standards and amendments to standards effective on 1 January 2023  
 
The following standard and amendments to standards became effective on 1 January 2023:. 
 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (issued on 18 May 2017); including Amendments to IFRS 17 (issued on 25 June 2020) 
 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies (issued 

on 12 February 2021) 
 Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates (issued on 

12 February 2021) 
 Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (issued on 7 May 

2021)  
 Amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes: International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules (issued 23 May 2023)  

 
The amendments to IAS 1 change the requirements in IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting policies, The amendments rep lace all 
instances of t  
 
The amendments to IAS 12 clarify that the Standard applies to income taxes arising from tax law enacted or substantively enacted to 
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by the OECD, including tax law that implements qualified domestic minimum top-up taxes 
described in those rules. The amendments introduce a temporary exception to the accounting requirements for deferred taxes in  IAS 12, so 
that an entity would neither recognise nor disclose information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes. 
Following the amendments, the group has applied the exception and discloses separately its current tax expense (income) related to Pillar 
Two income taxes in note Tax. 
 
The application of the other  
 
II.1.2. Standards, amended standards and interpretations endorsed by the EU, but not yet effective in 2023 
 
The following amendments to standards become effective on 1 January 2024: 
 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current Date (issued on 

23January 2020); Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current -Deferral of Effective Date (issued on 15July 2020); and Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (issued on 31 October 2022) 

 Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (issued on 22 September 2022) 
 

. 
 

II.2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below . These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented. 
 
II.2.1. Consolidation 
 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has control. The group controls an entity when the group is exposed to, or  has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the 
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date 
that control ceases. 
 
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the group's share of the identifiable net assets is recognised as goodwill.  
 
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Where permitted 
under local legislation, the accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies of the group.  
 

ss is recognised 
cial position at its share in the 
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net assets of the joint venture, less any impairment loss. The accounting policies of the joint venture are changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the group.  
 
II.2.2. Segment reporting 
 
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incu r expenses.  
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The 
chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segmen ts, has been 
identified as the Euroclear SA/NV Management Committee. 
 
II.2.3. Foreign currency translation 
 
II.2.3.1. Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in eu ro, which is the 
company's functional and presentation currency. 
 
II.2.3.2. Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of  the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translati on at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as 
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges. Translation dif ferences on non-monetary items measured at fair value 
through profit or loss are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are not translated. Translation differences on other non-monetary items are included in the profit or loss account.  
 
II.2.3.3. Group companies 
The results and financial position of all the group's entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows: 
 assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing exchange rate at the balance sheet date; 
 income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates for the year; and 
 the resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. 

 
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other 
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to other comprehensive income, in the foreign curren cy 
translation reserve and the hedge of net investments in foreign operations reserve. When a foreign opera tion is sold, such exchange 
differences are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on the sale.  
 
None of the group companies have used the currency of a hyperinflationary economy as its functional currency.  
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated at the closing exchange rate. 
 
II.2.4. Revenue recognition 
 
II.2.4.1 Interest income and expense 
Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method.  
 
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset 
or financial liability. 
 
Interest income and expense presented in the income statement include: 
 interest of financial assets and liabilities presented at amortised cost;  
 interest on debt instruments measured at FVOCI; 
 interest on non SPPI-compliant loans classified as non-trading financial assets mandatorily at FVPL. 

 
Group loans to, and deposits from, banks and customers are principally related to Euroclear Bank clients' cash accounts operated in 
connection with their securities settlement activity, with balances generally changing on a daily basis. Time deposits and th e re-deposits of 
surplus funds rarely have maturities of more than three months.  
 
II.2.4.2. Fee and commission income and expense 
Fee and commission income and expense which respectively represent a return and cost for services rendered (such as safekeeping, 
settlement and custody) are recognised in the income statement point in time when the related service is performed and resulting the 
performance obligation is met.  
 
Settlement and Clearing includes the settlement service, but also the securities and borrowing service and other collateral management 
services directly linked to settlement business. Settlement fees are charged at an average fee rate multiplied by the number of settled 
transactions during the month. Fees are aggregated by market and instrument type. Fees are calculated applying a sliding scale tariff to the 
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number of instructions. Fee and commission income and expense, which represent a return for credit risk borne or which are in the nature of 
interest (securities borrowing), are recognised in the income statement over the period of the loan, or on a systematic basis over the 
expected life of the transaction to which they relate, net of rebates granted.  
 

ntained on the books of a higher-tier entity, and that 
rder. 

Safekeeping fees are computed on the monthly average depot value of securities held in custody. 
 
Other fee and commission income mainly relates to communication fees, custody operations, the recovery of out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred on behalf of clients, issuer services fees earned by Euroclear Finland and Euroclear Sweden, and revenue earned by Euroclear UK 
& International 
Duty on behalf of the Irish Revenue Commissioners. The fees are monthly charged at an average fee rate multiplied by the number of 
transactions. 
 
II.2.4.3. Dividends 
Dividends on equity instruments are recognised in the income statement when the group's right to receive payment is established. 
 
II.2.5. Financial assets 
 
II.2.5.1. Classification and measurement 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, Fair Value through Other Comprehensive  Income 

 - cash flow 
ess model for 

managing the asset. 
 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at settlement date. 
 
A financial asset is classified and measured at amortised cost if it is not designated as FVPL, and if it meets both of the following conditions: it 
is held for collection of contractual cash flows (Held to Collect) and its contractual terms give rise to cash flows that rep resent solely 

ortised cost is recognised in the balance sheet on 
settlement date at fair value plus any directly related transaction costs. It is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less any loss allowances. 
 
A financial asset is classified and measured at FVOCI if it is not designated as FVPL, and if it meets both of the following conditions: it is hel d 
for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, and its cash flows represent solely payments of principa l and interest. A 
financial asset classified and measured at FVOCI is recognised in the balance sheet on settlement date at fair value  less any directly related 
transaction costs. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value are recognised directly in equity, until the asset is either sold or 
matures, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is released to the income statement. Interest revenues are 
recognised using the effective interest method.  
 
The group may irrevocably elect to designate an equity instrument at FVOCI, if it not held for trading. This election is made on an investment 
by investment basis. In this case, dividends that qualify as a return on investment are recognised in profit and loss, but gains and losses are 
not recycled to profit and loss on derecognition and no impairment is recognised. The revaluation gains/losses accumulated in  other 
comprehensive income are transferred to distributable reserves in case of sale of the investment.  
 
All other financial assets are measured at FVPL. These assets are initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value. The 
movements in fair value are recognised in the income statement. 
 
Because of the international f inancial sanctions imposed on Russia, various Russian countermeasures were issued in 2022, introducing 
special procedures regarding the repayment of debt by the Russian state and Russian debtors to non -Russian creditors. In application of 
these measures, National Settlement Depository (NSD), the Russian CSD, opened new types of restricted accounts (C - and I-accounts) in 
the name of Euroclear Bank where all amounts received from Russian issuers are blocked. For the clients of Euroclear Bank, the main 
consequence is that the funds are paid on these accounts in RUB and blocked in accordance with the countermeasures. These accounts do 
not meet the definition of financial assets, and are accordingly not recorded on balance sheet.  
 
II.2.6. Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are classif ied and subsequently measured at amortised cost except for derivatives (see section 2.7.).  
 
Borrowings and debt securities issued are recognised initially at fair value, being the issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net 
of transaction costs incurred. They are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between proceeds net of transac tion costs and 
the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings or issues using the effective interest rate 
method. 
 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (when the obligation specified in the contract is discharge d, cancelled or 
expires). 
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II.2.7. Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
 
The group applies the IFRS 9 hedge accounting requirements in full as issued by the IASB.  
 
All derivative financial instruments are recognised, and subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivative fair values are determined from 
quoted prices in active markets where available. Where there is no active market for an instrument, fair value is derived fro m prices for the 
derivative's components using appropriate pricing or valuation models.  
 
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of a derivative are recognised as they arise in profit and loss, unless the derivative is part 
of a qualifying cash flow hedge. 
 
At the inception of the hedge relationship, the group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedge d item, 
along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.  
 
Under IFRS 9, if a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but th e risk 
management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hed ging 
relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.  
 
The group designates the full change in the fair value of a forward contract (i.e. including the forward elements).  
 
The group currently designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency and interest rate risk in cash flow 
hedges. 
In the case of a cash flow hedge, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge should 
be recognised directly in other comprehensive income and released to profit and loss when the hedged item (for instance the f orecasted 
transaction) affects profit and loss.  
 
II.2.8. Impairment of financial assets 
 
The group recognises loss allowances on financial assets measured at amortised cost, on debt instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, loan commitments and financial guarantees. No impairment loss is recognised on equity instruments.  
 
The expected credit loss (ECL) is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the gro up in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that the group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
 
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e . the magnitude of the loss if there 
is a default) and the exposure at default. Expected credit losses on financial assets are individually assessed (except for t rade receivables 
with no significant financing component).  
 
IFRS 9 does not give explicit definition of default, but clearly states that it must be consistent with the one used for internal credit risk 
management purposes, with the rebuttable presumption that 90 days past due is a default criterion. This definition must be used when 
assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly. Euroclear uses the default definition as stated in the 
Financial Risk Policy Handbook and used for regulatory capital purposes, to ensure consistency with Basel Committee guideline s. 
 
The impairment requirements are complex and require management judgements, estimates and assumptions that are detailed in sec tion III 
Critical accounting estimates and judgements. 
 
A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that 
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit -impaired includes observable data about the following events: 
 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 
 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; 
 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or  
 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial d ifficulties. 

 
For trade receivables with no significant f inancing component, a simplified approach requiring the recognition of lifetime EC Ls at all times 
applies. The expected credit losses on these assets are collectively assessed and estimated 
historical credit loss experience and macro-economic factors. If no significant statistical relationship is observed between impairment losses 
and macro-economic factors, macro-economic factors are not considered. Expected credit losses are based on the age of the receivables. If 

ingly. 
 
The group writes off financial assets including trade receivables, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and 
has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or  has entered 
into bankruptcy proceedings.  

The aggregate of provisions made (less amounts released and recoveries of bad debts previously written off) is charged agains t operating 
profit in the profit and loss account.  
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II.2.9. Purchase and resale agreements 
 
Securities purchased under agreements to resell ('reverse repos') are recorded as loans and advances to other banks or custom ers, as 
appropriate. The difference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using 
the effective interest method. 
 
II.2.10. Goodwill and intangible assets 
 
II.2.10.a. Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the group's share of the identifiable net tangible and 
intangible assets of an acquired entity at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses and tested 
for impairment annually or more frequently where events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units, the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. If impairment is identified, the carrying value of goodwill is 
written down to its net recoverable amount. Impairment losses are immediately recognised in profit and loss and are not subsequently 
reversed. 
 
II.2.10.b. Computer software 
Computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific softwa re. 
 
Costs associated with the development phase of computer software being developed by, and for use of, the group are capitalised only when 
the following can be demonstrated: 
 technical feasibility; 
 intention to complete; 
 ability to use or sell the asset; 
 generation of probable future economic benefits; 
 availability of technical, financial and other resources; and 
 reliable measurement of attributable expenditure. 

 
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or development of software are considered as part of the cost of the software. 
 
The cost of computer software is amortised using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life, normally estimated to be between 
three and five years. 
 
Impairment tests are performed annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. 
 
Costs associated with maintaining or upgrading computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.  
 
II.2.10.c. Other intangible assets 
At the time of a business combination, part of the cost might be attributed to one or more intangible assets when these are separable or 
arise from contractual or other legal rights (such as contractual customer relationships), provided a fair value can be measured reliably.  
 
For each asset, the expected useful life is also assessed. Where this is a finite period, the cost of the asset will be amortised using the 
straight-line method over that period. The estimated useful life is assessed to be indefinite when, following an analysis of all the relevant 
factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. In such circum stances, the 
cost will not be amortised. 
 
After initial recognition, the amortisation period and amortisation method for assets with a finite life are reviewed at least at each financial 
year-end, and changed when necessary. 
 
For assets with an indefinite life, impairment tests are performed annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the 
asset might be impaired. 
 
II.2.11. Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises 
major components having different useful lives, these components are accounted for separately.  
 
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of an asset are considered as part of the cost of the asset . 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost can be measured reliably. All othe r costs are 
charged to the income statement during the financial year in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is determined using the straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amount (difference 
between the cost and the residual value) over its estimated useful life. 
 
The estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment is as follows:  
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 buildings (including enhancements): 20 to 40 years; 
 leasehold improvements: shorter of economic life and period of lease; 
 furniture and fixtures: seven years; and 
 IT equipment (data processing and communications): between two and five years. 

 
Land is not depreciated. 
 
II.2.12. Leases 
 
Leases where the group is a lessee are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset 
is available for use by the group. Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis.  
 
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:  
 fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable;  
 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;  
 amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
 the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and  
 payments of penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising the option.  

 
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the liability.  
 
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, w hich is generally 

e rate that the individual lessee would have to pay 
to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right -of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar 
terms, security and conditions. 
 
Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.  
 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 
 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;  
 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 
 any initial direct costs; and 
 end of lease obligations. 

 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the group is 
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-  
 
Payments associated with short-term leases of property, plant and equipment and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT 
equipment and small items of office furniture.  
 
Leases of vehicles are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability, and associated payments are recognised on a 
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. 
 
Lease income from operating leases where the group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The 
respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based on their nature.  
 
II.2.13. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with an original maturity of not more than 
three months, including cash and non-restricted balances with central banks, and loans and advances to banks and other customers.  
 
II.2.14. Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised where: 
 there is a present obligation arising from a past event; 
 there is a probable outflow of resources; and 
 the outflow can be estimated reliably. 

 
Provisions are recognised in respect of onerous contracts where the unavoidable costs of the future obligations under the contract exceed 
the economic benefits expected to be received. 
 
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence depends on the outcome of one or more uncertain future  events not wholly 
under the control of the group. For those present obligations where the outflows of resources are uncertain, or in the rare cases where these 
outflows cannot be measured reliably, this will give rise to a contingent liability. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial 
statements but are disclosed, unless they are remote. 
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II.2.15. Employee benefits 
 
II.2.15.a. Pension obligations 
The group operates a number of post-retirement benefit schemes for its employees, including both defined contribution and defined benefit 
pension plans. 
 
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and has n o legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions. 
 
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.  
 
The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit plans is the present value of the defined benefit  obligation at the 
balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that 
have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.  
 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognise d in equity in the period 
in which they occur. 
 
Past service costs are recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.  
 
The costs of defined contribution plans are charged to the income statement in the year in which they fall due. 
 
II.2.15.b. Other post-retirement benefits 
Some group companies provide post-retirement healthcare benefits to their retirees. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over 
the period of employment using an accounting methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity. These obligations  are valued 
annually by independent qualified actuaries. 
 
II.2.15.c. Share-based payments 
The group offers share-based payments to Euroclear senior executives. The payments are either part of fixed compensation or variable 
compensation. Share-based payments as part of fixed remuneration are unconditional, recurring, irrevocable amounts which are earned on 
a monthly basis and converted into certificates of shares (hereafter called units) every quarter. Upon grant, the units are unavailable for sale 
during a period of 3 years. After this lock-up period the beneficiary can, but should not, sell the certificates back to Euroclear SA/NV. The 
remuneration is recorded as an expense against a liability. The liability is reduced when the units are released and transfer red to the 
beneficiaries, followed by a corresponding derecognition in treasury shares at the level of Euroclear Holding SA/NV. There are no vesting 
conditions attached to the scheme. 
 

by the European Banking 
Authorities (EBA Guidelines) and the Belgian Banking Act. As a result of these regulations 50% of all variable remuneration should be paid in 
non-cash equivalent instruments and at least 40% of all variable remuneration (in cash or in non-cash equivalent instruments) should be 
deferred over a period no less than 4 years (5 years for the members of the management committee). This period is prolonged w ith another 
year for non-cash equivalent instruments. 
 
Where variable remuneration matures for release, the award of non-cash equivalent instruments will occur in the form of units at that 
moment in time. The beneficiaries, since all restriction on the disposal of these amounts have lapsed, are free to dispose of  the units at that 
moment and can either decide to keep, partially keep/sell or sell the totality of the award back to Euroclear SA/NV. The fair value of services 
rendered by employees in consideration for the granting of share-based payments is recorded as an expense. This expense is recognised in 
profit and loss when services are rendered. At each reporting date and until the liability settlement date, the group remeasures the f air value 

ing conditions. 
Changes in the fair value of the liability are recognised in profit or loss. When the units are released and transferred to the beneficiaries, the 
liability is reduced and the treasury shares derecognised. 
 
II.2.16. Treasury shares 
 
Treasury shares are purchased for the purpose of the share-based payment program offered to Euroclear senior executives. Treasury 
shares are deducted from equity. Upon the vesting of the shares or their repurchase from the beneficiaries, the shares are respectively 
derecognised or recognised. Shares issued to employees are recognised on a first-in-first-out basis. 
 
II.2.17. Current and deferred income taxes 
 
Current tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax law in each jurisdiction, is recognised as an expense in the year in which profits 
arise. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases o f assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) 
that have been enacted or substantially enacted in each relevant country by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
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The principal temporary differences arise from: 
 depreciation of tangible fixed assets and amortisation of intangible assets;  
 revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities, including derivative contracts; 
 provisions for pensions and other post-retirement benefits; 
 tax losses carried forward; and 
 in relation to acquisitions, the difference between the fair values of the net assets acquired and their tax base.  

 
Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets and liabilities other than those acquired in a business combination are not 
recognised unless the transaction affects accounting or taxable profit.  
 
Deferred tax assets, including those related to income tax losses available for carry forward, are recognised when it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be used.  
 
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where: 
- the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the group; and 
- it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise in the same entity and where there is both a legal right of offset and the intention 
to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
Deferred tax related to a transaction or event which is charged or credited directly to equity (e.g. fair value re-measurement of available-for-
sale investments and cash flow hedges) is also credited or charged directly to equity and is subsequently recognised in the income 
statement together with the deferred gain or loss.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
 
II.2.18. Dividends 
 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity and as a liability in the year in which they are approved by the Compan y's 
shareholders.  
 
Dividends for the year that are declared after the balance sheet date are not recognised as a liability and are  instead disclosed as 
subsequent events. 
  
I II. Critical accounting estimates and judgements  

The Euroclear group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. These estimates are 
ubjective 

judgements, some of which may relate to matters that are inherently uncertain. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and 
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
As a financial market infrastructure, Euroclear is closely monitoring the effects of the Russian sanctions on the estimates it is using and the 
new sources of uncertainty it creates. 
 

III.1  
 

ective of whether 
there is an indication of impairment. Furthermore, the group remains alert for indicators of impairment throughout the year and conducts a 
high-level impairment review at each quarter end. 
 
Such impairment reviews are deemed to detect:  
- overpayment; 
- under-performance compared with expectations; and 
- significant changes with an adverse effect on the acquired business. Such changes can stem from, for example, new business pa rame-

ters (e.g. volatility of stock markets, changes in the volume of securities safekept on behalf of customers, ...) or from changes in market 
data used to determine the cost of capital of the acquired businesses.  

 
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the recoverable amount of the goodwill is less than its carrying amount (book value). The 
recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its net selling price and its value in use, both based on present value calcu lations. 
- Net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm's length transaction between knowledgeable willing parties, 

less the cost of disposal. 
- Value in use is the amount obtainable from the use of an asset until the end of its useful life and from its subsequent dispo sal. Value in use 

is calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows. The value in use calculation may take into account not only the post-
acquisition performance of the acquired entity itself, but also the changes in cash flows in other entities in the group that  are positively or 
negatively affected by the acquisition. 

 
An of 2023 (2022 . See Note XVIII. 
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Contractual customers' relationships with an indefinite useful life relate to the acquisition of Euroclear Belgium.  
 

III.2. Impairment of other intangible assets 
 
The group tests internally developed software for impairment annually (during the fourth quarter), irrespective of whether there is an 
indication of impairment. Furthermore, the group remains alert for indicators of impairment throughout the year and conducts a high-level 
impairment review at mid-year. 
 
In assessing whether there is any indication that an asset is impaired, the group considers significant adverse changes that have taken place 
or are expected in the near future in the extent to which, or in the way that, an asset is used or expected to be used. This includes the asset 
becoming idle, plans to discontinue or restructure the operation to which the asset belongs, or the asset's disposal.  
 
Indications of impairment exist if: 
- there are plans to discontinue the development;  
- Inefficiencies are noted (i.e. costs higher than expected);  
- there is material delay in the delivery of the project;  
- there is an adverse event in the market; 
- technology becomes obsolete; 
- resources needed are not available anymore; 
- under-performance is noted compared with expectations; 
- economic performance is lower than expected. 
 

III.3. Russian sanctions 
 

-wide application of international sanctions. A consequence of the sanctions is that assets 
owned by sanctioned parties are blocked or immobilised in the respective financial market infrastructures, including Euroclear Bank. As the 
sanctioned assets mature through their lifecycle, cashflows (e.g. coupons and redemptions) that are normally transferred to the underlying 

n place.   
 
Russian countermeasures were issued, introducing special procedures regarding the repayment of debt by the Russian state and Russian 
debtors to non-Russian creditors. In application of these measures, National Settlement Depository (NSD), the Russian CSD, opened new 
types of restricted accounts (C- and I- type of accounts) in 2022 in the name of Euroclear Bank where all amounts received from Russian 
issuers are blocked. In light of the loss of control of Euroclear Bank on the blocked accounts (C- and I- accounts) and in accordance with the 

onger have 
a debt obligation towards its clients for the amounts that are held in these new types of accounts in case of insolvency of NSD. The client 
money is no longer under the control of Euroclear Bank and no economic benefits associated with the client money flow to Euro clear Bank. 
Euroclear Bank does not bear the credit risk associat
Conditions governing use of Euroclear. Furthermore, in case of bankruptcy, the amounts in these accounts represent amounts pa id by the 
issuer for the benefit of the owners of the securities and would not fall within the bankrupt estate of Euroclear Bank. As long as the Russian 
countermeasures are maintained, the amounts on these accounts do not meet the definition of a financial asset (and an associa ted liability). 
 
Various Russian clients have challenged the consequences of the application of international sanctions on Russia. Euroclear Bank is now 
facing litigations in front of the Russian courts. Russian asset holders are litigating against Euroclear Bank for notional blocked amounts, but 
also lost income and other damages. The potential impact of these claims is currently unknown. A best estimate of the costs claimed that 
Euroclear Bank may need to support is recorded in Comprehensive Income as soon as a claim is accepted by a Russian court 
as of end of 2023).  
 

III.4. Provisions 
 
A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount. At each reporting year, the necessity to record or adjust provision s is considered 
based on the latest information available.  
 
Onerous lease provisions can result from a decision to vacate premises leased by the group and when the space is expected to remain 
empty or to be sub-let at terms and/or conditions below those in the Euroclear lease. The provision represents the lower of the cost to 
breach the contract and the cost of fulfilling it, taking into account the expected benefits that might be received under a sub-lease, providing 
the entity is actively seeking to sub-let the property. 
 
The onerous contract provision represents the best estimate of the unavoidable costs of the obligations under the contract over the 
economic benefits expected to be received under it.  
 
Human resources-related provisions are recognised when a decision has been made, a formal plan exists and the main features are known 
by those affected. The provision represents the best estimate of the full cost of implementing the plan. 
 
Provisions for dilapidation, or end-of-lease obligations, are recorded when the group is contractually bound to incur such costs and a reliable 
estimate can be made.  
 
Provisions for litigation are recorded if and when there are strong indications that costs will be incurred to settle any possible legal cases 
concerned and a reliable estimate can be made.   
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III.5. Defined benefit plans 
 
The present value of the defined benefit plan obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a 
number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of the obligations. 
 
The assumptions used in determining the net cost/(income) for the plans include the discount rate at the end of each year. Th is is the 
interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the plan 
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the group considers the interest rates of high -quality corporate bonds (or 
mortgage-backed bonds in Sweden) that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related plan liability.  
 
Other key assumptions for plan obligations are based in part on current market conditions.  
 
The major assumptions used are shown in Note XXII. 
 

III.6. Deferred tax assets 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to reflect the future tax benefit from unused tax losses or tax credits and other temporar y differences. If 

capacity to utilise the tax assets within a reasonable (10-year) period, the assets are impaired, 
even when there remains a possibility to benefit longer term if sufficient taxable profits arise. The 10-year period is considered reasonable in 
view of the activities of the Euroclear group entities and the sector in which they operate.  
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IV. Risk management and the financial r isk management environment

IV.1. Main risks affecting the group

As a systemically important FMI Euroclear faces many risks in its day-to-day operations which it considers are the following definitions.

Risk Category Definition Risk Library

Conduct and Culture risk

The risk arising from corporate and risk culture, governance arrangements, conduct and dealings with 
stakeholders and shareholders, and corporate responsibility as an international financial market 
infrastructure. Stakeholders might include clients, participant, suppliers, regulators, competitors and other 
counterparts (e.g. treasury counterparts, depository, etc.)

Operational risk  The risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external 
events. This definition excludes legal and compliance risk.

Legal Risk

The risk arising from:
a) the inadequate identification, applicability assessment and interpretation of relevant new or amended 
legal and regulatory requirements, including the identification of conflict of laws;
b) unenforceable, non-compliant, inadequate legal documentation;
c) fai
property rights;
d) failure to act in accordance with competition law requirements; and
e) adverse litigation environment or failure to adequately manage actual or threatened litigation, 
regulatory and enforcement actions.

Compliance Risk
The risk of failure to comply with laws, regulations and regulatory standards falling within the scope of:

b) other foreign authorities where relevant.

Credit Risk
inability or unwillingness on its financial obligations to Euroclear on time and in full. In the scope of its 
activities Euroclear's obligors are defined as borrowing clients, cash correspondents and settlement 
banks, treasury counterparts and issuers of securities in the investment and treasury securities portfolio.

Liquidity Risk
The risks arising from being unable to settle a cash or securities obligation when due resulting from 
inappropriate and/or insufficient liquidity sources.

Market Risk
The risk of uncertainty on the value of assets and liabilities (on - or off-balance sheet) and on the future 
earnings (linked to foreign exchange or interest rate movements).

Strategic & Business Risk
including poor decision making and ineffective strategy implementation.
Business Risk: The risk that the company is not achieving its aimed predicted financial results or risk to its 
solvency or ability to meet capital requirements.
Pension Risk: the risk that Euroclear has an underfunded defined benefits pension scheme exposure.

Change and Project Risk

Change Risk: The risk of failure with respect to the change management process including the tools and 
techniques to manage the people side of change to achieve the required business outcome.
Project Risk is defined as an uncertain event or condition that, if it occurs, has a negative effect on a 

Systemic Risk
The risk of disruption to financial services organisations that has the potential to have serious 
consequences for the financial system and/or the real economy. Systemic risk events can originate in, 
propagate through, or remain outside of Euroclear.

In line with best practices shared by regulators, and in the direction the market is heading, Euroclear does not treat ESG risk as a new 
standalone risk category but rather as a driver of existing risk types. As a result, ESG risk is handled as a transversal risk which drives 
existing risk types (i.e. operational risks, financial risks, business risks) and ESG considerations were added to existing risk type definitions 
over the course of 2023. As well as that, group ESG Risk Appetite Statements and Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) were approved by the Board 
during 2023 and are now included in the Corporate Risk Report. For more details on all these topics, please refer to the grou

tandards, which will be published in May
2024.

To manage and mitigate the above-mentioned risks in the most efficient way the Euroclear group employs a comprehensive Enterprise Risk 
Management (ERM) Framework.

IV.2. Enterprise Risk management framework and governance

Governance
Full details on Euroclear Governance can be found in the Directors Report.

Three lines model
Euroclear operates a three lines model that facilitates the effective functioning of our Enterprise Risk Management Framework (ERM 
Framework). Each line plays a distinct role providing Senior Management and the Board with confidence that the group is likel y to achieve its 
key goals through the effective management of risks.
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The Group Control Functions (2nd and 3rd Lines) have direct reporting lines to the Chairs of their respective Board Committees (e.g. Group 
Chief Risk Officer (CRO) has a direct reporting line to the Chair of the Risk Committee), in addition to direct reporting lin es to the Group 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Where required, they have unmediated access to the Board Chair, the Board itself, and its members. They 
may also contact the statutory auditor or the supervisory authority directly where deemed necessary.

Framework
The ERM Framework defines the overall approach on how risks are managed at Euroclear. They detail the roles and responsibilities of the 
Board, Management and the Three Lines (Governance). They also define the minimum requirements for Culture; Risk Capacity; Strategy 
and Business Objective Setting; Risk Appetite Framework; Risk Policies; Risk Exposure Management; Information, Communication and 
Reporting and Review and Revision. The framework is supported by a number of supplementary policies, policy handbooks, guidelines and 
internal control systems, all of which are regularly reviewed and updated to maintain their relevance.
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The g s risk 
appetite, which is expressed through Risk Appetite Statements and Group Policies that contain guiding risk management principles and 
minimum requirements. 

1st Line management is expected to establish and maintain controls and business processes that ensure that risks taken through business 
activities in pursuit of business objectives are compliant with the G . They do this by: 

 identifying inherent risks in new activities and managing residual risks in existing activities; 

 assessing whether these risks pose a threat to the group and classifying that threat according to the impact and likelihood of the risks; 

 responding to the threat the risks pose by either avoiding, transferring, mitigating or accepting the risk
remains consistent with its risk appetite; and then 

 monitoring the risks to ensure the risk response remains effective.  

2nd Line management, as well as establishing and proposing Risk Appetite Statements and Risk Policies for Board approval, perform  risk 
monitoring and risk assessments processes typically on a quarterly and/or annual cycle. These consist of (but are not limite d to): 

 identification of new threats that external (e.g. macro-economic or geo-political) or internal developments might pose to the group 
though a quarterly assessment of threat scenarios, ranking them in terms of impact and certainty of occurrence in order to facilitate 
preparedness assessments and planning as appropriate;  

 reporting quarterly against risk appetite expectations, facilitated by reporting on Key Risk Indicators that are representative (non-
exhaustive) indicators of the g esigned to provide an objective view of the effectiveness of the ERM framework; and 

 capacity assessments on an annual basis to analyse (consistent with regulatory expectations) whether the current resources (capital, 
profits, liquidity, people, processes and systems) are sufficient to support the risk taking activities of the group in pursuit of its Strategy 
and Business Objectives, these assessments include the Internal Capital and Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ICLAAP) an d 
Recovery and Resolution Plans (RRP), as well as the Internal Control System Report (ICS).  

Framework Components 
Risk Culture enables all individuals at Euroclear to make sound and informed decisions consistent with risk appetite , strategy and business 
objectives. It forms an integral part of the overall corporate culture that the Board and Senior Management seek to promote and embed in 
Euroclear.  

The Euroclear Conduct & Culture Risk Group Policy provides the primary means by which the Board sets out the minimum requirem ents for 
the effective management and independent oversight of Conduct & Culture risk.  

Risk Capacity is the maximum level of risk Euroclear is able to assume given its capital base, its risk management and control capabilities , 
and its regulatory constraints. To be a resilient business, able to weather storms from both internal and external factors, it is important to 
have sufficient risk capacity in financial (capital, profits and liquidity) and operational (people, processes and systems) a reas. Risk capacity is 
also considered on a qualitative basis; events that would lead Euroclear to reconsider its capacity include a significant cre dit agency 
downgrade (for Euroclear Bank only), a material regulatory incident or a qualified audit opinion from its externa l auditor.  

Risk Appetite represents the maximum amount of risk the Board is willing to take and the latitude and independence it gives to management 
-term strength of the company 

riate and effective 
representative early warning indicators to avoid Euroclear going beyond risk appetite, into its capacity and resulting in the activation of its 
recovery plans. 

Risk Policies Risk Appetite is articulated in a suite of policies and guidelines. The Euroclear Corporate Risk Management Group 
Policy provides the primary means by 
arrangements, including risk appetite. This Group Policy is complemented by a number of other Risk Management Group Policies that 

te and expectations in their respective areas. These policies are specifically: Financial Risk Group 
Policy; Operational Risk Group Policy; IT Risk Group Policy; and Systemic Risk Group Policy.  

Each CSD has similar policy documents tailored to the local requirements and proportionate to the complexity of their activities.  

Risk Exposure Management: The four key stages of the Risk Assessment Process is detailed below. 

 Identification: Proper and timely identification of risks ensures effectiveness of management´s decision- making to achieve business 
objectives. Euroclear does not see risk identification as a separate process detached from day-to-day management of activities. 
Ongoing risk identification combined with more structured processes such as new product & services risk assessments, project risk 
assessments and the risk and control self -assessment process ensures the group maintains a comprehensive understanding of the risks 
its faces. 

 Analysis and Assessment: Once identified, each risk is analysed, assessed and documented considering its key elements, including 
main root causes, potential impacts and the controls in place to mitigate, prevent or detect the risk. The assessment of the risk includes 
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both the inherent risk level and the residual risk exposure after taking into consideration the performance of the overall control 
environment. Each mitigating control is assessed from a design and operating effectiveness perspective. Inherent Risk is assessed using 
two parameters: risk likelihood and risk impact on Euroclear and / or the wider ecosystem. Both financial and non-financial impacts are 
considered. Residual Risk is assessed taking into consideration the control attestations.  

 Response: Once a risk is assessed, Euroclear defines how to best respond to it. The four main risk response strategies are:  

o Mitigate the risk by introducing controls that reduce risk likelihood, impact or both;  
o Accept the risk is tolerable (temporarily or longer); 
o Transfer the risk to a third party, for example through insurance; 
o Avoid the risk (e.g. by stopping an activity that leads to the risk).  

 
Based on the chosen response strategies and prioritisation, management prepares action plans for the design and implementation of 
appropriate controls to bring the risk to the target level over a defined period.  

 Monitoring: Euroclear has implemented a risk monitoring and reporting process to ensure that the right level of risk information is 
shared with the relevant management or governance body at the right time. This includes measuring adherence to risk appetite 
statements, the effectiveness of the control environment, reviewing progress on risk mitigating actions and review of material 
incidents. Risk indicators are available to provide a view on how the risk exposure is evolving.  

Risk Reporting: serving different purposes: 

 First line assurance to management and the Board is provided by operational and financial risk dashboards that report on key risk 
indicators linked to the risk appetite; 

 First line reports the outcome of its risk and control self-assessment via Positive Assurance Reports (PAR)/Risk and Control Self-
Assessment (RCSA) maintained at the level of group Entities and Divisions. This process supports a yearly review of the inherent and 

ional effectiveness; 

 The conclusions from the PAR/RCSA process are used to feed the Internal Control System (ICS) report with a link to the risk appetite, 
reflecting material risks and control issues along with remedial actions for the Management and the Board. The Internal Control System 
reports includes independent Compliance and Ethics, Risk Management and Internal Audit opinions. This reporting by the three lines 
provides effective and comprehensive monitoring of the risk and control environment and is submitted to the Euroclear SA/NV Board; 

 Risk Management reports the conclusions of its continuous risk monitoring activities via a quarterly Corporate Risk Report (CRR) 
submitted to the Euroclear SA/NV Board with entity specific reports submitted to the Boards of each CSD respectively. The CRR reports 

 

 Risk Scenarios are used to assess and understand the risk the group faces as its business and the external context evolve to take a 
forward- looking view; 

 Risk Management maintains the Internal Capital and Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ICLAAP) and Recovery and Resolution 
Plans (RRP). The ICLAAP assessment draws on the ICS and other risk monitoring processes, as well as scenario and stress testing to 

 risk appetite can be 
maintained or needs to be adjusted given the level of financial resources available. The ICLAAP and RRP are designed to ensure that 
Euroclear maintains the financial resources necessary to carry out its business strategy and fulfil it s role as an FMI even under severe 
periods of stress. The ICLAAP and RRP are ongoing processes supported by a series of monitoring metrics and limits which are 
periodically reported to management and the Board and are subject to a thorough review and validation on a yearly basis. The outcome 
of the yearly ICLAAP exercise, along the updated recovery plans, are submitted to the relevant authorities as part of the Supervisory 
Review and Evaluation Process (SREP); 

 Risk Management reports annually on the overall effectiveness assessment of the ERM framework to the ESA Risk Committee. 

IV.3. Operational risk management 
 
All Euroclear entities are inherently exposed to operational risk in their daily activities. Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting 
from inadequate or failed internal processes, due to failings of people and systems, or stemming from external events, leadin g to the actual 
outcome of a process to differ from the intended outcome. Moreover, it can affect the smooth provisioning of services. 
 
Euroclear has identified the following operational risk categories: 
 
 Execution, delivery and process management 
 Fraud Risk 
 Information and Communications Technology (ICT) & Data Risks 
 ICT Security Risks 
 Business disruption 
 Custody risk 
 Clients, products and business practices 
 Supplier and outsourcing risk 
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 Employment practices and workplace safety 
 Damage to or loss of physical assets 
 Model risk 

 
Euroclear uses key risk indicators, key performance indicators and regular risk and control (self) -assessments to identify and monitor 
operational risk effectively. Risk Management has also established an incident management framework to ensure that all in cidents are 
consistently and timely identified, documented, analysed, escalated and followed up, regardless of their type (e.g. operation al, compliance, 
IT).  
 
Euroclear (anonymously) shares its internal loss data with the Operational Risk data Exchange Association (ORX) in order to access their 
database of high-quality operational risk loss data. Euroclear uses such data for its capital modelling, and to understand and manage 
operational risk appropriately. 
 
IV.3.1. Information Security and Business Resilience 
The CSDs of the Euroclear group are designated as critical national infrastructure in seven countries. Therefore, security an d resilience are 
key components of the group approach to operational risk and are 
recognised international standards. 
 
Euroclear maintains and tests comprehensively processes in all entities to ensure the security and continuous availability of  business-critical 
services, including effective management response to incidents and crises. All locations have appropriate security and contingency 
arrangements for recovery from workplace disruptions; supplemented by three geographically separate data centres to sustain operations in 
the event of a local and regional-scale disaster. Euroclear also regularly runs exercises and tests of its operational and management 
response and provides adequate training at all levels of the organisation.  
 
Euroclear continues to invest significantly in its resilience and cyber security capabilities including improvements to the cyber security risk 
culture. This investment in the IT risk and control environment resulted in improved security arrangements in a constantly ev olving cyber 
threat landscape. Further investment will continue in 2024 and beyond to further reduce the residual risks and ensure sustainability and 
resilience.   
 
IV.3.2. Russian sanctions impact 
The number of sanctions and countersanctions that have been introduced since February 2022 are unprecedented. Their speed of issuance 
and level of complexity have a significant impact on the daily operations of Euroclear Bank. This complexity is compounded by  international 
financial institutions stepping out of their capital market roles, and the changing requirements of the Russian CSD resulting in changing 
counterparties and the appearance of new process flows. These events have led to:   
 
 internal automated 

processes linked to the Russian Market such as payment processes or reconciliation, (II) ad-hoc design of new manual operational 
flows, (III) increased volumes that manually need to be processed, 

 
 Increased Client, product and Business practices risk arising from (I) litigations against Euroclear Bank in Russia by underlying Russian 

clients attempting to retrieve back or being compensated for the blocked assets in Euroclear due to international sanctions ( II), conflicts 
between Russian countersanctions or new Russian regulations trying to mitigate the effects of international sanctions issued by 
European and International bodies.  

 
The existing operational control framework has been and continues to be adapted. Efforts are made to restore as much as possible Straight-
Through Processing (STP), there is increased hiring staff to handle the increased manual volumes and a dedicated transversal team of 
experts are monitoring and managing cases and processes related to Russia. These actions are m itigating significantly the operational risk 
caused by the Russian sanctions, demonstrated by the low number of operational incidents and minor financial impact. 
 

IV.4. Financial risk management 
 
IV.4.1. Credit risk 

ity or unwillingness, on 
its financial obligations to Euroclear on time and in full. Given the scope of its activities, Euroclear takes credit risk primarily on its (borrowing) 
participants, cash correspondents, settlement banks, treasury counterparties and in some cases issuers of securities1. 
 
To manage the credit risk efficiently and in line with the risk appetite, Euroclear Bank has a robust and comprehensive Credit Risk 
Framework in place. This framework sets credit risk limits addressing among others the size and conditions of credit facilities for borrowing 
participants and market facilities to support treasury activity, including concentrations and collateral quality. Furthermore, operational 
processes are designed and reassessed on a regular basis to actively monitor and minimise credit risks.  
 
Euroclear Bank business as usual credit risks (excluding Russian impacts) 
 
The ongoing war in Ukraine and the associated sanctions on Russia and Russian countermeasures have fundamentally affected the  Balance 
Sheet of Euroclear Bank with the accumulation of massive long sanctioned cash balances that need to be reinvested. Putting  aside the 

 are 

 
1 Issuers of securities in the investment, treasury and liquidity book portfolios. 
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predominantly towards its borrowing participants from the extension of intraday credit to support their settlement activity. Most of these 
exposures have very short (intra-day) duration, as clients may only need credit for a few milliseconds, to allow the transactions to settle. Only 
in unforeseen circumstances (primarily as the result of settlement failures or delayed credits) part of the exposure can become an end-of-

-day credit exposures turning into an 
overnight exposure, Euroclear Bank uses penalising rates as a deterrent. 
 
All credit granted to borrowing participants is uncommitted and must be secured by proprietary collateral, for which strict collateralisation 
rules apply. Unsecured exposure on borrowing participants is only permitted when allowed under CSDR 2 (e.g. exempted entities as per 
Article 23(2) of Regulation (EU) 390/2017). In the event of default of a borrowing participant, Euroclear Bank can contractua lly and 
operationally appropriate and monetise the collateral pledged. To date Euroclear Bank has not  experienced any credit losses, not even 
during periods of market turmoil. This is largely due to the controls in place ensuring compliance with low credit risk appet ite. 
 
Additionally, Euroclear Bank has credit exposures to other counterparts. These are treasury exposures arising from performing day-to-day 
balance sheet management, in particular re- -of-day long cash balances and the proceeds of own 
debt issuances and capital. Treasury credit exposures are either with central banks, or with high-quality market counterparties for a short 
duration. For the latter, preference is given to reverse repurchase agreements (reverse repos) or to very high -quality securities with relatively 
short-term maturities. Unsecured treasury credit exposure is allowed but kept limited. 
 
While there is some credit risk linked to reverse repos, it is rather limited given the short-term and fully collateralised nature of these 
instruments. This is because in the event of default of the counterpart, Euroclear Bank can appropriate and monetise the collateral pledged 
to cover the losses from the default. Furthermore, Euroclear has a strict framework in place in order to eliminate or drastically reduce the 
(counterparty) credit risk linked to reverse repos: 
 
 Counterparties must have high internal credit rating (i.e. BBB+ or more), and all collateral posted must be of high quality ( i.e. 

investment grade). 
 Collateral acceptance criteria and collateral haircuts are defined internally by Euroclea  
 Repos are subject to daily margining requirements to mitigate the potential exposure should the value of the collateral fall during the life 

of the deal.  
 

Income Clearing Corporation (FICC). 
 
Other credit exposures that can go beyond the short-term (intra- Lending 
and Borrowing (SLB) and General Collateral Access (GCA) activity. These exposures arise from securities lending between diffe rent 
participants for which Euroclear Bank guarantees the return of the original securities back to the lender (or alternat ive equivalent securities) 
or to compensate the equivalent in cash. Like the majority of other credit risk at Euroclear, these exposures are highly -collateralised. 
 
Russian sanctions and countermeasures credit risk impacts 
 
The war in Ukraine, the associat

estment of the 
Russian froze -fold in a span of two years. 
 
The international sanctions applicable to Russian entities and individuals mandate financial institutions and market infrastructures (incl. 
Euroclear) to block or immobilise any assets owned by the sanctioned parties. As the assets mature through their lif ecycle, cashflows (i.e. 
income payments and redemptions) that are normally transferred to the underlying parties remain blocked on the accounts. While restricting 
the access to blocked or immobilised assets, financial institutions and market infrastructures also have an obligation to maintain and service 
the said assets. This essentially means that as long as the sanctions remain in place cash balances accumulate on Euroclear B
sheet and should be reinvested. The reinvestment of sanctioned bala
default during the term of the deal, potentially leading to a credit loss.   
 
Despite the significant increase in assets, it does not result in material change in credit risk profile, as  the frozen or immobilised balances are 
reinvested in line with a strict investment policy designed to maintain a low risk profile. Where possible, cash is principal ly redeposited with 
Central Banks in its own currency, reinvested in short-term reverse repos with highly rated counterparties or in government bonds through 
outright purchase. As these exposures are predominantly secured or against highly rated central banks or governments in their  currency of 
issuance, the risk of default is marginal and credit risk is considered immaterial or risk-free in practice. Currently, Euroclear Bank relies on 
Belgian National Bank and Bank of England for redeposits and US government for Treasuries. Work is ongoing to put in place ad ditional 
access to other central banks. 
 
For frozen or immobilised balances denominated in foreign currencies it may be difficult to find a suitable reinvestment option. In these 
cases, Euroclear Bank typically uses foreign exchange (FX) swaps to convert these balances mainly into EUR. As the se swaps are currently 
done on a bilateral basis (i.e., they are not centrally cleared) they give rise to counterparty credit risk. Similarly to rev erse repo strategy, 
Euroclear Bank engages in FX swaps only with highly rated counterparties:  
 
 Euroclear Bank manages counterparty credit risk via global and counterparty family limits (applicable for all types of exposures). These 

limits depend on both the counterparty credit rating and the maturity of the deal.  
 

 
2 Regulation EU 909/2014 on settlement and central securities depositaries 
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 During the life of the deal, the credit exposure linked to the FX swap portfolio is minimal as the exposure at default is only equivalent to 
the positive market value of the swap (instead of the full notional amount). Furthermore, there are strict margin requirements that limit 
the exposure to the size of the margin call.    
 

 On the settlement date of the transaction, Euroclear Bank may be exposed for a limited time to intraday settlement risk - risk of not 
receiving the currency bought from the counterparty despite delivering the currency sold - for the full notional amount. This risk was 
mitigated in late 2023 as Euroclear Bank gained indirect access to CLS - a specialist US financial institution that provides payment-vs-
payment settlement services (via the Continuous Linked Settlement (CLS) platform) to its members in the foreign exchange market. 
CLS mitigates settlement risk by netting the cash in- and outflows in a currency. 

 
Other Entities credit risks 
 
Euroclear CSDs settle in central bank money and cannot extend loans or credit facilities to their clients. Euroclear CSDs can  potentially face 
a certain level of credit risk arising from unpaid fees by their clients. The impact of these is rather limited given the high frequency of the 
billing and their relatively broad customer base.  
 
Euroclear CSDs, Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Investments SA/NV are also exposed to credit risk related to the reinvestment of their cash 
surplus with their bank counterparties. Since 2018, some Euroclear CSDs, as well as Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Investments SA/NV, 
reinvest in a dedicated common investment fund and a longer term investment portfolio. Credit risk is, however, mitigated through a strict 
investment policy limiting, among others, the allowed counterparties, issuers, type of instruments, currencies and maturity.   
 
In addition to credit risk related to its reinvestments, Euroclear Investments SA/NV faces very limited credit risk. As an in termediary group 
holding entity it mainly provides financial assistance to Euroclear group entities. The company has no direct business relationships with third 
party clients, and very limited funding relationships with third parties. In this context, Euroclear Investments SA/NV faces credit risk mainly 
from the non-payment of interests and principal on the various funding arrangements with its subsidiaries.  
 
IV.4.1.a. Credit exposure 
The table below represents the maximum exposure to credit risk (i.e. end-of-day carrying amount as reported in the financial statements), 
without taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancement attached.  
 
Large majority of Euroclear Ba
balances. This exposure is largely unsecured given the nature of the instrument. The second largest credit exposure stems fro m loans and 
advances, driven by the reinvestment of long (incl. frozen) clients balances, cash on current accounts and clients that remain unexpected ly 
in overdraft at the end of the day. Nearly all of this exposure is collateralised in line with the extensive use of reverse repo for the re-
investments and the Euroclear Credit Risk Framework and applicable legislation (see IV.4.1.b Credit risk mitigation). As well as that some 
credit exposure stems from financial assets at FVOCI  predominately listed debt securities  which are also driven by the reinvestment of 
long clients balances. Remaining items make up a minority of total financial assets of Euroclear Bank.   
 
Euroclear Bank also has off-balance sheet credit exposure  contingent exposure that may materialise in the future under certain conditions. 

-balance sheet credit exposure consists of loan commitments and financial guarantees. The latter makes up the large 
majority of total off-balance sheet credit exposure as it relates to guarantees issued in favour to securities lenders in the context of the SLB 
and GCA programs (see note XXVIII). 
 
 

 

 
The table below presents an analysis of the loans and advances at amortised cost (incl. cash and balances with central banks)  using the 

ating Ea and above) 
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for which limited credit loss allowances are recorded under IFRS9. Credit exposure on lower credit quality entities is essentially due to cash 
balances left with network of cash correspondents established in low rated countries.  
 

ency in 
February 2023, the only IFRS9 stage 2 exposure (i.e. exposure for which the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition)  
Euroclear had was cash in RUB deposited with Russian National Settlement Depositary (NSD) prior to the sanctions (27 million -equivalent 
as of end-May account) into EUR in June 2023, 
Euroclear Bank has converted the corresponding liabilities from RUB to EUR based on its Terms and Conditions, which mitigated  the on-
balance sheet exposure to NSD. As of year-end 2023, Euroclear Bank only has off-balance sheet (see Notes II and III) exposure in RUB - 
restricted accounts (C- and I-accounts) that were opened unilaterally by NSD in the name of Euroclear Bank as countermeasure to the 
international financial sanctions imposed. The amounts held on the restricted C- and I-accounts amount to respectively RUB 262 billion (2.6 
billion -equivalent) and RUB 19 billion (0.2 billion -equivalent) at year end. 

 
 in stage 1). 

 

 
 
 

-best approach on Long-term Issuer Default 
financial assets are short-term debt instruments of 

FVOCI financial assets are considered as Stage 1 (i.e. low credit risk) assets under IFRS9. Compared to 2022, the composition of 
-rated instruments as frozen or immobilised assets held in Euroclear need to be 

cial assets were AAA rated, the highest possible rating. 
 

 

 
 

e internal 
rties for which loan commitments and financial guarantees are given. Credit 

exposure arising from loan commitment and financial guarantees has decreased in 2023 compared to the previous year. Moreover,  as large 
majority of these exposures are towards highly rated clients and counterparties (internal rating of Ea and above) this further limits the credit 
risk. Small minority of these credit exposures are towards clients and counterparties with acceptable low investment grade ra ting (Between 
Ebbb+ and Ebbb). The share of loan commitments and financial guarantees provided to entities with low internal credit rating (Ebbb- and 
below) is immaterial. Additionally, these exposures are off-balance sheet meaning they are likely to be incurred only under certain 
circumstances.   
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IV.4.1.b. Credit risk mitigation 
Euroclear Bank uses different recourses (e.g. collateral, guarantees or letter of credit) to mitigate potential losses it may incur due to a credit 
event (i.e. default) of participants, treasury counterparties or Clearstream Banking Luxembourg (CBL). The most frequent recourse to 
secure the credit exposure is a pledge of proprietary collateral (cash and/or securities), supported by standard credit docum entation 
(Collateral Agreement).  
 
All credit granted to borrowing participants must be secured with collateral held and pledged in Euroclear Bank, regardless of the nature of 
the exposure and the original currency. In line with the applicable regulation3, strict collateralisation rules apply concerning the quality and 
quantity of securities used as collateral. Euroclear Bank uses a four-category collateral classification system which relies on a number of 
credit, market and liquidity indicators to allocate collateral in the different categories. Any collateral that cannot be categorised in one of the 
four categories is not accepted to secure credit exposures. Frequent monitoring shows that more than 99% of the collateral securing the 
exposures of Euroclear Bank has investment grade quality.  
 
In order to accurately determine the value of the collateral it takes, Euroclear Bank has developed a dynamic internal collateral valuation 
model taking into account market, credit, country, foreign exchange and liquidity risks. Haircuts are computed at least once a day for each 
security, reflecting the latest risk factors and conditions. The collateral valuation model is back-tested (daily) and stress tested (yearly). The 
results show that the collateral valuation model has provided continually adequate valuations for securities securing the cre dit exposure, 
even during periods of high volatility in the markets.  
 
In case of a participant default, if the post-liquidation value of collateral does not cover the defaulted credit exposure, Euroclear Bank may 
end up with a residual credit exposure. Euroclear Bank monitors the potential residual credit exposure after considering all credit mitigations 
and protective measures in place on a daily basis.  
 
In specific cases Euroclear Bank can also use other mechanisms to mitigate credit risk. For instance, for (reverse) repo activity with treasury 
counterparties, Euroclear Bank signs Global Master Repurchase Agreements (GMRAs), which allow for close -out netting of positions in case 
of a counterparty default. The GMRA defines the conditions and the rules for the enforceability of the co llateral in case of default of the 
borrowing party but also what happens if the lender is in default. The GMRA also defines the margining process (frequency, Minimum 
Transferable Amount, nature and currency of collateral). Where Euroclear Bank engages in over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives (FX and 
Interest Rate Swaps), daily variation margin is used as collateral. Variation margin is cash collateral exchanged on a regula r basis to reflect 
changes to the market value of relevant outstanding contracts.  
 
Euroclear Bank can also resort to other equivalent financial resources such as capital, after deducting CSDR capital requirements. However, 
this capital can only be used to cover unsecured exposure to central banks, Multilateral Development Banks (MDBs) and interna tional 
organisations. 
 
Finally, Euroclear Bank also faces credit exposure through its interoperable link (i.e. the Bridge) with CBL. This exposure is secured4 by 

ordance with Article 
16(k) of Regulation (EU) 390/2017, no credit institution at group level has committed to a share of the total outstanding letter of credit above 
10%. The guarantee amounted to USD 3 billion at the end of 2023 (2022: USD 3 billion) and is reviewed on a regular basis. Credit exposure 
to CBL is monitored regularly to ensure it does not surpass the amount of the guarantee. Additionally, Euroclear Bank has a right to set-off 
which extinguishes the mutual debts owed between the parties in exchange for a new net amount.  
 
IV.4.1.c. Concentration risk 
As a provider of post-trade services to global capital markets Euroclear is almost exclusively exposed to the financial sector. To ensure that 
the group does not take excessive exposures on a limited number of clients or counterparties there are regulatory and interna l concentration 
limits in place. These concentration limits are set per collateral asset type, individual issuers, country (including geographic region), 
economic sector, type/activity of the issuer, rating, settlement currency, etc.  
 

-fold: firstly, it stems from the credit exposure itself, where excessive exposure to a 
certain institution may result in large losses should the latter default; secondly, the concentration risk also stems from co llateral Euroclear 

 
3 Articles 9-10-11 of Regulation (EU) 390/2017. 

4 In line with CSDR requirements, the CBL Bridge risk management principles and processes do not allow for unsecured credit exposure over the Bridge. 
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receives, where excessive exposure secured by the same collateral may result in large losses in case both collateral provider and issuer are 
unable to meet their obligations. 
 
With regards to the exposure concentration, Euroclear Bank applies the Large Exposure limits, as defined by the European regulation5. This 

es after taking 
into account the effect of the credit risk mitigation 6 at the end of day as 25% of its Tier 1 capital. Additionally, Euroclear Bank also applies the 
limits on concentration risk arising from exposures to shadow banking entities 7 at an aggregated level. The exposure concentration risk is 
monitored against the above-mentioned limits on a daily basis to anticipate the exposure concentration and take actions on time should the 
need arise. Depending on the exposure the monitoring is performed at legal entity, family and/or individual currency level.  
 
With regards to the collateral concentration, Euroclear Bank relies on collateral concentration limits to ensure that collateral received to 
secure its credit exposures is sufficiently diversified to allow its monetisation and liquidation within a specific timeframe . The limits apply to 
the aggregate exposure 
have a minimum amount of collateral that can be monetised same day in case of default in line with the Article 10 of Regulation (EU) 
390/2017. The collateral concentration risk is monitored against the above-mentioned limits ex-ante, intra-day and post-fact to anticipate the 
collateral concentration and take actions on time should the need arise.  
 
The table below shows the 
counterparties are located. Cash is classified under the country of the issuing central bank.  
 

ncentrated in countries of the European Union and to a lesser extent in other European 
countries. This is largely explained by the reinvestment strategy of the long balances, where redeposits in central banks are  a preferred 
reinvestment instrument. Large 
These have further increased compared to the previous year as credited income (coupons, redemptions, dividends, etc.) accumulate on 
accounts belonging to Russian sanctioned clients. 
 

 
 
IV.4.2. Liquidity risk 
Euroclear defines liquidity risk as the risk of failure to settle a cash or security obligation on time due to inappropriate and/or insufficient 
liquidity sources. In addition to liquidity risk, Euroclear also faces funding liquidity risk - risk that over a specific horizon, Euroclear will be 
unable to repay, refinance or refinance at an economic price its debts when they fall due.  
 
Effective management of liquidity risks is an important component for offering efficient settlement and custody services in a cross-market and 
multi-currency environment. The main liquidity risks of the group lie with Euroclear Bank when it comes to the management of clients long 
and short balances and extension of credit to clients to support settlement. This is why Euroclear Bank has a Liquidity Risk Framework in 
place to identify, assess, control and manage its liquidity risks in line with sound risk management principles. As part of i ts Liquidity Risk 
Framework, Euroclear Bank monitors and manages access to a wide range of liquid resources to cope with the daily multi -currency liquidity 
needs in each currency. Furthermore, it is able to transform such resources, when needed, to cover its liquidity needs in the right currency 
through highly reliable funding arrangements. 
 
Other entities in the group are also exposed to liquidity risks albeit to a lesser extent. On an annual basis, the group conducts an Internal 
Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) to thoroughly review its liquidity risks, liquidity resources and risk appetite. This review is 
performed at the Euroclear Holding SA/NV, Euroclear SA/NV consolidated and Euroclear Bank SA/NV levels, with final approval by their 
respective Boards.  
 
In or immobilised 
balances at Euroclear Bank. Although these balances primarily are a source of funding, they also carry inherent liqu idity risks linked to their 
reinvestment. Liquidity risk may arise if frozen or immobilised balances are reinvested via long-term placements and all the relevant 
authorities lift the sanctions without providing sufficient notice period. Euroclear Bank mitigates this risk by reinvesting cash from these 
balances essentially via overnight deposit with the central bank and the ongoing dialogue with the relevant EU and internatio nal bodies. 
 

 
5 Article 395 of Regulation (EU) 575/2013 amended by Regulation (EU) 2019/876. 
6 In accordance with Articles 399 to 403 of Regulation (EU) 575/2013 as amended by Regulation (EU) 2019/876. 
7 As required by Article 395 of Regulation (EU) 575/2013 as amended by Regulation (EU) 2019/876 and using EBA/GL/2015/20. 
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IV.4.2.a. Liquidity risk at Euroclear Bank 
Euroclear Bank's liquidity risk appetite is very low, given the criticality of intra-day liquidity for the efficient delivery of its settlement and 
custody services and given its systemic importance as an FMI. Euroclear Bank has therefore adopted a strong risk management framework 
to anticipate, monitor and manage the intra-day liquidity flows to ensure the quality of its services.  
 
Given the scope of its activities, Euroclear Bank liquidity needs are largely intraday and transactional with daily cash outf lows and inflows 
mostly matching. Euroclear Bank provides its borrowing clients with liquidity through intraday credit facilities to support i ts settlement and 
custody services. It ensures timely cross-border settlement with domestic markets, supports new issues and custody activities, and enables 
clients to transfer sales and income proceeds in a timely manner.  
 

-to-day basis, Euroclear 
Bank is normally net long cash, which it invests mostly on a very short-term basis to match the volatility of clients' settlement and money 
transfer activities. 
 

IV.4.2.a.1. Liquidity funding  
hen or accelerate 

the payment process and to ensure the timely execution of time critical payments throughout the day. The liquidit y is used prudently - out of 
total settlement turnover of  average). Euroclear Bank only extends about 1% in secured intra-day cash 
credit to its clients. 
 
To support its daily payment activity, Euroclear Bank relies on the long cash balances from its clients, on a large network of highly rated cash 
correspondents, on the reserve accounts with National Bank of Belgium and the Bank of England and on its direct access to the  TARGET2 
system for euro payments.  
 
Additionally, Euroclear Bank can use its investment book, funded by equity and retained earnings to raise liquidity when needed. The 
investment book is invested with the objective of capital and liquidity preservation, meaning only in euro -denominated sovereign, 
supranational or agency ECB-eligible debt instruments rated AA- or above.  
 
Euroclear Bank can also raise liquidity from securities held for regulatory purposes and funded by the debt issued. For instance, Euroclear 
Bank has issued various recovery 

of the Bank should any of 
the recovery and resolution scenarios8 be triggered:  
 
 a senior non-  
  
 a senior non-  
 a convertible subordinated loan issued in 2019 fo  

 
The above notes were all subscribed by Euroclear Investments SA and funded with the proceeds of three issuances for a total a mount of 

nsubordinated 12- -years 
 

 
Besides the above Long Term notes issuances, E
Certificate of Deposits multi-currency programs in 2018 to increase its Qualifying Liquidity Sources under the European Central Securities 
Depository Regulation. Out of its 

anding amount of 
 

rolled over given that the need to raise liquidity through debt issuance or borrowing has decreased partly due to the accumul ation of frozen 
balances and partly due to growing net interest earnings.  
 
Euroclear Bank may also do repo transactions with a goal to maintain an active relationship with cash givers in case Euroclea r Bank would 
need to generate liquidity in contingency situations. Finally, Euroclear Bank also has broad access to the inter-bank market and has 
contingency liquidity facilities in place for the major currencies, which are tested regularly.  
 

IV.4.2.a.2. Liquidity stress testing  
Euroclear Bank regularly performs idiosyncratic and market-wide liquidity stress tests to assess potential liquidity strains and to ensure 
efficient access to sufficient liquidity sources to fund any shortfalls. For this purpose, Euroclear Bank first identifies liquidity needs under 
normal and stressed conditions based on the results of day-to-day and extreme but plausible stress scenarios run on a regular basis. 
Liquidity needs are then compared to liquidity sources to identify potential liquidity gaps that need to be covered at aggregate and at 
currency levels. These stress tests are also used as part of the ILAAP. 
 
Examples of liquidity stress tests are:  
 default of the top two clients (at family level);  
 operational issue affecting a cash correspondent; 
 unusual behaviour  

 

 
8 In line with the Banking Recovery and Resolution Directive applicable to the Company 
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In addition, Euroclear Bank has to comply with regulatory liquidity stress test Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) as mandated by  the Regulation 
(EU) 575/2013. The LCR aims to ensure that credit institutions hold sufficient liquid assets to withstand a period of significant liquidity stress 
lasting 30 calendar days. Euroclear Bank complies with LCR regulatory requirements. Moreover, as part of its Risk Appetite Framework, 
Euroclear Bank has set a higher internal LCR limit than the 100% limit prescribed by the legislation.  
 
Although Euroclear Bank is not subject to the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) stress test requirement 9, the Bank still monitors and complies 
with the ratio. The NSFR is defined as the amount of available stable funding (Liabilities) relative to the amount of require d stable funding 
(Assets). Similarly to the LCR, Euroclear Bank has set a higher internal NSFR limit than the 100% limit prescribed by the legislation. 
 
Finally, Euroclear Bank also runs two intra-day liquidity stress tests on a daily basis - 
stress-tests is to assess whether Euroclear Bank has sufficient qualifying liquidity resources to withstand the default, at group level, of one 
participant (Cover 1 as per CPMI-IOSCO) and of two participants simultaneously (Cover 2 as per CSDR) to which Euroclear bank has the 
largest liquidity exposure. These stress test results are reported daily and approved monthly by the Credit and Assets and Liabilities 
Committee (CALCO) and reported semi-annually to the Euroclear Bank Management Committee. Moreover, the results of these stress-test 
are used to size participant currency credit facilities on aggregate level and when individual currencies are considered.  
 

IV.4.2.a.3. Liquidity contingency plan  
Sound management of liquidity risks includes the establishment and maintenance of an appropriate liquidity contingency plan to ensure the 
business continuity of its core settlement and custody services. This plan documents the relevant operational procedures and foresees 

ces including contingency sources in the 
event of an operational or financial crisis.  
 
On top of its own capital and access to regular market funding, Euroclear Bank has negotiated committed liquidity lines and can call upon a  

3 billion committed forex swap 
0.3 billion committed repo facilities. The contingency plan and the availability of contingency liquidity are regularly 

tested.  
 
Finally, to cover the short-term liquidity needs that could result from the default of a client, Euroclear Bank has agreements in place allowing 
Euroclear Bank to appropriate the client pledged collateral (immediate transfer of ownership). In order to generate liquidity, this appropriated  
collateral can be re-used with liquidity providers or pledged with the National Bank of Belgium or the Bank of England, pending fu ll 
liquidation. The Euroclear Bank Terms and Conditions (T&Cs) also foresee exceptional measures should Euroclear Bank experienc e an 
unexpected liquidity shortfall. 
 
IV.4.2.b. Liquidity risks in Euroclear SA/NV and the CSDs and Euroclear Investments SA/NV 
Although most of liquidity risks in the group lie with Euroclear Bank, other CSDs and Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Investments SA/NV are 
also exposed to liquidity risks to some extent. Unlike for the Euroclear Bank where most liquidity risks are linked to its credit-granting 
activities, for other entities within the Euroclear group, liquidity risks arise when available liquidity is insufficient to meet working cash needs 
and or the regulatory minimum qualifying liquid resources requirements. 
 
To minimize these liquidity risks, cash belonging to these entities is invested in the following way:  
 stable cash positions linked to regulatory liquidity requirements, for entities where such requirements apply, are invested on a rollover 

basis; and 
 surplus cash investments are always cash flow driven, which means that the amount and period of the investments takes into ac count 

the evolution of working cash needs and capital expenditure. 
 
Liquidity stress tests are performed on a regular basis for the group CSDs and Euroclear SA/NV to ensure adequate funding and, where 
applicable, compliance with local regulatory liquidity obligations. While for group CSDs most regulatory liquidity obligation s are specified by 
the CSDR, Euroclear SA/NV as well as Euroclear Holding SA/NV for their consolidated perimeter are subject to and comply with regulatory 
requirements on LCR and NSFR. Moreover, as part of the Risk Appetite Framework, Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Holding SA/NV have 
set higher internal LCR and NSFR limits than the 100% limit prescribed by the legislation.  
 
To comply with regulatory liquidity obligations CSDs and Euroclear SA/NV can only use following types of investments in line with the 
applicable regulatory framework of each entity: cash, overnight or term deposits, or High -Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA). The latter include 
level 1 plain vanilla debt securities issued or guaranteed by (i) a government; (ii) a central bank; (iii) a multilateral development bank 10; or (iv) 
the European Financial Stability Facility or the European Stability Mechanism.  
 
Maturity limits for securities investments are set at three years when representing investments of the regulatory own funds of Euroclear 
SA/NV and group CSDs, where applicable, up to eight years when representing investment of their respective additional recovery capital to 
mitigate market risks. For Euroclear Investments SA/NV and Euroclear SA/NV, available surplus cash (i.e. cash in excess of regulatory 
liquidity obligations) can also be invested in plain vanilla corporate fixed income securities with maturities up to five yea rs and not exceeding 
three years on average following strict and conservative investment policy principles in line with the group risk and credit rating profi les. 
 
Similarly to Euroclear Bank, Euroclear SA/NV can also raise liquidity from securities held for regulatory purposes and funde d by the debt 
issued for that purpose. For instance, in 2018 Euroclear SA/NV issued convertible subordinated liabilities for a total amount  
(maturing in 2033) under a Belgian law registered note format. This note contributed to structuring a loss absorption mechanism that would 

 
9 In line with the Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 575/2013 as amended by the Regulation (EU) 2019/876 
10 As listed under Article 117 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council 
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be used to restore Euroclear SA/NV capital position should recovery and resolution scenarios 11 realise. In December 2019 this note was 
recognised as Tier 2 regulatory capital. Similarly as for Euroclear Bank, the note was subscribed by Euroclear Investments SA/NV.  
 
In addition to that, Euroclear SA/NV can also raise liquidity from debt issued by the Euroclear Investments SA/NV - group investment arm. 
For instance, on 16 June 2021, Euroclear Investments SA/NV issued a 30-year non-callable - 10-year hybrid - subordinated Eurobond on 

-term debt were down streamed to Euroclear SA/NV under 
ng in 2031). The 

purpose was to fund the acquisition of the MFEX group and mitigate the impact of the acquisition 
adequacy. s 
a liquidity reserve invested in the Common Investment Fund. 
 
IV.4.2.c. Overview of financial liabilities by remaining maturity  
The table below shows the consolidated financial liabilities analysed by remaining contractual maturity at the balance sheet date. The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows at spot rate and the book value of the derivatives . 
 

ities are repayable on demand or within one week as these are deposits from 
central banks, banks and customers. Large proportion of these deposits are frozen as they belong to Russian sanctioned client s. These have 
grown in 2023 compared to the previous year as credited income accumulates on the blocked accounts. Overnight deposits from non-
sanctioned clients are moderate as leaving cash overnight on the account is discouraged through penalising interest rates.  
 
Debt securities issued and funds borrowed ma - (3 
months) or medium-
balances and partly due to growing net interest earnings, the need to raise liquidity through debt issuance or borrowing has decreased. This 
is also the reason why the EUR 500 million security issued by the Euroclear Bank which matured in July 2023 was not rolled ov er. This is 
reflected in the table below.  
 
Remaining financial liabilities make up a negligible share of the total book value.  
 

 

 

 

 

 
11 In line with the Banking Recovery and Resolution Directive applicable to the Company 
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IV.4.2.d. Fair value of financial instruments  
The group uses fair value to obtain the objective, market-based price of financial instruments at a given measurement day. In order to 
measure fair values, the group is using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs use d in making the 
measurements: 

 
 Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices in active markets for the same instruments. A market is regarded as active if quoted 

prices are readily and regularly available (exchange, dealer, broker, pricing service or regulatory agency) and if these prices represent 
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis.  

 
 Level 2: The fair value of these instruments is determined by using quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable  either 

directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted prices in active 
markets for similar instruments, quoted prices for similar instruments in markets that are less active, or other valuation te chniques. The 
valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available. If all significant inputs that are required to fair 
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.  

 
 Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. Specific 

valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:  

 
o quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;  
o the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves, for the fair value of interest rate swaps; 
o the forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value, for the fair  value 

of forward foreign exchange contracts;  
o other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, used to determine the fair value of remaining financial instruments.  

 

IV.4.2.d.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value 
The table below shows the three-level hierarchy of the financial instruments measured at fair value. Overall, Euroclear has a very good 
visibility on the fair value of its financial instruments as large majority of financial instruments are classified in level 1 or level 2.  
 
Only a minority of financial instruments is classified in level 3. These relate to minority long-term participating interests of Euroclear Bank 
(SWIFT and Monte Titoli) and Euroclear SA/NV (amongst which Impact Cubed, Fnality and DSB Limited).   
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The table below shows the reconciliation of the level 3 fair value measurements. 
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IV.4.2.d.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value 
The table below shows the three-level hierarchy of the financial instruments not measured at fair value. These are predominately frozen 
balances held by Russian sanctioned clients (liabilities-side) and their reinvestment (asset side). Cash and balances with central banks 
almost exclusively reflect redeposited long (frozen) balances. Loans and advances include reverse repos and long balances dep osited with 
financial institutions other than central banks, and to a lesser extent overdrafts and fixed term advances to clients. Loans and advances at 
amortised cost and deposits are short-term (less than 12 months), hence their carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of their fair 
value. 
 

 

 

 
 
 
IV.4.3. Market risk 
 
Euroclear defines market risk as the uncertainty on the value of assets and liabilities (on- or off-balance sheet) and on the future earnings 
(linked to foreign exchange or interest rate movements) due to changes in the market rates or prices.  
 
Euroclear has a Market Risk Framework in place to effectively manage and minimise market risks to ensure stability of earnings and capi tal 

-product of its business 
operations and strategy. As an FMI, Euroclear undertakes very few market transactions, does not trade in terms of taking mark et related 
positions for short-term profits and keeps it equity investments prudent and strategic in nature. 
market risk in all parts of the business, via strict hedging and investment policies and use of tight limits.  
 
Market risk at Euroclear arises mostly from fluctuations in interest rates (IR) and foreign exchange rates (FX), as well as maturity mismatches 
between Assets and Liabilities in banking activities.  However, in the event of a participant default, collateral received in different currencies 
from borrowing participants, also contributes to market risk by exposing Euroclear Bank to both foreign exchange rates evolution and market 
prices evolution, which is why stringent haircuts are applied (see IV.2.1.b. Credit risk mitigation). 
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Euroclear employs a number of tools to measure and closely monitor the market risk:   

 Interest rate risk: sensitivities of economic value of equity (EVE) and net interest income (NII) to interest rate shocks under the Interest 
Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB) and to credit spread shocks under the Credit Spread Risk in the Banking Book (CSRBB). The 
latter only started to apply as from year-end 2023;  

 Foreign exchange risk: future earnings not in EUR, end-of-day FX exposure and daily FX VaR at a 99% confidence level.  

 
In 2023 Euroclear had limited market risk exposures well within regulatory and internal risk appetite limits. The interest ra te hikes had a 
negative impact on Euroclear  
 
IV.4.3.a. Market risk at Euroclear Bank 
Similarly to other financial risk types, the majority of market risk in the group is concentrated at Euroclear Bank . As Euroclear Bank does not 

12) the main sources of 
market risk are uncertainties related to its future earnings and core equity.  
 
In order to preserve its core equity Euroclear Bank applies a prudent investment strategy in line with a group-wide very low appetite for 

-denominated highly rated and liquid 
debt instruments rated AA- or higher. These assets have a maximum maturity of 5 years and an average maturity target of 2.5 years.  
 
To protect future earnings against adverse market conditions Euroclear applies an appropriate hedging strategy. Euroclear Bank engages in 
a series of market derivatives in order to hedge the forex risk exposure resulting from future non-EUR income streams, with the aim of 
ensuring that the financial results are not adversely affected by market evolution
classified as cash flow hedges. The Foreign Exchange Manageable Amount owned by Finance Division forecasts the future income by 
currency, based on the plan figures. The outcome of this exercise is used by the Treasury Department to carry out the Foreign Exchange 
hedging activity, with the whole process overseen by the Euroclear Bank Credit Assets & Liabilities Committee (CALCO).  
 
To hedge the interest rates exposures and manage the Net Interest Income (NII) volatility through the interest rate cycle, Euroclear Bank 
uses interest rate swap hedges. On a monthly basis, the CALCO reviews the evolution of the investment and hedging strategy and 
associated hedge effectiveness. Controls are in place to ensure that the hedging item and instruments remain aligned to minimise market 
risk.  
 
The activities and instruments in which Euroclear Bank can engage must be in line with its low-risk profile. Therefore, Euroclear Bank is not 
significantly exposed to equity risk. 
 
Russian sanctions and counter-measures market risk impact 
 

er reinvested in 
the same currency as the underlying balance or are hedged through the FX markets where the reinvestment is in a different currency to the 
underlying balance. There were, however, several material market exposures linked to Russian sanctions and countermeasures th roughout 
2023. These were timely mitigated.  
 
Since the closure of its cash correspondent account in Russia and the withdrawal of ruble as a settlement currency in early 2023 the only 
on-balance market exposure to Russia was ruble-denominated cash held locally on the standard account of the Russian CSD - National 
Settlement Depository (NSD). The amount held on the account amounted to RUB 2.3 billion or approximately EUR 27 million eq. in rubles as 
of end-May 2023. In June 2023, NSD unilaterally without consulting Euroclear Bank, converted cash on this account from rubles into euros. 
This gave rise to a material (short) FX risk given the currency mismatch between ruble liabilities towards clients and euro a ssets from 
reinvestment. After consulting with the competent sanctions authority, Euroclear Bank converted the corresponding ruble liabilities into euros 
as per its Terms and Conditions governing the use of Euroclear Bank, which fully mitigated the on-balance sheet FX risk. 
 
Additionally, Euroclear Bank faced some (short) FX risk -Account (off-balance sheet) as 
a result of the lost court case against Bank of St-Petersburg in Russia (see IV.1.2. Russian sanctions impact).). To mitigate this exposure, 
Euroclear has leveraged its Terms and Conditions and debited the corresponding amount of rubles from the concerned participants 
accounts which were compensated in a different currency at a later stage. This fully mitigated the off -balance sheet FX risk. It cannot be 
excluded that similar seizures in execution of Russian courts decisions will happen again in the future. Euroclear Bank takes all the 
necessary measures to defend itself and thereby to minimise the impacts of these proceedings in Russia on its client communit y. 
 
IV.4.3.b. Market risk at Euroclear SA/NV and the CSDs and Euroclear Investments SA/NV 
Euroclear Holding SA/NV, Euroclear SA/NV, Euroclear Investments SA/NV and other group CSDs face market risk only to a limited extent. 
Predominately, they are exposed to interest rate risk as these entities do not operate commercial cash accounts but invest their cash 
positions, where applicable, in accordance with regulatory liquidity requirements. This is particularly the case for group CSDs. They reinvest 
their cash positions in four ways: 

 
 straight overnight or term deposits; 
 regulatory cash is invested in a Common Investment Fund (CIF) with mandates with a maturity of maximum three years, or is lef t on 

cash accounts where appropriate; 
 excess of cash is invested in a CIF with a maturity of maximum five years; 

 
12 Please note that under IFRS certain transactions in derivatives carried out by Euroclear Bank do not qualify as hedges and are therefore may be recognised 
under trading activities. These, however, do not constitute trading in its traditional finance understanding.  
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 a loan for recovery purposes (in line with the Minimum Requirement Eligible Liabilities - MREL) from Euroclear Investments SA/NV is 
invested in a CIF with a maturity of maximum eight years.  

 
Foreign exchange risk is not significant in Euroclear Holding SA/NV, Euroclear SA/NV, Euroclear Investments SA/NV and the CSDs. FX risk 
for these entities could primarily arise when reinvesting their surplus cash position in a non-local currency. To avoid the potential foreign 
exchange risk, group entities can only make these investments in their local currency, meaning in EUR for entities whose functional currency 
is EUR, in GBP for the entities located in the United Kingdom, and in SEK for the Swedish entity. From a consolidated grou p perspective, the 

-euro shareholdings (for 
example, Euroclear UK & International and Euroclear Sweden).  
 
Starting in April 2018, Euroclear launched its Euroclear Treasury Funds and Treasury Investment mandates in France and the UK (Common 
Investment Funds) to manage regulatory and excess treasury positions of the group (excluding Euroclear Bank). The aim is to better mitigate 
risks (credit, market and liquidity) arising from treasury investments in EUR and GBP for Euroclear SA/NV, Euroclear Investme nts SA/NV and 
the CSDs, including capital erosion risks in the previous negative interest rate environment. 
 
The Euroclear Treasury Fund and Treasury Investment Mandate structures (recorded as financial assets designated at FVOCI) rely on  two 
common investment funds and two investment mandates, which are all managed by two custodians domiciled in Belgium and Luxembo urg. 
The assets under management are totaling as of end 2023 for Euroclear SA/NV, Euroclear 
Investments SA/NV and the CSDs. 
 
Such structures enable eligible Euroclear entities to invest their regulatory cash and to some extent their surplus cash posi tions under strict 
rules such as to invest into EUR and GBP government or supra-national ECB eligible securities with rating, maturities, duration and 
concentration limitations. They also enable group subsidiaries to invest their respective excess cash positions to allow for optimised treasury 
returns and risk mitigation on cash in excess of regulatory obligations. Applicable investment rules also include rating, maturity, and 
concentration limitations. For Euroclear Investments SA/NV and Euroclear SA/NV in particular, market risks on treasury investments into the 
CIFs are further mitigated by allowing the usage of listed EUR Fixed income futures to limit the duration of the related treasury portfolios.  
 
Unlike Euroclear Bank, Euroclear SA/NV is exposed to equity risk to some extent. The group's equity risk principally relates to its long-term 
participating interest in Euronext held by Euroclear SA/NV (classified as level 1). 
 

uity assets in the 
market. During 2023, the Euronext stock traded at a high of EUR 79.45 and a low of EUR 60.65. This fluctuation increased the volatility of 
our equity and credit risk weighted assets in a proportional manner to the change in price.  
 
IV.4.3.c. Interest rate risk 
Majority of interest rate risk in the group lies with the Euroclear Bank and is a by-product of its business operations and is linked to the 

 balance 
sheet structure is sensitive to changes in interest rates. 
 
Interest rate-sensitive financial instruments held off-balance sheet include interest rate swaps and foreign exchange swaps and forwards. 
These are included in the scope of the IRRBB model.  
 
To measure and closely monitor the interest rate sensitivity of the equity value (EVE) and future profitability (NII), the group uses Interest 
Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB) for Euroclear Bank stand-alone, Euroclear SA/NV consolidated and Euroclear Holding SA/NV 
consolidated. The IRRBB looks at the EVE and NII sensitivities under the baseline scenario and additional six stressed scenarios (EVE) or two 
stressed scenarios (NII). The assessment takes into account the interest rate sensitive elements on- and off- balance sheet as well as 
interest rate sensitive income/expenses. 
 
The table below shows the IRRBB at the level of Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Holding SA/NV have set. More specifically, the table shows 

the economic values of the interest rate sensitive positions in the banking book portfolio13 under the base and the two parallel interest rate 
shock scenarios. The column with effective 2023 result represents the actual interest earned over the reporting year while 2024 is a 
projection for the next year.  
 
Assets and liabilities held in the Banking book are predominantly denominated in euro, and they are expressed at market value for the 
purpose of this disclosure. The economic value of the Banking book is computed by discounting the future cash flows for asset s and 
liabilities. 

 
13 Banking book contains assets and liabilities which are not held for trading or for hedging instruments within the trading book. This book includes the  
on-balance sheet interest bearing assets and liabilities, including off-balance sheet positions with a fixed interest rate and short-term treasury positions outside 
the trading book.  
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The tables below reflect the interest rate risk profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 202 3 for Euroclear , based on the earlier of 
maturity date and interest rate resetting date. Amounts are net of any impairment loss.  
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IV.4.3.d. Foreign exchange risk 

atively limited 
given its low market risk appetite as an FMI, the focus on the preservation of its capital and prohibition of any trading activities.  
 
To ensure FX risks remains limited, Euroclear Bank has set tight market risk limits that are controlled via strict hedging an d investment 
policies and daily monitoring. In particular, Euroclear Bank uses Value-at-Risk (VaR) methodology to measure the FX market risk sensitivity 
relative to the management of its portfolio. The VaR model measures the maximum loss for a portfolio over a determined time h orizon at a 
given confidence level (99%). The model assumes a holding period, until positions can be closed, of one day. The market parameters are 
derived from the volatility and correlation observed from historical daily changes. The VaR models are back tested on an annu al basis or in 
case of material changes. 
 
The FX-VaR is shown on an aggregated basis. The significant decrease in the average and maximum FX-VaR in 2023 is explained by the 
new calibration of the FX-VaR model implemented in July 2023. The new calibration separated FX risk stemming from positions in roubles 
and other currencies to improve the visibility of FX risk. This action resulted in an updated FX-VaR limits. Additionally, a separate 
management risk appetite limit for RUB exposures was defined to directly monitor and take action to limit potential rouble exposure. Given 
the recalibration, the average FX-VaR almost halved in 2023 compared to previous year.  
 

 
-euro shareholdings. With the 

s their functional 
currency.   
 
The table below reflects the group's principal structural currency exposures (foreign exchange translation risk) as of 31 December 2023 for 
Euroclear Holding SA/NV. ure stems from the consolidation of operations in 

and.  
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The table below summarises the group's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk. Included in the table are the group's assets and 
liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by currency. The large majority of group's assets and liabilities are Euro -denominated. The net 
non-euro balance sheet positions mainly reflect the net assets of subsidiaries and branches located in the United Kingdom and Swe den, and 
other transactional positions, being almost fully offset by currency swaps. 
 

 

 
 

 

 

IV.5. Capital management 
 
IV.5.1. Capital measurement and allocation 
Euroclear has in place sound, effective and comprehensive capital measurement methodologies integrated within its overall internal capital 
adequacy assessment process (ICAAP). The ICAAP relies on two complimentary views on capital adequacy:   
 
 Economic view  

given its strategy and risk appetite.   
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 Normative view  corresponds to all applicable regulatory capital requirements Euroclear must comply with under baseline and 
stressed conditions for a planned period of at least three years. These requirements stem from two major regulations that Euroclear is 
subject to: Capital Requirement Regulation (CRR and CRD IV as transposed into Belgian Banking law) and CSD Regulation.   

 
V 

consolidated and Euroclear Holding SA/NV consolidated, to maintain at all times:  
 
 a ratio of total capital to risk-weighted assets at or above 8%; 
 a ratio of Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets at or above 6%; 
 a ratio of common equity Tier1 capital (CET1) at or above 4.5%;  
 Pillar 2 requirement (P2R) as defined through the yearly supervisory review and evaluation process (SREP); 
 a Combined Buffer Requirement (CBR) comprising countercyclical buffer (CCyB), capital conservation buffer (CCB) and other sys temic 

institution buffer14. 
 
To compute credit risk-weighted assets Euroclear uses the Foundation Internal Ratings Based Approach (FIRBA). Under this approach, 
credit risk-weighted assets take into consideration balance sheet assets and off-balance sheet exposures that may give rise to credit risk. 
Collateral and other eligible guarantees are taken into account appropriately. Credit risk-weighted assets are calculated for both Euroclear 
Bank and the group on a consolidated basis.  
  
For the calculation of operational risk-weighted assets, Euroclear combines the Advance Measurement Approach (AMA) for Euroclear Bank, 
Euroclear SA/NV (stand-alone) and Euroclear Holding SA/NV (stand-
depending on the level of consolidation. The Advance Measurement Approach (AMA) was developed in ternally and approved by the NBB 
for regulatory purposes. 
 
For the calculation of market risk-weighted assets, Euroclear uses the Standardised Approach to cover the foreign exchange risk. As 
Euroclear Bank is a limited purpose bank and does not have a trading book, the market risk that Euroclear Bank incurs is very  limited. 
 
In addition to the capital ratios, Euroclear also complies with the leverage ratio at all consolidation levels. As part of it s Risk Appetite 
Framework, Euroclear has set a higher internal leverage ratio limit than the 3% limit prescribed by the legislation .  
 

Pillar 3 report. 
 
IV.5.2. Regulatory capital position 
The table below sets out the Euroclear Holding SA/NV Consolidated CET1, Tier 1 and total capital levels against the total risk-weighted 
assets. The latter continued to grow in 2023 largely driven by the growing balance sheet. Operational risk remains the larges t driver behind 

-weighted assets mostly stemming from implementation of the Russian sanctions and related countermeasures.  
 
Despite the increase in total risk-weighted assets, the group is well-capitalised and remains comfortably above the regulatory requirements. 

in 2023 following the decision to retain 100% of the net profit stemming from Russian frozen 
balances. 
 

 
 
1 Risk-weighted assets represent the total capital requirement multiplied by a factor of 12.5. This means that the risk-weighted assets do not only relate to credit and market risk, but also 
comprise the gross-up of the capital requirements related to operational risks. For Euroclear, the latter are the main source of capital consumption.  
2  equity presented in the Statement of financial positions. Differences are due to deductions required by CRR regulation, mainly 
goodwill and intangible assets, defined benefit pension fund assets, current year proposed dividend, limits on investments in financial sector entities and deferred tax assets, cash-flow 
hedging reserve, prudent valuation and provision shortfall for expected losses. 

 

 
14 NBB identifies Euroclear Bank, Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Holding as domestic systemically important banks (referred to in EU legislation as  
systemically important  or O-SIIs) under Belgian banking law and CRD IV. Subsequently, the NBB applies a common equity Tier 1 capital ratio 
surcharge of 0.75% to Euroclear Bank standalone, Euroclear SA/NV consolidated and Euroclear Holding consolidated. 
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IV.5.3. Minimum required eligible liabilities (MREL) 
Consistent with the requirements of Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD), as transposed by Belgian law and interpreted by the 
Belgian National Bank as the National Resolution Authority (NRA), Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Bank are required and maintain a 
minimum level of MREL to facilitate the orderly resolution of the group should this ever be deemed appropriate by the NRA.  
 

V. Segment analysis 

The Euroclear SA/NV Management Committee receives internal reports for Euroclear Bank, Euroclear SA/NV, Euroclear UK & International, 
the ESES CSDs, Euroclear Sweden, Euroclear Finland. as well as for the MFEX group. 
 
The business segments are reported per entity as follows: 
 Euroclear Bank (including its Hong Kong, Polish and Japanese branches) is a Central Securities Depository with a Banking License. The 

market-wide application of international sanctions has had a material impact on Euroclear. As such, Euroclear considers it necessary to 
separate the estimated Russian sanctions-
performance and resources. Euroclear has defined procedures and management reporting rules to segregate the sanction-related 
earnings from the underlying performance, as to isolate the impact from the proceeds and the costs linked to the management of 
sanctioned assets from the regular conduct of business. 

 Euroclear SA/NV (including its branches in Amsterdam, London, Paris and Krakow) is the provider of software development and non-
operational support services to the CSDs 

 Euroclear UK & International is the Central Securities Depository (CSD) subsidiary located in the United Kingdom. This entity also runs 
an investment fund order routing business 

 s located in Belgium, France and the Netherlands 
 Euroclear Sweden (CSD in Sweden) 
 Euroclear Finland (CSD in Finland) 
 MFEX (Funds platform).  

 
al Services 

Ltd, Taskize Ltd, Euroclear Properties France SA, Goji Holding Limited and Quantessence Limited. None of these qualified as a reportable 
segment in 2023 or 2022. 
 
A matrix structure exists that allows management to view the business by legal entity but also by product line. MFEX funds platform together 

represent a separate Cash Generating Unit (CGU). 
 
No single client  
 
Transactions between the companies are on normal commercial terms and conditions. Recharges of software development costs and 
support services are based on formal agreements between the entities concerned.  
 
Segment assets and liabilities comprise all third-party assets and liabilities. 
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The  remaining in the Eliminations column relates to dividends received from companies within the group (2022: ). 

The country reporting is disclosed in compliance with article 89 of the European Capital Regulatory Directive IV and IFRS 8. The country information 
reflects the country of residence of the entities. 
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VI. Net interest income 

 

 

 

The level of interest revenues has significantly increased due to the increase of interest rates and the growth of cash balances arising from 
sanctions on Russia. 
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VII. Net fee and commission income 

 

 

 
Other fee and commission income principally include communication fees 201,000,000), custody 
servicing fees 7,000,000 ( 49,000,000), issuer and securities services 38,000,000 (2022: 

41,000,000) 4,000,000 (2022  and the recovery of out-of-pocket expenses. 
  
 

VII I. Net gains/( losses) on financial assets and liabil i ties held for trading  

 

 

 
Treasury swaps are derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments. The net gains on foreign exchange trading mainly relate to 
treasury swaps initiated by Euroclear Bank in order to convert balances in non-core currencies into euro or US dollars for re-investment 
purposes. Under IFRS, these results may not be included within net interest income.  
 
The number of deals was exceptionally high in 2022, as a result of the incoming sanctioned cash in rouble swapped into euro. In order to 
contain risks for its participants, Euroclear Bank informed them early February 2023 of the closure of its cash correspondent account in 
Russia and the withdrawal of rouble as a settlement currency. This means that money transfer instructions in rouble or any in coming rouble 
payments, including income and redemption events, are no longer processed. 
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IX. Administrative expenses  

 

 

 
The average number of persons employed by the group during the year was 5,576 (2022: 4,901). 

Euroclear Holding SA/NV and its subsidiary undertakings was as follows: 
 

 

 
Euroclear ensures that the independence of the external auditor is preserved through a specific policy adopted by the Board and agreed by 
the auditor. This policy adheres to the highest standards of independence. The engagement of the external auditor for non-core services is 
subject to specific controls, monitored  
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X. Impairment 

 

 
For other assets, impairment mainly relates to the lifetime expected credit loss computed on fees receivable from clients in several group's 
(I)CSD subsidiaries. 
 

impairment recorded on Greenomy 
  

 
developed 

software due to the uncertainty as to the future revenues of the new services recently developed or under development
impairment recorded on ESW goodwill (see note XVIII). 
 
The movements of expected credit losses on financial assets during the year are as fol lows: 

 

 
For details on the expected credit loss (ECL) per internal rating, please refer to note IV. 
 
The rates used by the group entities to determine the expected credit losses for trade receivables (simplified method) are as  follows: 
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XI.Taxation 

 

 
 
Further information on deferred tax is presented in Note XII.  
 
The tax on the group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise from using the standard rate as  follows: 
 

 
 
(1) A rate of 25.00% (2022: 25.00%) has been used as the standard rate. 
 
The current income tax asset of at 31 December 2023 (2022: ) represents the total of amounts recoverable from 
the tax authorities relating to over-payments of income tax pre-payments, prior year adjustments and research and development (R&D) tax 
credit. 
 
The net tax effect linked to the intercompany dividends eliminated for consolidation purposes have been considered separately  in order to 
adequately reflect the impact of this item of reconciliation on the tax expense. 
 
The expenses not deductible for tax purposes include the other tax effects of consolidation adjustments not subject to deferred tax. The net 
movement comprises also the effect of changes in facts and circumstances that affect the judgement and estimates of the acceptability of 
certain tax treatments. 
 
The year-to-year variation of the effect of the different rates applicable to the companies within the group is explained by a combination of 
factors: decrease  
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XII. Deferred taxation  

 
The details of deferred taxation are as follows: 

 

 

 

 
Deferred taxes are classified as assets or liabilities depending on the total net deferred tax asset or liability across all types of deferred tax at 
year-end for each entity. 
 
Deferred taxation for tax losses carried forward mainly relates to Euroclear SA/NV.  
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Analysis of the movements of the net deferred tax asset and liability balances is as follows: 
 

 

 
The deferred tax income/(charge) in the income statement comprises the following temporary differences:  
 

 

 
There were no unrecognised deferred taxes as of year-end. 
 
The Euroclear group has applied the temporary exception issued by the IASB in May 2023 from the accounting requirements for deferred 
taxes in IAS 12. Accordingly, the group neither recognises nor discloses information about deferred tax assets and liabilit ies related to Pillar 
Two income taxes.. 

In 2023, the government of Belgium where the parent company is incorporated, enacted the Pillar Two income taxes legislation effective 
from 1 January 2024.  

Based on a performance assessment performed over financial years 2021 and 2022 figures, the group came to the conclusion that 
transitional safe harbours can be applied. The Company can reasonably expect to use safe harbours rules in 2024, 2025 and 2026, 
therefore the related top-up tax up until year 2026 is expected to be zero. The group will continue to assess the impact of the Pillar Two 
income taxes legislation on its future financial performance.  
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XIII. Financial assets at FVOCI 

 

 

 
All debt securities have fixed coupons.  
 
For unlisted securities, the valuation is based on the prices at which the securities could probably be sold to willing and k nowledgeable 
parties. These prices are determined using generally accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow models and relevant 
market multiples. 
 
The maturity profile of the financial assets at FVOCI can be found in Note IV. 
 
The movement in financial assets at FVOCI can be summarised as follows: 
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XIV. Financial instruments held for trading  

 
The fair value and notional amounts of the group's trading derivatives were as follows:  
 
 

 

 
The notional amount related to forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 principally reflects to 
outstanding currency swaps. 
 

XV. Derivatives used for hedging 

XV.1. Cash flow hedges 
 
Foreign exchange hedges 
 
Euroclear Bank uses the euro as functional currency and is exposed to foreign exchange exposure (changes in the relevant spot  exchange 
rate) that could adversely influence fee and interest income streams.  
 
The group applies hedge accounting for these highly probable forecasted revenue streams influenced by changes in foreign exchange ra tes 
for certain currencies. The policy foresees to hedge a minimum 75% threshold of the total operating profit exposures in foreign  currencies, 
65% of the net interest earnings in foreign currencies for Business as Usual and 60% of the net interest earnings on Russian frozen or 
immobilised assets. 
 
Euroclear Bank enters into currency forward foreign exchange contracts whereby it sells the relevant currencies on a future date at a 
predetermined price. One contract is done per month, per currency and per nature of exposures (fees and interests) to offset the net 
currency stream (usually an income) of the same month. These contracts are done on a rolling 12-month basis (or 3-month basis for less 
liquid currencies) for total operating profit, a rolling 12-month basis for the business as usual part of net interest earnings in USD and 6-
month basis for the other currencies, and a rolling 3-month basis for net interest earnings on Russian frozen or immobilised assets. Such 
transactions are classified as cash flow hedges.   
 
Hedge effectiveness is assessed based on the critical terms of the contracts. The economic relationship is verified at inception of the deal 
confirming that the characteristics of the hedging instrument are aligned to those of the hedged item (forward contract with the same 
maturity and currency as expected revenues, notional of the derivatives matching the hedged positions). The hedged items create an 
exposure to buy euros and sell foreign currencies at the payment date. The forward contract to sell euros for forex currencie s on the 
payment date creates an offset for these two transactions. Values will thus generally move in the opposite direction.  
 
The hedge ratio is determined by comparing the notional of the derivative with the quantity of hedged items. The following so urces of 
ineffectiveness are identified and monitored: 
 
 change in timing and / or level of the incoming flows of any of the two items constituting the hedged item. To mitigate this risk, 

Euroclear Bank ensures that no material changes are observed in the timing and/or level of the incoming flows of the hedged item 
 change in the credit risk of Euroclear Bank or the counterparty of the forward contract. The credit risk of both the counterparties and 

Euroclear Bank is monitored for adverse changes by Treasury. As all contracts must be entered with counterparties with a credit rating 
of A or higher, the credit risk is minimal and does not dominated the value change 

 impact of foreign currency basis spreads (materialised through the forward points included in the hedging relationship). The hedging 
horizon is adapted to limit the impact of currency basis spread (3-month, 6-month or 12-month basis, depending on the interest rate 
level associated to the hedged currency). 

 
As 31 December 2023, Euroclear Bank monthly se -equivalent 233,369,000 -equivalent 
130,594,000). The increase of the volumes hedged results from the rising interest rates and higher balances.  
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Interest rate hedges 
 
Euroclear Bank also enters into interest rate derivatives aiming to reduce the income volatility linked to the reinvestment of the stable part of 
its client deposits in EUR, USD and GBP, and the repricing of short-term assets financed by its core equity. The hedged items are the highly 
probable variable cash flows stemming from the reinvestment of client deposits and core equity. 
 
The total hedging position are built-up gradually over time. 
 

 
 a maximum term of 5 years for the core equity; 
 a maximum maturity of 5 years for the stable operational balances. 

 
The following sources of ineffectiveness are identified and monitored:  
 Change in timing and/or level of the incoming flows of the hedged item and the outgoing flows of the hedging instruments. To mitigate 

this risk, Euroclear Bank ensures that the timing and level of the incoming flows of the hedged item and the outgoing flows of the 
hedging instrument will be closely matched.  

 Significant discrepancy between the stable operational client deposits and the notional amount of interest rate derivatives. In 
accordance with the evolution of the stable operational client deposits, Euroclear will adjust the notional amounts.  

 
The fair value and notional amounts of the group's derivatives used for cash flow hedges were as follows:  
 

 

 
No ineffectiveness arose from cash flow hedging in 2023 and 2022. At the reporting date, the group has considered the most recent 
forecasts, and no new ineffectiveness was observed.  
 
The amounts recognised in the cash flow hedging reserve at year-end are gradually released to the income statement (net gains/losses on 
foreign exchange and net interest income) in the following year, when the related cash flows materialise.  
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The movements in the cash flow hedging reserve can be detailed as follows:  

 

 
XV.2. Hedges of net investments in foreign operations 
 
The group has hedged, until July 2011, part of the currency translation risk of net investments in foreign operations (EMXCo, Euroclear UK & 
International, the UK branch of Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Sweden).  

The balance of the hedge of net investments in foreign operations reserve can be detailed as follows: 

 

  

 

XVI. Other assets  

 

 

 
Items in the process of collection principally relate to coupon and redemption proceeds for participants of Euroclear Bank. 
 

46,278,000 in Other assets (2022: 5,925,000) mainly related to the delivery of services, and funds 
commissions to be collected and redistributed. The decrease is principally explained by a change of presentation (accruals moved from 
Other assets to Accrued Income). 
 

199,936,000 related to variation margins (2022: ). 
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XVII. Property, plant and equipment 

 

 

 

 

 
The figures above include cost of property, plant and equipment under construction for an amount of   ( ). 
 
There was no modification made during the year to any of the lease contracts that would have resulted in the recognition of a new contract .  
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XVIII. Goodwill  and intangible assets 
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Goodwill and the contractual customer relationship relate to the acquisition of EMXCo, Euroclear Belgium, Euroclear Finland, Euroclear France, 
Euroclear Nederland, Euroclear Sweden, Euroclear UK & International, MFEX group and Goji Holding Limited. 
 
The unpatented technology relates to the infrastructure of Euroclear Finland and Euroclear Sweden is fully amortised. 
 

XVIII.1. Determination of the cash-generating units 
 
Goodwill impairment reviews are based on the cash-generating units (CGUs) for the group relevant operating segments: the ESES CSDs 
(Euroclear Belgium, Euroclear France and Euroclear Nederland), EUI (Euroclear UK & International), Euroclear Finland, Euroclear Sweden, 
Goji and MFEX group.  
 
The MFEX CGU has been created in 2022 and combines the MFEX group acquired in 2021 and Euroclear  Fundsettle business. 
MFEX and Fundsettle are highly integrated with clients already being transferred from one to the other and leveraging a combined 
commercial approach, with expected joint synergies.  
 
Except for Euroclear Sweden, goodwill and contractual customer relationship are expressed and tested for impairment purposes in euros. At 
the time of the acquisition of Euroclear UK & International, the related goodwill was considered as a non-monetary asset of the acquirer and 
therefore expressed in euros. At the time of migration to IFRS, which considers goodwill to be a monetary asset of the acquir ed entity, 

 
 

XVIII.2. Basis on which recoverable amounts have been determined 
 
The recoverable amounts are 2023 valuation of all 
the entities concerned is based on a five-year free cash flow forecast with projections for periods beyond this assuming a perpetual annuity 
of 2.5% similar to last year. 
 

contractual customer relationships, are set out in the table below: 

 

 
In 2023 . The entire value of the participation has been 
recognised under goodwill, pending completion of the purchase price allocation exercise in 2024.  
 
These are intangible assets considered to have indefinite useful lives. 
 

XVIII.3. Key assumptions related to discount factors 
 
The appropriate discount rates are determined by applying the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). The discount rates and perpetual 
growth rates used for each CGU in the 2023 and 2022 impairment reviews were as follows: 
 

 

 

XVIII.4. The 2023 impairment review 
 
The key assumptions for the valuation exercise are based on both external sources of information and on internal expectations (assets held in 
custody, transaction volumes, interest rates, etc.). Forecasts are taken from Board approved plans which translate into resilient profitability trends 
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throughout 2024 and over the next four years. For all operating segments, their valuation indicated that the current values of goodwill and related 
intangibles are fair and justified. 

All other factors being equal, an increase of the discount rate by 1%, or a decrease of the total business income by 5%, which are assessed 
as reasonable sensitivity, would result in an impairment in Euroclear Sweden and Euroclear UK & International. 

The c  change 
is reasonably possible.  

 2023. The harsher economic conditions and reduced volumes 
growth combined with an increase in costs are expected to persist, leading to reduced long-term projections. 

Goji has not been submitted to an impairment test considering the recent acquisition. 

 

XIX. Other liabil i ties 

 

 

 
 

 
111,746,000 in Other liabilities (2022: 8,224,000), mainly related to the delivery of services, and 

including funds commissions to be redistributed. The decrease is principally explained by a change of presentation (accruals moved from 
Creditors to Accruals and deferred income). 
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XX. Debt securities issued and funds borrowed 

 

 

 
In December 2016, Euroclear Investments SA issued a senior, unsecured and unsubordinated Eurobond on the Euronext Amsterdam stock 

- fixed coupon).  
 
In April 2018, Euroclear Investments also -year-fixed rate senior note and a 

-years fixed-rate hybrid note callable at the option of the issuer after 10 years. These notes were 
listed on the Irish Stock Exchange. 
 
The 2016 issuance was deemed to enhance the group funding flexibility, while the proceeds of the dual tranche issuance realised in 2018 were 

structure relevant loss absorption mechanisms to restore the capital position of these group entities in recovery and resolut ion scenarios in 
accordance with the Banking Recovery and Resolution Directive.  
 
On 16 June 2021, Euroclear Investments SA issued a 30-year non-callable 10-year hybrid, subordinated Eurobond on the Irish Stock 
E is long term debt were transferred downstream by the Company to 
Euroclear SA/NV in order to fund the acquisition of the MFEX Group and mitigate the impact that such acquisition  
regulatory capital adequacy. 
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XXI. Provisions for l iabil i ties and charges 

 

 

 
Provisions for dilapidation costs are recorded to reflect end-of-lease obligations in several countries. The provisions have been adjusted 
upwards following the high inflation. 
 
The provision for restructuring recorded under HR in 2022 has been reviewed downwards from   HR provisions 
also include other smaller amounts for redundancy. 
 
The decrease in Other provisions is mainly explained by the reversal of the  
 
The current portion of the provisions for liabilities 5,153,000). 
 
 
  
XXII. Defined benefit plans 

 
The group operates various post-employment schemes, including defined benefit (DB) and defined contribution (DC) pension plans, and 
post-employment medical plans. 
 
The group has several DB pension plans covering employees in Belgium, France, Japan, the Netherlands and Sweden under broadly similar 
regulatory frameworks. The plans exclusively provide retirement and death benefits to the eligible participants. All of the DB pension plans 
are final or average salary pension plans, which provide benefits to members in the form of a lump sum payment or a guarantee d level of 
pension payable for life. The level of benefits provided generally 
leading up to retirement. The plans face broadly similar risks, as described below. The majority of benefit payments are from  the 
administered funds; however, there are also a limited number of unfunded plans where the company meets the benefit payment obligation as 
it falls due (Japan). Plan assets are governed by local regulations and practice in each country, as is the nature of the relationship between 
the group and the pension funds  Board of Directors. Responsibility for governance of the plans - including investment decisions and 
contribution schedules - lies jointly with the sponsoring companies and the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors must be composed of 

 
 
The group also operates a number of post-employment medical benefit schemes, in Belgium and France. These plans are unfunded. The 
method of accounting, significant assumptions and the frequency of valuations are similar to those used for DB pension schemes with the 
addition of actuarial assumptions relating to the long-term increase in healthcare costs. 
 
Finally, the group operates certain DC schemes in Belgium which present particular features usually associated with DB plans. These plans 
indeed foresee a legally guaranteed rate of return. As a result of the persisting low interest rate environment, this legally guaranteed return 
may not be matched by the return provided by the insurance companies. This means that the financial market risk related to these plans is 
partially borne by the employer, who therefore might face a net liability. The latter does however not materially impact the group's net DB 
liability as the insurance company has continued so far to guarantee the legal minimum guaranteed interest rate . 
 
All employees joining on or after 1 January 2019 are affiliated to a Belgian DC scheme, while all other employees made the choice between 
staying in the existing DB plan, which turned from an annuity into a lump sum plan as of 1 January 2019, or joining to the new DC plan. The 
DC scheme presents features of a DB plan because of the Belgian legal guaranteed return of current ly 1.75%. The DC plan is a regular 
pension plan, with premiums paid by the employer. The premium is a fixed percentage per bracket of the base salary. Neither the DC plan 
nor the DB lump sum plan affect the benefits accrued for past service, which continue to be revalued with salary increases (so called 
dynamic management). The end date for both plans is age 67. Both plans are managed by the Euroclear Pension Fund OFP.  
 
A full actuarial valuation of the plans, under IFRS, was made by independent qualified professional actuaries as of 31 December 2023 and 
showe : ) (55% in Belgium, 37% in France, 5% in Sweden, 3% in Japan), offset by a pension 
surplus of (2022: ) in the Netherlands. The valuation covered all the DB plans and DC plans with DB-like features.  
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The pension charge recognised in profit and loss in 2023  (2022: ). The contribution, reflecting employer's 
contributions for funded plans and benefit disbursements for unfunded plans, amounted to  (2022: ). 
 
The major assumptions used by the actuaries in their valuations were: 
 

 

 
The above percentages are weighted averages of the assumptions used for the individual plans. 
 
Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice and published statistics in each territory (IABE prospective tables in 
Belgium for retirement benefits, TGHF 05 table in France, AG Prognosetafel 2022 with 2019 experienced mortality in the Netherlands, EPF 2020 
rates in Japan and PRI 2011 in Sweden).  
 
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows: 
 

 

 
The value of assets in all plans were: 

 

 
The assets of the funded plans are held separately from those of the group. The group ensures that the investment positions are managed within 
an asset-liability matching (ALM) framework that has been developed to achieve long-term investments that are in line with the obligations under the 

in long-term fixed 
interest securities with maturities that match the benefit payments as they fall due and in the appropriate currency. The company actively monitors 
how the duration and the expected yield of the investments are matching the expected cash outflows arising from the pension obligations. A large 
proportion of assets consists of equities and bonds, although the group also invests in property, cash and holds some insurance assets. The group 
believes that equities offer the best returns over the long term with an acceptable level of risk.  
 

highly liquid. 
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The changes in the net deficit are as follows: 
 

 

 

 

 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligations is 12.2 years (2022: 12.6 years). 
 
Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis and contributions are made to comply with minimum requirements as determined by local 
regulations and, if applicable, internal funding policy. The group considers that the contribution rates set at the last valuation date are sufficient to 
eliminate the deficit over the agreed period.  
 
Expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending 31 December 2024 are .  
 
The cumulative actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2023 was  (2022: ). 
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The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations to a 1% movement in the weighted principal assumptions is:  
 

 

 
The above sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely 
to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit o bligations to 
significant actuarial assumptions, the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit 
method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the s tatement of 
financial position. As the majority of the liabilities are not affected by the life expectancy risk (because of lump sum payments), no life 
expectancy sensitivity is considered. 
 
Through its defined benefit pension plans and post-employment medical plans, the group is exposed to a number of risks, the most 
significant of which are detailed below: 
 
 Asset volatility: the risk is kept under control thanks to proper risk management procedures and strategic asset allocation d riven by the 

financial characteristics of the plans, in particular the plans liabilities and the risk tolerance of the Board and the group. The plan 
liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if plan assets underperform this yield, this will 
create a deficit. Belgian plans hold 60% of equities, which are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long-term while providing 
volatility and risk in the short-term. The group believes that due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities and the strength of the 
supporting group, a level of continuing equity investment is an ap

-liability matching strategy. 
 Changes in bond yields: a decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an 

 
 ad to higher liabilities. 

The impact is however limited and the assumptions are cautiously monitored annually.  
 Life expectancy: as mentioned, longevity risk is limited as the majority of the benefit payments are lump sums.  
 Medical trend rate risk: as the liabilities of the Belgian and French medical plans are very sensitive to the used medical trend rate, the 

evolution of this trend rate is monitored regularly to make sure that this trend rate properly reflects the long term expecte d evolution of 
the medical cost. 

 Salary increase: as the pension liabilities are quite sensitive to salary increase, the used assumptions are monitored closely and histor ic 
salary evolution is compared against the used assumptions. 

 
The group has not changed the processes used to manage its risks from previous periods. 
 
The movement in the deferred tax asset relating to the pension deficit is as follows:  
 

 

 

  

XXIII. Share-based payments 

 
The plan grants certain eligible senior executive management members of Euroclear certificates (which represent shares of Euroclear 
Holding SA/NV) as part of their remuneration. The purpose of the plan is to align the interests of the beneficiaries with the long-term interests 
of the shareholders of Euroclear Holding SA/NV.  
 
In the year 2022, Euroclear SA/NV has acquired Euroclear Holding SA/NV shares which have been transferred to STAK Euroclear, a 
foundation established as an administration office under application of the Certification law. In exchange for the transferred Euroclear 
Holding SA/NV Shares, STAK Euroclear has issued certificates, each certificate representing one Euroclear Holding S.A. share . 
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Fixed remuneration 
 
On top of the fixed cash remuneration, Euroclear may grant additional fixed remuneration in the form of certificates, which are earned and 
awarded on a quarterly basis. Since the share-based payment plan has no vesting conditions, each award vests immediately after each 
quarter-end. Each award happens at the actual fair value of the certificates at the end of each respective quarter.  
 
Where fixed cash is actually paid every month, fixed certificates earned on a quarterly basis are blocked for a period of 3 years as from the 
quarter in which they were earned. After the 3-year restriction period, beneficiaries can either sell the vested certificates, either retain them 
for future sale.  
 
The plan rules foresee a liquidity mechanism whereby it is agreed that the beneficiaries can only sell to Euroclear SA/NV which is committed  
to buy back the certificates from the beneficiaries according to a transparent pricing mechanism, once such certificates are mature to sell or 
at any later moment upon the discretion of the beneficiary within the limits of the plan. 
 
The sale price of certificates shall correspond to their actual fair market value. Upon acquisition of the certificates, Euroclear SA/NV will 
retain them for future share-based remuneration.  
 
Any dividend paid by Euroclear Holding SA/NV in relation to Euroclear Holding SA/NV shares represented by certificates are paid to STAK 
Euroclear and transferred to the certificate holders within a pre-determined period. The dividends are locked up for a period of equal to the 
(remaining) lock-up period of the underlying certificates held by the beneficiaries 
 

Variable remuneration 
 
In line with the EBA Guidelines on sound remuneration, variable remuneration is paid in cash or instruments and subject to de ferral rules as 
per regulation. The deferral period is at least 4 years (5 years for MC members) and the deferred portion is at least 40% (60% if bonuses 
exceed 200,000). 
  
The actual payment of any deferred compensation, no matter whether it qualifies as upfront instruments or deferred cash/instruments, is 
subject to the malus & claw-back provisions included in the deferred compensation plan. The value of outstanding variable remuneration can 
be adjusted either discretionarily upon decision of the Board of Directors within a 20% limit in plus or in minus, either on the basis of the 
evolution of the underlying share price over the reference period. For ESA MC members, as from performance year 2021, the instruments 
related portion of variable compensation will be settled in certificates upon the award date at the fair market value of the underlying share at 
the end of the performance year which proceeds the award date. 
 
As at 31 December 2023, the expense recognised for employee services received during the year amounts to 660,000 for fixed 
remuneration 480,000) and 3,550,000 for variable remuneration (2022 . 185 shares have been released for fixed 
remuneration and 151 shares for variable renumeration 928,000.  
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XXIV. Share capital and share premium 

 

 

 

  

XXV. Treasury shares 

 

 

Treasury shares are own equity instruments that have been purchased by Euroclear SA/NV from shareholders in April 2022 (6,000 shares 
. These shares are held by STAK Euroclear who has issued units in exchange of the shares. The 

units will be used for a share-based payment program for the benefit of senior management of Euroclear SA/NV (see note XXIII).  
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XXVI. Other reserves 

 

 

 
The hedge of net investment in 
Sweden and the United Kingdom. 
 
In addition to the translation of structural currency exposures relating to the group's subsidiaries and joint venture with a  functional currency 
other than EUR, the foreign currency translation reserve includes the translation impact of goodwill and intangible assets expressed in 
Swedish krona (SEK) and GBP that were recognised at the time of acquisition of subsidiaries in Sweden, and EMXCo in the United Kingdom.  
 
The legal reserve represents non-distributable amounts required to be established as separate reserves in compliance with local laws in 
certain countries where the group operates. 
  

XXVII. Dividends paid 

 

 

  
 
Euroclear Holding SA/NV paid an interim 363,532 115.50 per share) in , of which 

462 367,000). 
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XXVIII. Contingent l iabil i ties and commi tments  

 

 

 
The collateral pledged mainly relates to:  
 securities deposited with the National Bank of Belgium as potential collateral, principally for Target2-related exposures. It includes 

605,953,000 249,803,000) and the reuse of securities received as collateral for 
reverse repurchase agreeme 3,549,108 3,576,042,000); There was no 
exposure at 31 December 2023  

 a bank deposit of 4,074,000 pledged by Euroclear SA/NV to a landlord 4,074,000); and 
 Other operational pledged deposits for a total amount of 25, 25,200,000). 

 
Financial guarantees principally relate to guarantees under the Securities Lending and Borrowing (SLB) and GCA (Global Collateral Access) 
programmes. Under the terms of the Euroclear SLB Programme, Euroclear Bank provides a guarantee to securities lenders whereby if a 
securities borrower is unable to return the securities, Euroclear Bank guarantees the lender to receive replacement securitie s or their cash 
equivalent. urities 
borrowings are covered by collateral pledged by the borrowing banks and clients. Euroclear Bank also provides a guarantee to the GCA 
lenders, should the GCA borrowers fail to return lent Securities. This guarantee is provided on a net basis (difference betwe en the market 
value of the unreturned Loan Securities and the market value of the Collateral Securities relating to the unreturned Loan Securities). 
  
 

XXIX. Lease commitments  
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The lease expenses/revenues in the income statement are as follows:  

 

  

XXX. Related party disclosures 

 
Euroclear Holding SA/NV, incorporated in Belgium, is the ultimate parent and controlling party of the group. 
 
Euroclear Holding SA/NV's investments in its subsidiaries are set out in Note I. 
 
Transactions with related parties, other than those between companies of the group eliminated on consolidation,  principally relate to 
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures and to key management compensation.  
 
Besides this, the group considers its Belgian pension fund as a related party as it has the ability to exercise significant influence over it in 
taking financial or operational decisions. Disclosures related to the pension funds are presented in  Note XXII. 
 

 

 

XXX.1. Transactions with other companies of the Euroclear group 
 
XXX.1.a. Administrative support 
Certain administrative support costs are periodically recharged to and by other companies within the Euroclear group.  

XXX.1.b. Loans and liquidity facilities provided 
In 2023, Euroclear SA/NV has granted additional loans of GBP 1,000,000 to Quantessence Ltd, bringing the total amount of loans with 
Quantessence Ltd to GBP 8,350,000, of which GBP 5,400,000 are convertible. At year-end 2023, Euroclear SA/NV has an outstanding loan 
to Greenomy with convertible features of . 
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XXX.2. Key management compensation 
 
The compensation of key management (members of the Management Committees of Euroclear SA/NV and its (l)CSD subsidiaries, group 
division heads and the Euroclear Holding SA/NV General Manager) and non-executive directors was as follows: 

 

 
The NBB has been informed of the compensation principles for the members of the Management Committees of Euroclear SA/NV and 
Euroclear Bank and of certain other Senior Management, taking into account the applicable regulations. The amounts - as approved by the 
respective Remuneration Committees/Boards - reflect these principles and more specifically the allocation between short-term and long-
term benefits. 
 
No loans or similar transactions occurred with directors, key management or their close family members.  
 
The companies employing the Euroclear SA/NV non-executive directors are subject to the same terms, conditions and tariffs as other 
companies. 
 

50). 
 
  
XXXI. Even ts af ter the balance sheet date 

 
Euroclear continues to closely monitor the invasion of Ukraine by Russia, and to implement the various sanctions. In line with its role of 
financial market infrastructure (FMI), Euroclear is carefully managing the various aspects resulting from this situation in cooperation with the 
competent authorities. Future earnings linked to the sanctions will continue to depend on the prevailing interest rate enviro nment and the 
evolution of the sanctions. 
 
Various parties in Russia contest the consequences of the application of sanctions, with a significant number of legal procee dings ongoing, 
almost exclusively in Russian courts. The impact of the lawsuits on Euroclear is uncertain. Euroclear is defending against all relevant legal 
claims and intends to continue to do so against any further claims.  
 
Effective 15 February 2024, the EU Council adopted a Regulation (Council Regulation (EU) 2024/576 of 12 February 2024 amending 
Regulation (EU) No 833/2014) providing for an obligation for Central Securities Depositories holding reserves and assets of the Central Bank 
of Russia - or of any legal person, entity or body acting on behalf of, or at the direction of, the Central Bank of Russia - to apply specific rules 
in relation to the cash balances accumulating exclusively due to restrictive measures. In parallel the Board notes that vario us options to use 
profits generated by sanctioned amounts held by financial institutions, including Euroclear, for the financing of Ukraine are being considere d 
at EU and international level. Euroclear is focused on minimising potential legal, technical, financial and operational risks  that may arise for 
itself and its clients from the implementation of any proposals made or measures taken, while complying with its obligations.  
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of Euroclear 
Holding SA for the year ended 31 December 2023 - Consolidated 
financial statements 
In the context of the statutory audit of the consolidated financial statements of Euroclear Holding SA 

group statutory audit report. 
This report includes our report on the consolidated financial statements and the other legal and 
regulatory requirements. These parts should be considered as integral to the report.  

We were appointed in our capacity as statutory au 3 May 2021, in 
accordance with the proposal of the board of directors . 

deliberating on the financial 
statements for the year ending 31 December 2023. We have performed the statutory audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of Euroclear Holding SA for 6 consecutive periods.  

Report on the consolidated financial statements 

Unqualified opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the group, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flow for 
the year then ended, as well as the summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes. The consolidated statement of financial position shows total assets of 165 815 848 (000) EUR and 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows a profit for the year then ended of 4 223 
858 (000) EUR. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the group
and financial position as of 31 December 2023 and of its consolidated results and its consolidated cash 
flow for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the European Union and with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium. 

Basis for the unqualified opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA), as applicable in 
Belgium. In addition, we have applied the International Standards on Auditing approved by the IAASB 
applicable to the current financial year, but not yet approved at national level. Our responsibilities under 
those stan

relevant to the statutory audit of consolidated financial statements in Belgium, including those regarding 
independence. 

information necessary for performing our audit. 

We believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
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Responsibilities of the board of directors for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements 

The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by 
the European Union and with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium and for such 
internal control as the board of directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the board of directors is responsible for assessing the 
group
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the board of directors either 
intends to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or has no other realistic alternative but to do so. 

Responsibilities of the statutory auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a statutory 

able assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

During the performance of our audit, we comply with the legal, regulatory and normative framework as 
applicable to the audit of consolidated financial statements in Belgium. The scope of the audit does not 
comprise any assurance regarding the future viability of the company nor regarding the efficiency or 
effectiveness demonstrated by the b
conducted or will be conducted. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from an 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control; 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the group  

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the board of directors; 

 conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the board of 
directors and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
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statutory 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our statutory 
conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a going concern; 

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and 
business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, amongst other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Other legal and regulatory requirements 

Responsibilities of the board of directors 

The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and the content of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Responsibilities of the statutory auditor 

As part of our mandate and in accordance with the Belgian standard complementary to the International 
Standards on Auditing (ISA) as applicable in Belgium, our responsibility is to verify, in all material respects, 

consolidated financial statements, as well as to report on this matter. 

Aspects regarding the on the consolidated financial statements  

In our opinion, after performing the specific procedures on the 
financial statements, this report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements for that same 
year and has been established in accordance with the requirements of article 3:32 of the Code of 
companies and associations. 

In the context of our statutory audit of the consolidated financial statements we are also responsible to 
consider, in particular based on information that we became aware of during the audit, if the 
report on the consolidated financial statements is free of material misstatement, either by information 
that is incorrectly stated or otherwise misleading. In the context of the procedures performed, we are not 
aware of such material misstatement. 
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Statements regarding independence 

 Our audit firm and our network have not performed any prohibited services and our audit firm has 
remained independent from the group during the performance of our mandate. 

 The fees for the additional non-audit services compatible with the statutory audit, as defined in 
article 3:65 of the Code of companies and associations, have been properly disclosed and 
disaggregated in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Signed at Zaventem. 

The statutory auditor 
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